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This annual report on Form 10-K contains certain forward-looking statements within the meaning of Section 27A of the Securities Act of 1933, as
amended, and Section 21E of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, and are subject to the safe harbor created by those sections. For more
information, see “Part I. Item 1. Business — Cautionary Note Regarding Forward-Looking Statements.”
As previously disclosed, on January 8, 2016, Diffusion Pharmaceuticals Inc. (f/k/a RestorGenex Corporation), a Delaware corporation (the “ Company
”), completed the merger (the “ Merger ”) of its wholly owned subsidiary, Arco Merger Sub, LLC (“ Merger Sub ”), with and into Diffusion Pharmaceuticals
LLC, a Virginia limited liability company (“ Diffusion LLC ”), in accordance with the terms of the Agreement and Plan of Merger, dated as of December 15,
2015, among the Company, Merger Sub and Diffusion LLC (the “ Merger Agreement ”). As a result of the Merger, Diffusion LLC, the surviving company in the
Merger, became a wholly owned subsidiary of the Company and, following the Merger, the Company changed its corporate name from RestorGenex Corporation
to Diffusion Pharmaceuticals Inc.
For accounting purposes, the Merger is treated as a “reverse acquisition” under generally acceptable accounting principles in the United States (“ U.S.
GAAP ”) and Diffusion LLC is considered the accounting acquirer. Accordingly, Diffusion LLC’s historical results of operations will have replaced the
Company’s historical results of operations for all periods prior to the Merger.
Unless the context otherwise requires, references to “Diffusion,” the “Company,” “we,” “our” or “us” in this report refer to Diffusion
Pharmaceuticals Inc. and its subsidiaries, following the completion of the Merger and Diffusion Pharmaceuticals LLC prior to the completion of the Merger,
references to “RestorGenex” refer to the Company prior to the completion of the Merger and references to “Diffusion LLC” refer to Diffusion
Pharmaceuticals LLC.
Except as otherwise noted, references to “common stock” in this report refer to common stock, par value $0.001 per share, of the Company.
This report contains the following trademarks, trade names and service marks of ours: RestorGenex and Diffusion. All other trade names, trademarks
and service marks appearing in this Annual Report on Form 10-K are the property of their respective owners. We have assumed that the reader understands that
all such terms are source-indicating. Accordingly, such terms appear without the trade name, trademark or service mark notice for convenience only and should
not be construed as being used in a descriptive or generic sense.
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PART I
ITEM 1.

BUSINESS

We are a clinical stage biotechnology company focused on extending the life expectancy of cancer patients by improving the effectiveness of current
standard-of-care treatments, including radiation therapy and chemotherapy. We are developing our lead product candidate, transcrocetinate sodium , also known as
trans sodium crocetinate (“ TSC ”), for use in the many cancer types in which tumor oxygen deprivation (“ hypoxia ”) is known to diminish the effectiveness of
current treatments. TSC is designed to target the cancer’s hypoxic micro-environment, re-oxygenating treatment-resistant tissue and making the cancer cells more
susceptible to the therapeutic effects of standard-of-care radiation therapy and chemotherapy. Our lead development programs target TSC against cancers known to
be inherently treatment-resistant, including brain cancers and pancreatic cancer. A Phase 1/2 clinical trial of TSC combined with first-line radiation and
chemotherapy in patients newly diagnosed with primary brain cancer (“ glioblastoma ” or “ GBM ”) was completed in 2015. This trial provided evidence of
efficacy and safety in extending overall survival without the addition of toxicity. Based on these results, an End-of-Phase 2 meeting was held with the U.S. Food
and Drug Administration (“ FDA ”) in August 2015, resulting in guidelines for the design of a single 400 patient pivotal Phase 3 registration study which, if
successful, would be sufficient to support approval. The Company is also exploring the possibility of focusing on the subset of inoperable patients in the GBM
indication. Discussions with the FDA regarding extension of the TSC development program from first line GBM into first-line pancreatic cancer treatment are
currently underway. TSC has been granted Orphan Drug designation for the treatment of both GBM and brain metastases.
In addition to cancer, TSC also has potential applications in other indications involving hypoxia, such as hemorrhagic shock, stroke, peripheral artery
disease, respiratory diseases and neurodegenerative diseases. In this regard, the Company is exploring the feasibility of testing TSC as a novel stroke treatment in
an emergency medicine/ambulance setting.
Summary of Current Product Candidate Pipeline
The following table summarizes the targeted clinical indications for Diffusion’s lead molecule, trans sodium crocetinate :

In addition to the TSC programs depicted in the table, we are exploring alternatives regarding how best to capitalize upon our product candidate, RES529, a novel PI3K/Akt/mTOR pathway inhibitor which has completed two Phase I clinical trials for age-related macular degeneration and is in preclinical
development in oncology, specifically GBM.
Technology Overview
Our proprietary technology is targeted at overcoming treatment-resistance in solid cancerous tumors by combining our lead product candidate, TSC, with
standard-of-care radiation and chemotherapy regimens, thus effecting a better patient survival outcome without the addition of harmful side effects.
Under normally oxygenated cellular conditions, radiation and chemotherapy generally have a powerful killing effect upon cancerous tumor tissue.
However, in many solid tumor types, cellular oxygen deprivation occurs as the result of rapid tumor growth, causing parts of the tumor to outgrow its blood supply.
When tumor tissue becomes hypoxic, it is up to three times more resistant to the cancer-killing power of the standard therapies (radiation and chemotherapy)
currently used in the treatment of the vast majority of cancer patients. Cancerous tumor cells are known to thrive under hypoxic conditions, as the resultant changes
in the tumor microenvironment confer “treatment-resistance” to radiation and chemotherapy within the cell.

Many solid cancerous tumor types are hypoxic and therefore subject to this treatment-resistance. TSC safely re-oxygenates treatment-resistant hypoxic
tumor tissue via a novel mechanism of action, without affecting the oxygenation of normal tissue, thereby increasing therapeutic effectiveness. To date, no addition
of serious harmful side effects, or exacerbation of the known side effects of standard-of-care treatments, has been observed in our clinical studies.
TSC’s distinctive re-oxygenation capabilities derive from its mechanism of action, which promotes enhanced diffusion of oxygen through blood plasma
and into the hypoxic tumor microenvironment. Disruption of the treatment-resistance syndrome by re-oxygenation promotes enhanced cancer-killing power from
radiation and chemotherapy, thereby safely extending patient survival. Because of the characteristics of this novel mechanism, oxygen levels of normal tissue
remain unaffected, thereby avoiding side effects related to the syndrome referred to as “oxygen toxicity.” We believe this avoidance of oxygen toxicity confers a
significant advantage to TSC’s diffusion-based approach over previous attempts to diminish treatment-resistance based on enhancing the oxygen concentration
levels of the blood.
Our clinical development plan targets TSC at radiation and chemotherapy sensitization of hypoxic tumor types, with an initial focus on primary brain
cancer, pancreatic cancer, and brain metastases. We have been granted orphan drug designations by the FDA for the treatment of brain cancers based on the
acknowledged unmet medical need and number of patients affected. Such orphan drug designations allow certain favorable treatments under FDA regulations in
connection with exclusivity periods and the new drug approval process.
Tumor Hypoxia
We believe that our breakthrough small molecule approach to overcoming solid tumor treatment-resistance by the reduction of cellular hypoxia may have
significant implications for the improved treatment of cancer. Hypoxia is a deficiency in the supply of oxygen. It is well known that tumors are especially
susceptible to developing hypoxia, driven by a combination of rapid cellular growth, structural abnormalities of the tumor microvessels and disturbed circulation
within the tumor. There are a number of known treatment-resistance consequences conferred by tumor hypoxia, including increases in:
●

Resistance to ionizing radiation;

●

Clinically aggressive phenotype;

●

Potential for more invasive growth; and,

●

Regional and distal tumor spreading.
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The above-described phenomenon of hypoxia-related “treatment-resistance” has been known to the scientific and clinical communities for over half a
century. The challenge has been to find an approach that can effectively mitigate treatment-resistance without the addition of toxic side effects or exacerbation of
the side effects associated with radiation and chemotherapy treatments. We believe that TSC embodies such an approach.
Trans Sodium Crocetinate
Dr. John Gainer, our Chief Scientific Officer, one of our directors and Professor Emeritus of Chemical Engineering at the University of Virginia, was the
first to propose the use of chemical compounds specifically to facilitate the diffusion of oxygen through blood plasma for the purpose of re-oxygenating hypoxic
tissues. Dr. Gainer’s early laboratory work systematically examined various means to alter the diffusivity of oxygen through the use of small molecules that would
affect the intermolecular forces existing in blood plasma. He originally identified crocetin, a natural carotenoid compound, as a molecule that could increase
oxygen diffusion through the plasma, and crocetin was shown to be an effective treatment in a rabbit model of atherosclerosis and other indications. This work
continued from the 1970s into the mid-1990s with various animal models, including radiation sensitization and hemorrhagic shock.
Because crocetin is an isomeric mixture, Dr. Gainer examined whether it was the trans -isomer which was responsible for eliciting the therapeutic benefit.
These experiments led to his development of a pure trans -isomer salt compound, which he named trans sodium crocetinate . (The USAN designated name is
transcrocetinate sodium ). TSC has been shown to be more effective than crocetin in a severe model of hemorrhagic shock in both rats and pigs. It also
demonstrated safety and efficacy in animal models of stroke and myocardial infarction, as well as in enhancing the response of hypoxic tumors to the therapeutic
effects of radiation and chemotherapy.
It is proposed that TSC works by altering the molecular arrangement of the water molecules in blood plasma (which is composed of 90% water), with the
altered structure being less dense – and thus less resistant to oxygen diffusion – than untreated blood plasma. A water molecule is composed of two hydrogen atoms
and one oxygen atom, with a net positive charge found on the hydrogen atoms and a net negative charge found on the oxygen atom. This results in the formation of
hydrogen bonds, which are an attraction between the net-negatively charged oxygen of one water molecule and the net-positively charged hydrogen atoms of
another water molecule. Theoretically, one water molecule can form four hydrogen bonds with neighboring water molecules. However, the literature on the subject
indicates that a water molecule actually forms, on average, 2 to 3.6 hydrogen bonds. By promoting an increase in the average number of hydrogen bonds among the
water molecules comprising the bulk of blood plasma, TSC enhances the ability of oxygen to diffuse more easily through the plasma and into hypoxic tissue.
In March 2017, we received a patent for bipolar trans carotenoid salts and their uses. This patent expands the coverage of the therapeutic use of TSC and
other related compounds to five hypoxia-related conditions including congestive heart failure, chronic renal failure, acute lung injury (ALI), chronic obstructive
pulmonary disease (COPD) and respiratory distress syndrome (RDS).
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Trans Sodium Crocetinate Increases Oxygenation of Hypoxic Cancerous Tumors
While earlier studies focused on improved treatments for hemorrhagic shock, ischemia, and traumatic brain injury, the use of TSC as an agent to reoxygenate hypoxic cancerous tumors became a central area of research for us following our founding in 2001. Because tumor hypoxia is a leading cause of solid
tumor resistance to both radiation and chemotherapy, it was believed that an agent such as TSC – one that could safely increase the oxygenation of hypoxic tumor
tissue – could prove effective in treatment-resistant cancers when combined with standard-of-care regimens of radiation and/or chemotherapy. This belief led to the
development of preclinical and clinical development programs targeted against treatment-resistance in various cancers, with a focus on brain cancer types (both
GBM and metastatic) and pancreatic cancer, all of which are known to be significantly hypoxic. The Company’s longer term goal is to use TSC against treatmentresistance in the entire range of hypoxic cancers now treated with radiation and chemotherapy.

Glioblastoma Program
Our lead program is targeted against newly diagnosed primary brain cancer, also known as glioblastoma (GBM). Glioblastoma is a grade IV brain tumor,
characterized by a heterogeneous cell population, with a number of negative attributes. GBM cells are typically genetically unstable (and thus prone to mutation),
highly infiltrative, angiogenic, and resistant to radiation and chemotherapy. The mutations typically found in GBM allow the tumor to grow and thrive in a hypoxic
environment. GBM is classified into two major subclasses, primary or secondary, depending upon the clinical properties as well as the chromosomal and genetic
alterations that are unique to each class. Primary GBM arises de novo from normal glial cells and typically occurs in those over the age of 40, while secondary
GBM arises from transformation of lower grade tumors and is usually seen in younger patients. Primary GBM is believed to account for approximately 95% of all
GBM diagnoses.
While GBM is the most common form of primary brain tumor involving glial cells it is still relatively rare, as approximately 12,000 people in the United
States were diagnosed with GBM in 2014. The median age of GBM diagnosis is approximately 65 years, with the incidence of GBM in those over 65 increasing
rapidly as shown by a doubling in incidence from 5.1 per 100,000 in the 1970s to 10.6 per 100,000 in the 1990s. Those diagnosed with the disease have a grim
prognosis, with the median survival time of untreated patients being 4.5 months. Current standard-of-care treatment only provides 14-16 months of survival time
after diagnosis.
Current Treatments for GBM
The standard-of-care for GBM tumors generally begins with surgical resection, unless the tumor is deemed inoperable due to its location near vital centers
of the brain. This surgery is performed both to alleviate the symptoms associated with the disease as well as to facilitate treatment of residual tumor cells. Even
with advances in surgical technique, complete removal of the tumor with clean margins is difficult to achieve, as the tumors are highly infiltrative and typically
extend into the normal brain parenchyma. Due to this, almost all GBM patients have recurrence of the tumor, with 90% of such recurrence occurring at the primary
site.
Due to the invasive nature of the tumors, surgical resection is promptly followed by radiotherapy coupled with the use of chemotherapeutic agents.
Radiotherapy involves the administration of irradiation to the whole brain. While nitrosoureas were historically a commonly used chemotherapeutic agent,
temozolomide (“ TMZ ”) was approved in 2005 and is now a mainstay of the standard-of-care. This is based on a clinical trial that showed the addition of TMZ to
surgery and radiation increased median survival in newly diagnosed GBM patients to 14.6 months compared to 12.1 months for the surgery and radiation only
group.
Most chemotherapeutic drugs have a limited ability to cross the blood brain barrier, thus a strategy to attempt to circumvent this was the development of
Gliadel ® , dissolvable chemotherapy wafers that could be placed in the tumor bed following surgical resection. Gliadel ® contains the nitrosourea
chemotherapeutic agent carmustine that is released for several weeks, in contrast to systemically administered carmustine that has a very short half-life. While
Gliadel ® wafers were shown to be safe, the drugs’ addition to radiation and TMZ did not result in a statistically significant increase in survival.
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GBM tumors show increased expression of vascular endothelial growth factor (“ VEGF ”), and the anti-angiogenesis drug bevacizumab has been
approved by the FDA for the treatment of recurrent GBM. A Phase 2 study found that bevacizumab treatment in patients with recurrent GBM increased six-month
progression-free survival from a historical 9-15% to 25% with overall six-month survival of 54%. Another Phase 2 study showed that recurrent GBM patients
treated with bevacizumab at a lower dose but a higher frequency had even higher six-month progression-free survival of 42.6%.
While bevacizumab has shown success in recurrent GBM, it is not utilized in newly diagnosed patients, our target patient population, as two separate
clinical trials showed no difference in overall survival in patients treated with radiation, TMZ, and bevacizumab compared to patients treated with only radiation
and TMZ. Bevacizumab treatment did result in an increase in progression free survival in both studies; however, the reason why this increase in progression free
survival did not translate to an increase in overall survival is unclear. In addition, certain studies have reported that patients treated with bevacizumab had an
increased symptom burden, a worse quality of life, and a decline in neurocognitive function.
GBM Therapies Under Development
There are a number of companies developing GBM therapies. For example, a search on the website www.clinicaltrials.gov yields over 300 results for
“glioblastoma multiforme” and “open trials.” Most of these trials focus on the recurrent patient population, whereas our target population is newly diagnosed
patients. In addition to the therapeutics previously mentioned, current GBM trials include Northwest Therapeutics’ DCVax ® -L, Bristol-Myers Squibb’s
Nivolumab/Ipilimumab and AbbVie’s Veliparib. In addition, the medical device company Novocure has been developing a novel approach called Tumor Treating
Fields (“ TTFields ”) using low intensity, alternating electric fields within the intermediate frequency range. TTFields are believed to disrupt cell division through
physical interactions with key molecules during mitosis. This medical device approach has shown some success in the recurrent GBM patient population and more
recently as an initial treatment.
GBM is an Orphan Disease
GBM is diagnosed in approximately 12,000 individuals every year, making it an “orphan disease.” The Orphan Drug Act of 1983 was designed to provide
financial incentives for, and to reduce the costs associated with, developing drugs for rare diseases and disorders. A “rare disease or disorder” is defined by the
Orphan Drug Act of 1983 as affecting fewer than 200,000 Americans at the time of designation or one for which “there is no reasonable expectation that the cost of
developing and making available in the United States…will be recovered from sales in the United States.” A sponsor must request that the FDA designate a drug
currently under development for a “rare disease or condition” as an orphan drug, and if the FDA agrees that the drug and indication meet the criteria set forth in the
Orphan Drug Act of 1983, certain financial and marketing incentives become available.
In July 2011, we announced that TSC was granted Orphan Drug Designation by the FDA for the treatment of GBM.
Trans Sodium Crocetinate Phase 1/2 Clinical Trial in GBM
We have evaluated TSC in 148 human subjects in various Phase 1 and Phase 2 clinical trials to date, with no serious adverse events attributable to TSC.
Our Phase 1/2 clinical trial of TSC in patients with newly diagnosed GBM completed in 2015 is described in more detail below. TSC is targeted for testing against
newly diagnosed GBM in an upcoming Phase 3 clinical trial that, assuming the availability of funding resources and the completion of certain manufacturing and
animal toxicology guidelines mandated by the FDA guidance, could begin within the next twelve (12) months.
Our Phase 1/2 clinical trial in GBM enrolled 59 newly diagnosed patients who received TSC in conjunction with radiation and TMZ. In the Phase I
portion of the trial, TSC was initially administered three times per week at half-dose to three patients prior to radiation. Subsequently, six additional patients
received full-dose TSC for six weeks in combination with radiation. No dose-limiting toxicities were identified in the nine patients during the Phase I portion of the
trial, nor were any serious adverse events relating to the drug observed. Fifty additional patients were enrolled in the Phase II trial and received full-dose TSC in
combination with TMZ and radiation therapy. Four weeks after completion of radiation therapy, all patients underwent chemotherapy with higher doses of TMZ for
five (5) days every four weeks, but no further TSC was administered.
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We presented initial results from the trial at the 2015 American Society of Clinical Oncology (“ ASCO ”) Annual Meeting in June 2015, which discussed
data from the 18 trial sites covering the first twenty-one months. Final results were published in the Journal of Neurosurgery online in May 2016. We compared
results in relation to a historical control group from a 2005 study which showed that the addition of TMZ to standard-of-care (surgery plus radiation) increased
overall survival from 12.1 months to 14.6 months. We reported that:
●

TSC plus radiation and TMZ increased the patients’ chance of survival at two years by 37% compared to the historical control group. The overall
survival at two years was 36.3% in the TSC group compared to 26.5% in the historical control group.

●

In the subgroup of patients considered inoperable, the chance of survival at two years for those who received TSC was increased by 380%, (40%
alive at two years for TSC group versus 10% for control).

●

71% of those treated with TSC were alive at one year compared to 61% of those in the historical control group. In 11 of 56 patients, tumors
regressed to undetectable.

●

No serious safety findings attributed to TSC were observed in the TSC study and adverse events were consistent with those seen in previous trials of
GBM featuring radiation and TMZ.

End-of-Phase 2 FDA Meeting and Plans for TSC Phase 3 GBM Clinical Trial
Following the announcement of the results of the 2015 Phase 1/2 clinical trial in GBM, we held an end of Phase 2 meeting with the FDA in August 2015
to discuss planning for a Phase 3 clinical trial. At the meeting, guidance was received on a trial design for the Phase 3 study, including:
●

A single, randomized trial of the agreed upon design, if successful, can serve as the basis for an application for approval.

●

The trial will consist of 400 newly diagnosed GBM patients with half given TSC in conjunction with standard-of-care radiation and TMZ and half
receiving standard-of-care radiation and TMZ only.

●

Based on the Phase 1/2 safety results with supporting toxicology, TSC’s dosing exposure will be substantially increased, which means that TSC can
now be used for both the radiation + chemotherapy and subsequent TMZ chemotherapy-only phase of GBM treatment, extending the TSC treatment
duration from 6 weeks to 30 weeks.

●

Diffusion will provide certain expanded information on animal toxicology, pharmacokinetics and manufacturing practices to the FDA before
initiating the trial.

One of the major differences between the Phase 3 trial and the Phase 1/2 trial is the addition of TSC doses after the completion of the
radiation/chemotherapy phase of treatment into the chemotherapy only phase. In the Phase 1/2 trial, TSC was only given prior to radiation (18 doses total over 6
weeks). In the Phase 3 study, we are planning to give the patients 36 total doses of TSC, 18 in conjunction with radiation/chemotherapy and 18 in conjunction with
chemotherapy alone for a total TSC treatment duration of 30 weeks. The following figure gives a graphical representation of our planned Phase 3 trial, which,
assuming the availability of financial resources and the completion of certain manufacturing and animal toxicology guidelines mandated by the FDA guidelines, we
intend to commence enrollment in 2017, complete enrollment and potentially receive interim data in 2019 and complete conduct (enrollment and dosing) of the
study in 2020. Data collection, analysis and regulatory interaction are projected to occur over the following 12 to 18 months.
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Pancreatic Cancer Program
One of the most hypoxic of all the solid cancers, and therefore one of the most treatment-resistant, is pancreatic cancer. According to the American Cancer
Society, pancreatic cancer is responsible for 7% of all cancer deaths in both men and women, making it the fourth leading cause of cancer death in the U.S.
Estimates are that 40% of pancreatic cancer cases are sporadic in nature, 30% are related to smoking and 20% may be associated with dietary factors, with only 510% of cases hereditary in nature.
Pancreatic cancer is difficult to diagnose in early stages because initial symptoms are often nonspecific and subtle in nature, and include anorexia, malaise,
nausea, fatigue, and back pain. Approximately 75% of all pancreatic carcinomas occur within the head or neck of the pancreas, 15-20% occur in the body of the
pancreas, and 5-10% occur in the tail.

The only potential curative therapy for pancreatic cancer is complete surgical resection. Unfortunately, this is only possible for approximately 20% of
cases, and even of those patients whose cancer is surgically resected, 80% will develop metastatic disease within two to three years following surgery. Patients with
unresectable pancreatic cancer have a median overall survival of 10 to 14 months while patients diagnosed with Stage IV disease (indicative of metastases) have a
5-year overall survival of just 1%.
Multiple studies have confirmed that pancreatic cancers are highly hypoxic. A study reporting the direct measurement of oxygenation in human pancreatic
tumors prior to surgery showed dramatic differences between tumors and normal tissue. The partial pressure of oxygen (“ pO2 ”) ranged between 0-5.3 mmHg in
tumors but in adjacent normal tissue it ranged from 9.3-92.7 mmHg. Hypoxic areas are also frequently found when examining tissue from mouse models of
pancreatic cancer.
Current Treatment Options for Pancreatic Cancer
Surgery remains the primary mode of treatment for patients with pancreatic cancer. However, there is an important role for chemotherapy and/or radiation
in an adjuvant setting (given to prevent recurrence) or neoadjuvant setting (given before surgery to shrink the tumor to make complete resection more probable), as
well as in patients with unresectable disease.
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Since its approval in 1996, gemcitabine has been partnered with approximately 30 different agents in late-stage clinical trials in an attempt to improve
upon the effectiveness of gemcitabine alone in treating patients with metastatic pancreatic cancer. Only two of these trials have demonstrated improved efficacy,
leading to FDA approvals – erlotinib (Tarceva ® ) and nab-paclitaxel (Abraxane ® ).
In patients with metastatic disease, the use of erlotinib with gemcitabine led to a significantly higher one-year survival rate than with the use of
gemcitabine alone (23% vs. 17%, P = 0.023) as well as an increased median overall survival (6.24 months vs. 5.91 months, P = 0.038). A more recent study
showed that the addition of nanoparticle albumin-bound (nab)-paclitaxel to gemcitabine significantly improved overall survival in treatment naïve patients with
metastatic cancer, as overall survival was approximately two (2) months longer in patients treated with combination therapy (8.5 vs. 6.7 months).
The Folfirinox (leucovorin + 5-fluorouracil + oxaliplatin + irinotecan) regimen was shown to significantly improve overall survival compared to treatment
with gemcitabine (11.1 months vs. 6.8 months). While dramatically improving overall survival, the Folfirinox treatment was accompanied by serious adverse
events and thus is only recommended for patients with good performance status.
Other combinations of gemcitabine with cisplatin, oxaliplatin, irinotecan or docetaxel tested in Phase 3 trials have not been of superior benefit to
gemcitabine alone. The combination therapy nab-Paclitaxel and gemcitabine was recently approved by the FDA as an additional standard-of-care for the treatment
of patients with untreated pancreatic adenocarcinoma. However, the improvements were modest, and treatment of pancreatic cancer remains an area of intense
research, with 92 products in all stages of clinical development with 14 of them in Phase 3 at this time according to clinicaltrials.gov.
Just recently, the FDA approved Onivyde ® (irinotecan liposome injection) in combination with fluorouracil and leucovorin, to treat patients with
metastatic pancreatic cancer who were previously treated with gemcitabine-based chemotherapy. In the pivotal clinical trial, patients treated with Onivyde ® plus
fluorouracil/leucovorin lived an average of 6.1 months, compared to 4.2 months for those treated with only fluorouracil/leucovorin.
Pancreatic Cancer Market Analysis
It is estimated that every year approximately 49,000 people are diagnosed with pancreatic cancer in the United States. More than half of these patients will
be diagnosed with metastatic disease. The five-year survival rates for patients with pancreatic cancer are dismal (<14%) and are particularly bad for those with
metastatic disease (~1%).
The current standard-of-care for patients with metastatic pancreatic cancer includes gemcitabine combined with either erlotinib or nab-paclitaxel. Gemzar
® (gemcitabine) is now available as a generic, however prior to losing patent protection the drug generated peak revenues of approximately $700 million in the
United States for Eli Lilly. Tarceva ® (erlotinib), which is approved for the treatment of metastatic non-small cell lung cancer and metastatic pancreatic cancer, is
marketed by Roche and Astellas and sales of the drug generated $1.2 billion in revenue in 2015. Abraxane ® (nab-paclitaxel), which was approved for the treatment

of breast cancer in 2005 and non-small cell lung cancer in 2012, was approved by the FDA in 2013 for the treatment of metastatic pancreatic cancer. Sales of
Abraxane ® totaled $848 million in 2014 for all indications.
TSC in Pancreatic Cancer
We believe that targeting hypoxia in pancreatic cancer with TSC, especially in combination with standard-of-care therapies involving gemcitabine and
nab-paclitaxel, may be beneficial in the treatment of pancreatic cancer. Pancreatic cancer is one of the most hypoxic malignant tumors, making it one of the most
resistant tumors to therapy. Patients with advanced pancreatic cancer of exocrine origin have few therapeutic options and, for patients with advanced cancers, the
overall survival rate of all stages is less than 1% at 5 years, with most patients dying within 1 year. Gemcitabine remains to-date, the backbone of treatment of
pancreatic cancer.
The antitumor efficacy of gemcitabine is known to be hindered by a number of hypoxia-related factors including, but not limited to:
●

Limited Delivery of Gemcitabine to Intracellular Tumor Microenvironment . Hypoxia has been associated with resistance to nucleoside analogs such
as gemcitabine by decreasing the expression of the human cross-cell membrane equilibrative nucleoside transporter 1 (hENT1), thereby decreasing
transport of gemcitabine and other nucleoside analogues into tumor cells.
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●

Gemcitabine Intratumor Cell Inhibition of Ribonucleotide Reductase Compromised . Hypoxia has been associated with a decrease in intracellular
tumor ribonucleotide reductase, an enzyme required for the antitumor effect of gemcitabine. Indeed, this decrease leads to cell cycle arrest in G1 or
G2 phase, thereby allowing DNA repair before progression to S or M phase.

●

Increased Breakdown of Gemcitabine . It has been also observed that under hypoxic conditions, intratumor cell levels of cytidine deaminase are
substantially increased. Cytidine Deaminase is the main enzyme responsible for the breakdown of gemcitabine and similar nucleosides. As a result
of this, the gemcitabine antitumor effect is substantially decreased under hypoxic conditions.

●

Nab-paclitaxel Potentiates Gemcitabine by Decreasing Cytidine Deaminase . One of the ways nab-paclitaxel decreases cytidine deaminase has been
observed to be through increasing reactive oxygen species (“ ROSs ”) which has been shown to deactivate cytidine deaminase.

Taken together, the four factors above are believed to explain, at least in part, the limitations of gemcitabine in hypoxic conditions and the efficacy
observed with the gemcitabine plus nab-paclitaxel combination regimen for the treatment of pancreatic cancer. They also suggest that correction of hypoxia with an
anti-hypoxia agent such as TSC may significantly improve the efficacy of the gemcitabine plus nab-paclitaxel combination regimen for the treatment of pancreatic
cancer, including for the following reasons:
●

TSC has been shown to improve the cytotoxic effect of gemcitabine in a pre-clinical rat model.

●

By correcting hypoxia, TSC may improve delivery of gemcitabine to intracellular tumor microenvironment by increasing levels of hENT-1.

●

By reversing hypoxia-induced cell cycle arrest via reactivation of ribonucleotide reductase, TSC may restore gemcitabine’s antitumor effect.

●

By reversing the hypoxia-induced increase of cytidine deaminase, TSC may increase intratumoral gemcitabine levels. Addition of TSC to the
gemcitabine plus nab-paclitaxel regimen could further improve the efficacy of the combination by further decreasing cytidine deaminase. Of note,
hypoxia has also been implicated in conferring tumor resistance to taxane-based therapies.

Proposed Plans for TSC Phase 2 Clinical Trial in Pancreatic Cancer
The planned Phase 2 clinical trial for TSC in pancreatic cancer is based on preclinical safety and efficacy data, and findings from the Phase 1/2 clinical
trial in GBM, as well as the facts noted above. Global experts in the field agree that pancreatic cancer is an appropriate target for expansion of the use of TSC, and
a clinical advisory committee of these key opinion leaders has been assembled to facilitate our pancreatic cancer clinical development program. We are currently in
discussions with recognized pancreatic cancer experts and the FDA regarding trial design, end-points, and patient numbers. Assuming the availability of financial
resources, we anticipate beginning enrollment in this trial during 2017 and completing conduct of the study (enrollment and dosing) in 2019. Data collection,
analysis and regulatory interaction are projected to occur over the following 9 to 12 months.
Brain Metastases Program
In contrast to the relative rarity of primary brain cancers, life-threatening cancers that metastasize to the brain are much more common and represent a
serious complication in the treatment of many cancer types. Up to 30% of adult cancer patients will suffer from brain metastases. There are approximately 170,000
cases of metastatic brain cancer every year in the United States. Incidence of brain metastases varies depending upon the primary tumor type, although lung cancer
appears to carry the greatest risk. The prognosis for patients with brain metastases is very grim, with current treatment options only resulting in median overall
survival times of less than one year.
Treatment for brain metastases involves both controlling the symptoms associated with the condition as well as attacking the cancer directly. Brain
metastases typically result in edema that can be controlled with the use of steroids; however, long-term use of steroids typically results in side effects that diminish
a patient’s quality of life. Approximately 25-45% of patients will experience seizures and require the use of anti-epileptic drugs. Surgery is only utilized in patients
with a solitary brain metastatic lesion. Radiation therapy remains the standard-of-care for the vast majority of patients with brain metastases. There is very limited
evidence for the use of chemotherapy, as few clinical trials have been conducted. There are no medications currently approved for the treatment of brain
metastases.
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Plans for TSC Phase 2/3 Clinical Trial in Metastatic Brain Cancer
We are planning to conduct a Phase 2/3 clinical trial in metastatic brain cancer after further discussions with experts and the FDA regarding trial design,
end-points, and patient numbers.
In December 2012, the FDA granted us Orphan Drug Designation for the use of TSC in brain metastases.
Description of Other Indications/Products
We have rights to and own technologies and potential products beyond those described above, including analog molecules as backups to TSC. It is our
strategy to focus at the current time on our TSC for oncology, specifically GBM and pancreatic cancer, as described herein. Beyond those described herein, we also
intend to continue to review our technologies and potential products on a regular basis and consider internal development in the future and the potential to outlicense portions of our technology and potential products to other biopharmaceutical companies with greater focus and resources than ours, or potentially in-license
late stage products which are in or ready for human clinical trials.
As a result of the Merger, we acquired product candidates for ophthalmology, oncology and dermatology. One such product candidate is RES-529, a novel
PI3K/Akt/mTOR pathway inhibitor which has completed two Phase I clinical trials for age-related macular degeneration and is in preclinical development in
oncology, specifically GBM. The novel inhibition of the PI3K/Akt/mTOR pathway and targeting of the androgen receptor have also shown potential in a number of
additional indications.
We are exploring partnering opportunities for our product candidates, such as strategic partnerships, alliances or licensing arrangements.
Competition
Our industry is highly competitive and subject to rapid and significant change. Potential competitors in the United States are numerous and include major
pharmaceutical and specialty pharmaceutical companies, universities and other institutions. We generally divide our competition in the pharmaceutical industry
into four categories: (1) corporations with large research and developmental departments that develop and market products in many therapeutic areas; (2)
companies that have moderate research and development capabilities and focus their product strategy on a small number of therapeutic areas; (3) small companies
with limited development capabilities and only a few product offerings; and (4) university and other research institutions. Many of our competitors have longer
operating histories, greater name recognition, substantially greater financial resources and larger research and development staffs than we do, as well as
substantially greater experience than us in developing products, obtaining regulatory approvals, and manufacturing and marketing pharmaceutical products. A
significant amount of research is carried out at academic and government institutions. These institutions are aware of the commercial value of their findings and are
aggressive in pursuing patent protection and negotiating licensing arrangements to collect royalties for use of technology that they have developed.
There are several firms currently marketing or developing products that may be competitive with our products, including therapeutics and devices. We
believe TSC is a first-in-class novel small molecule that re-oxygenates hypoxic tissue, enhancing efficacy of radiation and chemotherapy without harmful side
effects.
Mergers and acquisitions in the pharmaceutical and biotechnology industries may result in even more resources being concentrated among a smaller
number of our competitors. Our commercial opportunity could be reduced or eliminated if our competitors develop or market products or other novel therapies that
are more effective, safer or less costly than our current or future product candidates, or obtain regulatory approval for their products more rapidly than we may
obtain approval for our product candidates. In addition, the first product to reach the market in a therapeutic or preventative area is often at a significant competitive
advantage relative to later entrants in the market and may result in certain marketing exclusivity as per federal legislation. Acceptance by physicians and other
health care providers, including managed care groups, also is critical to the success of a product versus competitor products. Our success will be based in part on
our ability to identify, develop and manage a portfolio of product candidates that are safer and more effective than competing products.
Research and Product Development
We incurred approximately $7.2 million in 2016 and $3.9 million in 2015 on research and product development activities that related primarily to
activities associated with the synthesis and formulations of our products then in development, additional preclinical studies and planning for Phase I/Phase II
studies. We anticipate that our research and development expenses during 2017 will increase compared to 2016 and will consist primarily of expenses associated
with the initiation of our glioblastoma and pancreatic cancer human clinical trials.
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Intellectual Property
Our success depends and will continue to depend in part upon our ability to maintain proprietary protection for our products and technologies, to preserve
our proprietary information, trademarks and trade secrets and to operate without infringing the proprietary rights of others. Our policy is to attempt to protect our
technology by, among other things, filing patent applications on inventions that are important to the development and conduct of our business with the U.S. Patent
and Trademark Office (“ USPTO ”), and its foreign counterparts or obtaining license rights for technology that we consider important to the development of our
business.
As of December 31, 2016, we owned approximately 14 issued U.S. patents and 46 issued foreign patents, which include granted European, Japanese,
Chinese and Indian patent rights, and over 50 pending patent applications worldwide, covering the product candidates we currently intend to develop. Our current
patents expire between 2026 and 2031. TSC has been granted Orphan Drug Designation for the treatment of both GBM and metastatic brain cancer and an
application is pending for pancreatic cancer. A formulation patent provides protection for the TSC oral drug product until 2031 with extensions possible.
Patents extend for varying periods according to the date of patent filing or grant and the legal term of patents in various countries where patent protection
is obtained. The actual protection afforded by a patent, which can vary from country to country, depends on the type of patent, the scope of its coverage and the
availability of legal remedies in the country.
In addition to patents, we use other forms of protection, such as trademark, copyright and trade secret protection, to protect our intellectual property,
particularly where we do not believe patent protection is appropriate or obtainable. We aim to take advantage of all of the intellectual property rights that are
available to us and believe that this comprehensive approach will provide us with proprietary positions for our product candidates, where available.
We also protect our proprietary information by requiring our employees, consultants, contractors and other advisors to execute nondisclosure and
assignment of invention agreements upon commencement of their respective employment or engagement. Agreements with our employees also prevent them from
bringing the proprietary rights of third parties to us. In addition, we also require confidentiality or service agreements from third parties that receive our confidential
information or materials.
Government Regulation
FDA Drug Approval Process
In the United States, pharmaceutical products are subject to extensive regulation by the FDA. The Federal Food, Drug, and Cosmetic Act (the “ FDC Act
”) and other federal and state statutes and regulations, govern, among other things, the research, development, testing, manufacture, storage, recordkeeping,
approval, labeling, promotion and marketing, distribution, post-approval monitoring and reporting, sampling and import and export of pharmaceutical products.
Failure to comply with applicable U.S. requirements may subject a company to a variety of administrative or judicial sanctions, such as FDA refusal to approve
pending new drug applications (“ NDAs ”), warning or untitled letters, product recalls, product seizures, total or partial suspension of production or distribution,
injunctions, fines, civil penalties and criminal prosecution.
Pharmaceutical product development for a new product or certain changes to an approved product in the United States typically involves preclinical
laboratory and animal tests, the submission to the FDA of an investigational new drug application (“ IND ”) which must become effective before clinical testing
may commence, and adequate and well-controlled clinical trials to establish the safety and effectiveness of the drug for each indication for which FDA approval is
sought. Satisfaction of FDA pre-market approval requirements typically takes many years and the actual time required may vary substantially based upon the type,
complexity and novelty of the product or disease.
Preclinical tests include laboratory evaluation of product chemistry, formulation and toxicity, as well as animal trials to assess the characteristics and
potential safety and efficacy of the product. The conduct of the preclinical tests must comply with federal regulations and requirements, including good laboratory
practices. The results of preclinical testing are submitted to the FDA as part of an IND, along with other information, including information about product
chemistry, manufacturing and controls and a proposed clinical trial protocol. Long term preclinical tests, such as animal tests of reproductive toxicity and
carcinogenicity, may continue after the IND is submitted.
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A 30-day waiting period after the submission of each IND is required prior to the commencement of clinical testing in humans. If the FDA has neither
commented on nor questioned the IND within this 30-day period, the clinical trial proposed in the IND may begin.
Clinical trials involve the administration of the investigational new drug to healthy volunteers or patients under the supervision of a qualified investigator.
Clinical trials must be conducted: (1) in compliance with federal regulations; (2) in compliance with good clinical practice (“ GCP ”) an international standard
meant to protect the rights and health of patients and to define the roles of clinical trial sponsors, administrators and monitors; and (3) under protocols detailing the
objectives of the trial, the parameters to be used in monitoring safety and the effectiveness criteria to be evaluated. Each protocol involving testing on U.S. patients
and subsequent protocol amendments must be submitted to the FDA as part of the IND.
The FDA may order the temporary or permanent discontinuation of a clinical trial at any time, or impose other sanctions, if it believes that the clinical trial
either is not being conducted in accordance with FDA requirements or presents an unacceptable risk to the clinical trial patients. The study protocol and informed
consent information for patients in clinical trials must also be submitted to an institutional review board (“ IRB ”) for approval at each site at which the clinical trial
will be conducted. An IRB may also require the clinical trial at the site to be halted, either temporarily or permanently, for failure to comply with the IRB’s
requirements, or may impose other conditions.
Clinical trials to support NDAs for marketing approval are typically conducted in three sequential phases, but the phases may overlap, especially in cancer
indications. In Phase 1, the initial introduction of the drug into healthy human subjects or patients, the drug is tested to assess pharmacological actions, side effects
associated with increasing doses and, if possible, early evidence on effectiveness. Phase 2 usually involves trials in a limited patient population to determine
metabolism, pharmacokinetics, the effectiveness of the drug for a particular indication, dosage tolerance and optimum dosage, and to identify common adverse
effects and safety risks. If a compound demonstrates evidence of effectiveness and an acceptable safety profile in Phase 2 evaluations, Phase 3 clinical trials are
undertaken to obtain the additional information about clinical efficacy and safety in a larger number of patients, typically at geographically dispersed clinical trial
sites, to permit the FDA to evaluate the overall benefit-risk relationship of the drug and to provide adequate information for the labeling of the drug. In most cases
the FDA requires two adequate and well-controlled Phase 3 clinical trials with statistically significant results to demonstrate the efficacy of the drug. With suitable
FDA agreement, a single Phase 3 clinical trial with other confirmatory evidence may be sufficient. In those instances, the study is usually a large multicenter trial
demonstrating internal consistency and a statistically persuasive finding of an effect on mortality, irreversible morbidity or prevention of a disease with a
potentially serious outcome and confirmation of the result in a second trial would be practically or ethically impossible.
After completion of the required clinical testing, an NDA is prepared and submitted to the FDA. FDA approval of the NDA is required before marketing
of the product may begin in the United States. The NDA must include the results of all preclinical, clinical and other testing and a compilation of data relating to
the product’s pharmacology, chemistry, manufacture and controls. The cost of preparing and submitting an NDA is substantial. The submission of most NDAs is
additionally subject to a substantial application user fee, and the manufacturer and sponsor under an approved new drug application are also subject to annual
product and establishment user fees. These fees are typically increased annually.
The FDA has sixty (60) days from its receipt of an NDA to determine whether the application will be accepted for filing based on the agency’s threshold
determination that it is sufficiently complete to permit substantive review. Once the submission is accepted for filing, the FDA begins an in-depth review. The FDA
has agreed to certain performance goals in the review of new drug applications. Priority review can be applied to drugs that the FDA determines offer major
advances in treatment, or provide a treatment where no adequate therapy exists. For certain drugs, priority review is further limited only for drugs intended to treat
a serious or life-threatening disease relative to the currently approved products. The review process for both standard and priority review may be extended by the
FDA for three (3) additional months to consider certain late-submitted information, or information intended to clarify information already provided in the
submission.
The FDA may also refer applications for novel drug products, or drug products that present difficult questions of safety or efficacy, to an advisory
committee, typically a panel that includes clinicians and other experts, for review, evaluation and a recommendation as to whether the application should be
approved. The FDA is not bound by the recommendation of an advisory committee, but it generally follows such recommendations. Before approving an NDA, the
FDA will typically inspect one or more clinical sites to assure compliance with GCP. Additionally, the FDA will inspect the facility or the facilities at which the
drug is manufactured. The FDA will not approve the product unless compliance with current good manufacturing practice (“ cGMP ”) is satisfactory and the NDA
contains data that provide substantial evidence that the drug is safe and effective in the indication studied.

12

After the FDA evaluates the NDA and the manufacturing facilities, it issues either an approval letter or a complete response letter. A complete response
letter generally outlines the deficiencies in the submission and may require substantial additional testing, or information, in order for the FDA to reconsider the
application. If, or when, those deficiencies have been addressed to the FDA’s satisfaction in a resubmission of the NDA, the FDA will issue an approval letter. The
FDA has committed to reviewing such resubmissions in two or six (6) months depending on the type of information included.
An approval letter authorizes commercial marketing of the drug with specific prescribing information for specific indications. As a condition of NDA
approval, the FDA may require a risk evaluation and mitigation strategy (“ REMS ”) to help ensure that the benefits of the drug outweigh the potential risks. REMS
can include medication guides, communication plans for healthcare professionals and elements to assure safe use (“ ETASU ”). ETASU can include, but are not
limited to, special training or certification for prescribing or dispensing, dispensing only under certain circumstances, special monitoring and the use of patient
registries. The requirement for a REMS can materially affect the potential market and profitability of the drug. Moreover, product approval may require substantial
post-approval testing and surveillance to monitor the drug’s safety or efficacy. Once granted, product approvals may be withdrawn if compliance with regulatory
standards is not maintained or problems are identified following initial marketing.
Changes to some of the conditions established in an approved application, including changes in indications, labeling, or manufacturing processes or
facilities, require submission and FDA approval of a new NDA or NDA supplement before the change can be implemented. An NDA supplement for a new
indication typically requires clinical data similar to that in the original application, and the FDA uses the same procedures and actions in reviewing NDA
supplements as it does in reviewing NDAs.
The Hatch-Waxman Act
Orange Book Listing
In seeking approval for a drug through an NDA, applicants are required to list with the FDA each patent whose claims cover the applicant’s product. Upon
approval of a drug, each of the patents listed in the application for the drug is then published in the FDA’s Approved Drug Products with Therapeutic Equivalence
Evaluations, commonly known as the Orange Book. Drugs listed in the Orange Book can, in turn, be cited by potential generic competitors in support of approval
of an abbreviated new drug application (“ ANDA ”). An ANDA provides for marketing of a drug product that has the same active ingredients in the same strengths
and dosage form as the listed drug and has been shown through bioequivalence testing to be therapeutically equivalent to the listed drug. Other than the
requirement for bioequivalence testing, ANDA applicants are not required to conduct, or submit results of, preclinical or clinical tests to prove the safety or
effectiveness of their drug product. Drugs approved in this way are commonly referred to as “generic equivalents” to the listed drug, and can often be substituted by
pharmacists under prescriptions written for the original listed drug.
The ANDA applicant is required to certify to the FDA concerning any patents listed for the approved product in the FDA’s Orange Book. Specifically, the
applicant must certify that: (1) the required patent information has not been filed; (2) the listed patent has expired; (3) the listed patent has not expired, but will
expire on a particular date and approval is sought after patent expiration; or (4) the listed patent is invalid or will not be infringed by the new product. The ANDA
applicant may also elect to submit a section viii statement certifying that its proposed ANDA label does not contain (or carves out) any language regarding the
patented method-of-use rather than certify to a listed method-of-use patent. If the applicant does not challenge the listed patents, the ANDA will not be approved
until all the listed patents claiming the referenced product have expired.
A certification that the new product will not infringe the already approved product’s listed patents, or that such patents are invalid, is called a Paragraph
IV certification. If the ANDA applicant has provided a Paragraph IV certification to the FDA, the applicant must also send notice of the Paragraph IV certification
to the NDA and patent holders once the ANDA has been accepted for filing by the FDA. The NDA and patent holders may then commence a patent infringement
lawsuit in response to the notice of the Paragraph IV certification. The filing of a patent infringement lawsuit within forty-five (45) days of the receipt of a
Paragraph IV certification automatically prevents the FDA from approving the ANDA until the earlier of thirty (30) months, expiration of the patent, settlement of
the lawsuit, or a decision in the infringement case that is favorable to the ANDA applicant.
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The ANDA also will not be approved until any applicable non-patent exclusivity listed in the Orange Book for the referenced product has expired.
Exclusivity
Upon NDA approval of a new chemical entity (“ NCE ”) which is a drug that contains no active moiety that has been approved by the FDA in any other
NDA, that drug receives five years of marketing exclusivity during which the FDA cannot receive any ANDA seeking approval of a generic version of that drug.
Certain changes to a drug, such as the addition of a new indication to the package insert, are associated with a three-year period of exclusivity during which the
FDA cannot approve an ANDA for a generic drug that includes the change.
An ANDA may be submitted one year before NCE exclusivity expires if a Paragraph IV certification is filed. If there is no listed patent in the Orange
Book, there may not be a Paragraph IV certification and, thus, no ANDA may be filed before the expiration of the exclusivity period.
REMS
The FDA has the authority to require a REMS to ensure the safe use of the drug. In determining whether a REMS is necessary, the FDA must consider the
size of the population likely to use the drug, the seriousness of the disease or condition to be treated, the expected benefit of the drug, the duration of treatment, the
seriousness of known or potential adverse events, and whether the drug is a new molecular entity. If the FDA determines a REMS is necessary, the drug sponsor
must agree to the REMS plan at the time of approval. A REMS may be required to include various elements, such as a medication guide or patient package insert, a
communication plan to educate healthcare providers of the drug’s risks, limitations on who may prescribe or dispense the drug, or other measures that the FDA
deems necessary to assure the safe use of the drug. REMS can include medication guides, communication plans for healthcare professionals, and ETASU. ETASU
can include, but are not limited to, special training or certification for prescribing or dispensing, dispensing only under certain circumstances, special monitoring,
and the use of patient registries. In addition, the REMS must include a timetable to periodically assess the strategy. The FDA may also impose a REMS
requirement on a drug already on the market if the FDA determines, based on new safety information, that a REMS is necessary to ensure that the drug’s benefits
outweigh its risks. The requirement for a REMS can materially affect the potential market and profitability of a drug.
Patent Term Extension
After NDA approval, owners of relevant drug patents may apply for up to a five-year patent extension. The allowable patent term extension is calculated
as half of the drug’s testing phase, the time between IND application and NDA submission, and all of the review phase, the time between NDA submission and
approval, up to a maximum of five years. The time can be shortened if the FDA determines that the applicant did not pursue approval with due diligence. The total
patent term after the extension may not exceed 14 years.
For patents that might expire during the application phase, the patent owner may request an interim patent extension. An interim patent extension
increases the patent term by one year and may be renewed up to four times. For each interim patent extension granted, the post-approval patent extension is reduced
by one year. The director of the USPTO must determine that approval of the drug covered by the patent for which a patent extension is being sought is likely.
Interim patent extensions are not available for a drug for which an NDA has not been submitted.
Post-Approval Requirements
Once an NDA is approved, a product will be subject to certain post-approval requirements. For instance, the FDA closely regulates the post-approval
marketing and promotion of drugs, including standards and regulations for direct-to-consumer advertising, off-label promotion, industry-sponsored scientific and
educational activities and promotional activities involving the internet. Drugs may be marketed only for the approved indications and in accordance with the
provisions of the approved labeling.
Adverse event reporting and submission of periodic reports is required following FDA approval of an NDA. The FDA also may require post-marketing
testing, known as Phase 4 testing, REMS, and surveillance to monitor the effects of an approved product, or the FDA may place conditions on an approval that
could restrict the distribution or use of the product. In addition, quality-control, drug manufacture, packaging and labeling procedures must continue to conform to
cGMPs after approval. Drug manufacturers and certain of their subcontractors are required to register their establishments with the FDA and certain state agencies.
Registration with the FDA subjects entities to periodic unannounced inspections by the FDA, during which the agency inspects manufacturing facilities to assess
compliance with cGMPs. Accordingly, manufacturers must continue to expend time, money and effort in the areas of production and quality-control to maintain
compliance with cGMPs. Regulatory authorities may withdraw product approvals or request product recalls if a company fails to comply with regulatory standards,
if it encounters problems following initial marketing, or if previously unrecognized problems are subsequently discovered.
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Pediatric Information
Under the Pediatric Research Equity Act, NDAs or supplements to NDAs must contain data to assess the safety and effectiveness of the drug for the
claimed indications in all relevant pediatric subpopulations and to support dosing and administration for each pediatric subpopulation for which the drug is safe and
effective. The FDA may grant full or partial waivers, or deferrals, for submission of data.
The Best Pharmaceuticals for Children Act (“ BPCA ”) provides NDA holders a six-month extension of any exclusivity, patent or non-patent, for a drug if
certain conditions are met. Conditions for exclusivity include the FDA’s determination that information relating to the use of a new drug in the pediatric population
may produce health benefits in that population, the FDA making a written request for pediatric studies and the applicant agreeing to perform, and reporting on, the
requested studies within the statutory timeframe. Applications under the BPCA are treated as priority applications, with all of the benefits that designation confers.
The Orphan Drug Act of 1983
The Orphan Drug Act of 1983 was designed to provide financial incentives for, and to reduce the costs associated with, developing drugs for rare diseases
and disorders. A “rare disease or disorder” is defined by the Orphan Drug Act of 1983 as affecting fewer than 200,000 Americans at the time of designation or one
for which “there is no reasonable expectation that the cost of developing and making available in the United States…will be recovered from sales in the United
States.” A sponsor must request that the FDA designate a drug currently under development for a “rare disease or condition” as an orphan drug, and if the FDA
agrees that the drug and indication meet the criteria set forth in the Orphan Drug Act of 1983, certain financial and marketing incentives become available. As
mentioned previously, we have received Orphan Drug designations for GBM and metastatic brain cancer.
Disclosure of Clinical Trial Information
Sponsors of clinical trials of FDA-regulated products, including drugs, are required to register and disclose certain clinical trial information. Information
related to the product, patient population, phase of investigation, study sites and investigators and other aspects of the clinical trial is then made public as part of the
registration. Sponsors are also obligated to discuss the results of their clinical trials after completion. Disclosure of the results of these trials can be delayed until the
new product or new indication being studied has been approved. Competitors may use this publicly-available information to gain knowledge regarding the progress
of development programs.
Regulation Outside of the United States
In addition to regulations in the United States, we will be subject to regulations of other countries governing any clinical trials and commercial sales and
distribution of our product candidates. Whether or not we obtain FDA approval for a product, we must obtain approval by the comparable regulatory authorities of
countries outside of the United States before we can commence clinical trials in such countries and approval of the regulators of such countries or economic areas,
such as the European Union, before we may market products in those countries or areas. Certain countries outside of the United States have a process similar to the
FDA’s that requires the submission of a clinical trial application (“ CTA ”) much like the IND prior to the commencement of human clinical trials. In the European
Union, for example, a CTA must be submitted to each country’s national health authority and an independent ethics committee, much like the FDA and IRB,
respectively. Once the CTA is approved in accordance with a country’s requirements, clinical trial development may proceed. The approval process and
requirements governing the conduct of clinical trials, product licensing, pricing and reimbursement vary greatly from place to place, and the time may be longer or
shorter than that required for FDA approval.
Under European Union regulatory systems, a company may submit marketing authorization applications either under a centralized or decentralized
procedure. The centralized procedure, which is compulsory for medicines produced by biotechnology or those medicines intended to treat AIDS, cancer,
neurodegenerative disorders or diabetes and is optional for those medicines which are highly innovative, provides for the grant of a single marketing authorization
that is valid for all European Union member states. The decentralized procedure provides for mutual recognition of national approval decisions. Under this
procedure, the holder of a national marketing authorization may submit an application to the remaining member states. Within ninety (90) days of receiving the
applications and assessments report, each member state must decide whether to recognize approval. If a member state does not recognize the marketing
authorization, the disputed points are eventually referred to the European Commission, whose decision is binding on all member states.
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Anti-Kickback and False Claims Laws
In addition to FDA restrictions on marketing of pharmaceutical products, several other types of state and federal laws have been applied to restrict certain
marketing practices in the pharmaceutical industry. These laws include, among others, anti-kickback statutes, false claims statutes and other statutes pertaining to
healthcare fraud and abuse. The federal healthcare program anti-kickback statute prohibits, among other things, knowingly and willfully offering, paying, soliciting
or receiving remuneration to induce, or in return for, purchasing, leasing, ordering or arranging for the purchase, lease or order of any healthcare item or service
reimbursable under Medicare, Medicaid or other federally financed healthcare programs. The Patient Protection and Affordable Care Act, as amended by the
Health Care and Education Affordability Reconciliation Act of 2010, collectively referred to as the Affordable Care Act amended the intent element of the federal
anti-kickback statute so that a person or entity no longer needs to have actual knowledge of the statute or specific intent to violate it. This statute has been
interpreted to apply to arrangements between pharmaceutical manufacturers on the one hand and prescribers, purchasers and formulary managers on the other.
Although there are a number of statutory exceptions and regulatory safe harbors protecting certain common activities from prosecution or other regulatory
sanctions, the exceptions and safe harbors are drawn narrowly, and practices that involve remuneration intended to induce prescribing, purchases or
recommendations may be subject to scrutiny if they do not qualify for an exception or safe harbor.
Federal false claims laws prohibit any person or entity from, among other things, knowingly presenting, or causing to be presented, a false claim for
payment to the federal government, or knowingly making, or causing to be made, a false statement to have a false claim paid. This includes claims made to
programs where the federal government reimburses, such as Medicaid, as well as programs where the federal government is a direct purchaser, such as when it
purchases off the Federal Supply Schedule. Pharmaceutical and other healthcare companies have been prosecuted under these laws for, among other things,
allegedly inflating drug prices they report to pricing services, which in turn were used by the government to set Medicare and Medicaid reimbursement rates, and
for allegedly providing free product to customers with the expectation that the customers would bill federal programs for the product. In addition, certain marketing
practices, including off-label promotion, may also violate federal false claims laws. Additionally, Affordable Care Act amended the federal healthcare program
anti-kickback statute such that a violation of that statute can serve as a basis for liability under certain federal false claims laws.
The majority of states also have statutes or regulations similar to the federal anti-kickback law and false claims laws, which apply to items and services
reimbursed under Medicaid and other state programs, or, in several states, apply regardless of the payor.
Other federal statutes pertaining to healthcare fraud and abuse include the civil monetary penalties statute, which prohibits, among other things, the offer
or payment of remuneration to a Medicaid or Medicare beneficiary that the offerer or payor knows or should know is likely to influence the beneficiary to order or
receive a reimbursable item or service from a particular supplier, and the healthcare fraud and false statements statutes, which prohibit, among other things,
knowingly and willfully executing or attempting to execute a scheme to defraud any healthcare benefit program or obtain by means of false or fraudulent pretenses,
representations, or promises any money or property owned by or under the control of any healthcare benefit program in connection with the delivery of or payment
for healthcare benefits, items, or services.
Violations of these federal healthcare fraud and abuse laws are punishable by imprisonment, criminal fines, civil monetary penalties and exclusion from
participation in federal healthcare programs.
It is uncertain whether there will be any legislation that will replace or amend the Affordable Care Act . In addition, the Trump Administration has and
will appoint many new secretaries, directors and the like into positions of authority in the U.S. Federal government dealing with the pharmaceutical and healthcare
industries that may potentially have a negative impact on the prices and regulatory pathways for certain pharmaceuticals and healthcare products developed by the
Company to market and sell its products in the U.S.
Other Federal and State Regulatory Requirements
The Centers for Medicare & Medicaid Services (“ CMS ”) has issued a final rule pursuant to Affordable Care Act that requires certain manufacturers of
prescription drugs to annually collect and report information on payments or transfers of value to physicians and teaching hospitals, as well as ownership and
investment interests held by physicians and their immediate family members. Manufacturers were required to begin collecting information on August 1, 2013, with
the first reports due March 31, 2014. The reported data is posted in searchable form on a public website. Failure to submit required information may result in civil
monetary penalties.
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In addition, several states now require prescription drug companies to report expenses relating to the marketing and promotion of drug products and to
report gifts and payments to individual healthcare practitioners and entities in these states. Other states prohibit various other marketing-related activities. Still other
states require the posting of information relating to clinical studies and their outcomes. In addition, California, Connecticut, Nevada and Massachusetts require
pharmaceutical companies to implement compliance programs and marketing codes. Several additional states are considering similar proposals. Some of the state
laws are broader in scope than federal laws. Compliance with these laws is difficult and time consuming, and companies that do not comply with these state laws
face civil penalties.
Reimbursement
Sales of any of our product candidates that are approved will depend, in part, on the extent to which the costs of our approved products will be covered by
third-party payors, such as government health programs, commercial insurance and managed healthcare organizations. These third-party payors are increasingly
challenging the prices charged for medical products and services. Additionally, the containment of healthcare costs has become a priority of federal and state
governments and the prices of drugs have been a focus in this effort. The U.S. government, state legislatures and foreign governments have shown significant
interest in implementing cost-containment programs, including price controls, restrictions on reimbursement and requirements for substitution of generic products.
Adoption of price controls and cost-containment measures, and adoption of more restrictive policies in jurisdictions with existing controls and measures, could
further limit our expected net revenue and results. If any of our products are approved and these third-party payors do not consider our approved products to be
cost-effective compared to other therapies, they may not cover our approved products as a benefit under their plans or, if they do, the level of payment may not be
sufficient to allow us to sell our approved products on a profitable basis.
The Medicare Prescription Drug, Improvement, and Modernization Act of 2003 (“ MMA ”), imposed new requirements for the distribution and pricing of
prescription drugs for Medicare beneficiaries. Under Part D, Medicare beneficiaries may enroll in prescription drug plans offered by private entities which will
provide coverage of outpatient prescription drugs. Part D plans include both stand-alone prescription drug benefit plans and prescription drug coverage as a
supplement to Medicare Advantage plans. Unlike Medicare Part A and B, Part D coverage is not standardized. Part D prescription drug plan sponsors are not
required to pay for all covered Part D drugs, and each drug plan can develop its own drug formulary that identifies which drugs it will cover and at what tier or
level. However, Part D prescription drug formularies must include drugs within each therapeutic category and class of covered Part D drugs, though not necessarily
all the drugs in each category or class. Any formulary used by a Part D prescription drug plan must be developed and reviewed by a pharmacy and therapeutic
committee. Government payment for some of the costs of prescription drugs may increase demand for our products for which we receive marketing approval.
However, any negotiated prices for our approved products covered by a Part D prescription drug plan will likely be lower than the prices we might otherwise
obtain. Moreover, while the MMA applies only to drug benefits for Medicare beneficiaries, private payors often follow Medicare coverage policy and payment
limitations in setting their own payment rates. Any reduction in payment that results from the MMA may result in a similar reduction in payments from nongovernmental payors.
The American Recovery and Reinvestment Act of 2009 provides funding for the federal government to compare the effectiveness of different treatments
for the same illness. A plan for the research will be developed by the Department of Health and Human Services, the Agency for Healthcare Research and Quality
and the National Institutes for Health, and periodic reports on the status of the research and related expenditures will be made to the U.S. Congress. Although the
results of the comparative effectiveness studies are not intended to mandate coverage policies for public or private payors, it is not clear what effect, if any, the
research will have on the sales of any approved product, if any such product or the condition that it is intended to treat is the subject of a study. It is also possible
that comparative effectiveness research demonstrating benefits in a competitor’s product could adversely affect the sales of our product candidates. If third-party
payors do not consider our approved products to be cost-effective compared to other available therapies, they may not cover our approved products as a benefit
under their plans or, if they do, the level of payment may not be sufficient to allow us to sell our approved products on a profitable basis.
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The Affordable Care Act was enacted in March 2010, which includes measures to significantly change the way healthcare is financed by both
governmental and private insurers. Among the provisions of the Affordable Care Act of importance to the pharmaceutical and biotechnology industry are the
following:
●

an annual, nondeductible fee on any entity that manufactures or imports certain branded prescription drugs and biologic agents, apportioned among
these entities according to their market share in certain government healthcare programs, that began in 2011;

●

an increase in the rebates a manufacturer must pay under the Medicaid Drug Rebate Program to 23.1% and 13% of the average manufacturer price
for branded and generic drugs, respectively;

●

a new Medicare Part D coverage gap discount program, in which manufacturers must agree to offer 50% point-of-sale discounts to negotiated prices
of applicable brand drugs to eligible beneficiaries during their coverage gap period, as a condition for the manufacturer’s outpatient drugs to be
covered under Medicare Part D;

●

extension of manufacturers’ Medicaid rebate liability to covered drugs dispensed to individuals who are enrolled in Medicaid managed care
organizations;

●

expansion of eligibility criteria for Medicaid programs by, among other things, allowing states to offer Medicaid coverage to additional individuals
and by adding new mandatory eligibility categories for certain individuals with income at or below 133% of the Federal Poverty Level, thereby
potentially increasing manufacturers’ Medicaid rebate liability;

●

expansion of the entities eligible for discounts under the Public Health Service pharmaceutical pricing program;

●

expansion of healthcare fraud and abuse laws, including the False Claims Act and the Anti-Kickback Statute, new government investigative powers,
and enhanced penalties for noncompliance;

●

a licensure framework for follow-on biologic products;

●

a new Patient-Centered Outcomes Research Institute to oversee, identify priorities in, and conduct comparative clinical effectiveness research, along
with funding for such research;

●

new requirements under the federal Open Payments program for drug manufacturers to report information related to payments and other transfers of
value made to physicians and other healthcare providers as well as ownership or investment interests held by physicians and their immediate family
members;

●

a new requirement to annually report drug samples that manufacturers and distributors provide to physicians, effective April 1, 2012;

●

creation of the Independent Payment Advisory Board which, beginning in 2014, will have authority to recommend certain changes to the Medicare
program that could result in reduced payments for prescription drugs and those recommendations could have the effect of law even if Congress does
not act on the recommendations; and

●

establishment of a Center for Medicare Innovation at CMS to test innovative payment and service delivery models to lower Medicare and Medicaid
spending, potentially including prescription drug spending that began on January 1, 2011.

In addition, in some non-U.S. jurisdictions, the proposed pricing for a product candidate must be approved before it may be lawfully marketed. The
requirements governing drug pricing vary widely from country to country. For example, the European Union provides options for its member states to restrict the
range of medicinal products for which their national health insurance systems provide reimbursement and to control the prices of medicinal products for human
use. A member state may approve a specific price for the medicinal product or it may instead adopt a system of direct or indirect controls on the profitability of the
company placing the medicinal product on the market. There can be no assurance that any country that has price controls or reimbursement limitations for
pharmaceutical products will allow favorable reimbursement and pricing arrangements for any of our product candidates. Historically, product candidates launched
in the European Union do not follow price structures of the United States and generally tend to be significantly lower.
It is uncertain whether there will be any legislation that will replace or amend the Affordable Care Act .
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21 st Century Cures Act
The 21st Century Cures Act, which the U.S. House of Representatives passed in July 2015 and President Obama signed into law in December 2016,
provides for a wide range of reforms, such as broadening the types of data required to support drug approval, extending protections from genetic competition,
accelerating approval of breakthrough therapies, expanding the orphan drug product program, and clarifying how manufacturers communicate about their products.
Manufacturing and Supply
We do not have any facilities suitable for manufacturing on a commercial scale any of our product candidates nor do we have any experience in volume
manufacturing. We currently use third-party cGMP contract manufacturing organizations (“ CMOs ”) to manufacture our product candidates for our preclinical
studies and clinical trials and intend to continue doing so in the future in accordance with FDA and other appropriate regulations. We anticipate that these CMOs
will have capacity to support commercial scale, but we do not have any formal agreements at this time with any of these CMOs to cover commercial production.
We also may elect to pursue other CMOs for manufacturing supplies for later-stage trials and for commercialization. We currently have no plans to establish a
manufacturing capability, but rather plan to continue to rely on third-party cGMP manufacturers for any future trials and commercialization of our product
candidates for which we retain manufacturing responsibility.
Sales and Marketing
We currently have no sales and marketing personnel to sell any of our product candidates on a commercial basis if and when our product candidates
received required regulatory approvals. If and when we are ready to commercially launch a product, we will either contract with or hire qualified sales and
marketing personnel or seek a joint marketing partner or licensee to assist us with this function.
Employees
As of December 31, 2016, we had 10 employees, including 4 in product development and 6 in management or administrative positions. We also have
engaged several independent consultants to support our organization.
Directors and Executive Officers
The table below sets forth, as of March 15, 2017, certain information concerning our current directors and executive officers. No family relationships exist
among any of our directors or executive officers.
Name
David G. Kalergis
John L. Gainer, Ph.D.
David R. Jones, M.D.
Ben L. Shealy
Thomas Byrne
Isaac Blech
Robert Adams
Mark T. Giles
Alan Levin

Age
68
78
53
58
59
67
66
62
54

Position with Diffusion
Chairman and Chief Executive Officer
Director and Chief Scientific Officer
Chief Medical Officer
Senior Vice President – Finance, Treasurer and Secretary
General Counsel
Vice Chairman
Director
Director
Director

The following is a biographical summary of the experience of our directors and executive officers:
David G. Kalergis – Mr. Kalergis has served as our Chairman of the Board and Chief Executive Officer since the completion of the Merger in January
2016. Mr. Kalergis, along with Dr. Gainer is the Company’s co-founder and has served as a director of Diffusion LLC since its inception in 2001 and as its Chief
Executive Officer since 2004. Prior to joining the Company, Mr. Kalergis held positions with the University of Virginia; as the general counsel and director of
business development for Pharmaceutical Research Associates, Inc., a pharmaceutical contract research organization; as an intelligence analyst for the U.S.
Government; and with the law firm Dewey, Ballantine, Bushby, Palmer & Wood, practicing in the areas of corporate finance, public offerings and mergers and
acquisitions. In addition, from July 1998 until May 2012, Mr. Kalergis served on the board of directors and audit committee of Virginia National Bank. Mr.
Kalergis received a B.A. in psychology, as well as an M.B.A. and J.D., from the University of Virginia, and is a graduate of the Harvard Business School’s
Leadership and Strategy in the Pharmaceutical and Biotechnology Industry program.
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John L. Gainer, Ph.D. – Dr. Gainer has served as a director and as our Chief Scientific Officer since the completion of the Merger in January 2016. Dr.
Gainer, along with Mr. Kalergis, is the Company’s co-founder and has served as one of Diffusions LLC’s directors and as its Chief Scientific Officer since its
inception in 2001. From 1966 until his retirement in 2005, Dr. Gainer was a professor of chemical engineering at the University of Virginia. During his career, Dr.
Gainer authored more than 100 scientific journal articles, including more than 30 published in medical journals, and spent two sabbaticals investigating drug
actions and related research at Karolinska Institute in Stockholm and the laboratory of a major pharmaceutical company. He has been a member of the International
Society for Oxygen Transport in Tissues since its inception in 1973. Dr. Gainer received a BSChE from West Virginia University, a MS in chemical engineering
from the Massachusetts Institute of Technology, and a Ph.D. in chemical engineering from the University of Delaware.
David R. Jones, M.D. – Dr. Jones serves as our Chief Medical Officer. Dr. Jones was appointed Chief Medical Officer in connection with the completion
of the Merger, and has served as Diffusion LLC’s Chief Medical Officer since September 2012. In addition to serving as the Company’s Chief Medical Officer, Dr.
Jones is also the Fiona and Stanley Druckenmiller Endowed Professor for Lung Cancer Research and Chief of Thoracic Surgery at Memorial Sloan-Kettering
Cancer Center in New York, NY, a position he has held since 2013. From 2007 to 2013, Dr. Jones was Professor of Surgery and Division Chief of Thoracic &
Cardiovascular Surgery at the University of Virginia. In addition to his clinical practice, Dr. Jones has published more than 220 scientific articles, authored or coauthored over 35 book chapters, and served as Principal Investigator or Co-Investigator of over 30 clinical trials. Dr. Jones received an undergraduate degree in
chemistry and an M.D. from West Virginia University, and completed his thoracic surgery residency and postdoctoral research fellowship in molecular oncology at
the University of North Carolina - Chapel Hill.
Ben L. Shealy – Mr. Shealy serves as our Senior Vice President – Finance and Treasurer. Mr. Shealy was appointed Senior Vice President – Finance and
Treasurer in connection with the completion of the Merger. Mr. Shealy has served as Diffusion LLC’s Senior Vice President – Finance and Treasurer, since
December 2015, and prior to that had served as Diffusion LLC’s Chief Financial Officer since 2004. Prior to joining the Company, Mr. Shealy spent more than 20
years in the financial management industry focusing on private and public corporate financings, including serving as the Vice President of REBAR Inc. and
positions with Donaldson, Lufkin & Jenrette, Prudential-Bache Capital Funding and the John Hancock Derivatives Group. Mr. Shealy received a B.S. in accounting
from San Jose State University, an M.B.A. in finance from Columbia University and is a CFA Charter holder.
Thomas Byrne – Mr. Byrne was appointed as our General Counsel in connection with the completion of the Merger. Mr. Byrne served as a director of
Diffusion LLC from 2001 to January 2016, as a director of the Company from January 2016 until April 2016 and has served as Diffusion LLC’s Secretary and
Director of Patent Strategy since 2007. Prior to joining Diffusion LLC, Mr. Byrne served in in-house counsel positions at both Genentech Inc. and Amgen Inc.,
where he co-invented the erythropoiesis stimulating agent darbepoietin alpha (Aranesp®). From 1992 to 2000, he was a partner in the intellectual property law firm
of Nixon and Vanderhye P.C. Mr. Byrne also currently acts as a consultant for start-up biotechnology companies on intellectual property, contract and business
issues. He received a B.S. in chemical engineering and nuclear engineering, as well as a J.D., from the University of Virginia, and an M.S. in biochemical
engineering from Yale University.
Isaac Blech – Mr. Blech has served as a director since August 2016. Mr. Blech’s current roles include serving as vice chairman of the board of directors
of Edge Therapeutics, Inc., a clinical-stage biotechnology company, founder and director of Cerecor, Inc., a CNS company, director of ContraFect Corporation, an
infectious disease company, director of Medgenics, Inc., a biotechnology company, and vice chairman of InspireMD, a stent company. He is vice chairman of the
boards of directors of Centrexion Corporation, a private company which is developing new modalities of pain control, Regenovation, Inc., a private company
developing new ways to regenerate human tissue, X4 Pharmaceuticals, a private cancer immunology company, Sapience Therapeutics, a private oncology
company, Aridis Pharmaceuticals, a private company with a product to treat pneumonia, WaveGuide Corporation, a private company developing the world’s
smallest NMR machine, SpendSmart Networks, Inc., a private electronic rewards company, and root9B Technologies, a private cyber security company. Over the
past 35 years, Mr. Blech has founded and served on the boards of directors of companies which have produced major advances in a broad array of diseases,
including the diagnosis of chlamydia, herpes, syphilis and HIV and the treatment of cystic fibrosis, sexual dysfunction, multiple myeloma and brain cancer. Mr.
Blech was previously a member of the board of directors of the Company prior to the Merger.
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Robert Adams – Mr. Adams has served as a director since the completion of the Merger in January 2016 and as a director of Diffusion LLC since 2002.
Prior to his retirement in 2015, Mr. Adams was a partner in the intellectual property law firm of Nixon & Vanderhye P.C, where he had practiced for over 25 years,
focusing on patent litigation and international patent licensing and negotiations. During that time period, Mr. Adams was lead litigation counsel in more than 50
major intellectual property lawsuits, where he directly handled, for example, all intellectual property valuations and settlements on behalf of his U.S. and foreign
clients. Moreover, Mr. Adams served as the head negotiator for a well-known Japanese consumer products company for 15 years in various complicated licensing
situations. Those negotiations typically involved the cross-licensing of up to hundreds of U.S. and foreign patent rights. His lead licensing activities on behalf of
that client included, among other things, multi-year negotiations with Texas Instruments, Advanced Micro Devices and Freescale. Mr. Adams received a B.A. from
the University of Maryland and a J.D. from George Washington University (with honors), and is a member of the Virginia State Bar.
Mark T. Giles – Mr. Giles has served as a director since the completion of the Merger in January 2016 and as a director of Diffusion LLC since 2008.
Since July 2007, Mr. Giles has been the sole managing member of Panda Holdings, LLC, which engages in the investment and management of private capital. Prior
to joining Panda Holdings, Mr. Giles served as the Chief Executive Officer of Virginia National Bank from July 1998 until June 2007 and thereafter continued to
serve as the non-executive Chairman until December 2011. Prior to joining Virginia National Bank, Mr. Giles also served as the president of two publicly traded
bank holding companies and subsidiary banks in Texas and practiced law with the banking group of a Houston law firm. He chairs the boards of Relay Foods, Inc.
and Expedition Trust Company. He also serves on the boards of The Paramount Theater Foundation, The Paramount Theater Operating Company and the
Computers4Kids Program. Mr. Giles received a B.S. from the McIntire School of Commerce at the University of Virginia and a J.D. from the University of
Virginia School of Law.
Alan Levin – Mr. Levin has served as a director since the completion of the Merger in January 2016 and as a director of Diffusion LLC since June 2015.
He previously served as Executive Vice President and Chief Financial Officer of Endo Health Solutions Inc. (“ Endo ”), a global specialty healthcare company,
from June 2009 until his retirement in September 2013. Prior to joining Endo, Mr. Levin worked with Texas Pacific Group, a leading private equity firm, and one
of their start-up investments. Before that, he was Senior Vice President & Chief Financial Officer of Pfizer, Inc. where he worked for 20 years in a variety of
executive positions of increasing responsibility, including Treasurer and Senior Vice President of Finance & Strategic Management for the company’s research and
development organization. Mr. Levin received a bachelor’s degree from Princeton University and a master’s degree from New York University’s Stern School of
Business. Mr. Levin is a certified public accountant. He is a member of the board of directors of Aceto Corp, a NASDAQ-traded company specialized in generics
and pharmaceutical intermediate products. He is also a member of the Advisory Board of Auven Therapeutics, a private equity fund; and the Critical Path Institute,
a nonprofit collaboration between the Food and Drug Administration and pharmaceutical industry participants focused on streamlining and accelerating the
development and regulatory pathways for innovative medicines.
Corporate Information and History
Our corporate headquarters are located at 2020 Avon Court, #4, Charlottesville, Virginia 22902, our telephone number is (434) 220-0718, and our Internet
web site address is www.diffusionpharma.com. The information contained on our web site or connected to our web site is not incorporated by reference into and
should not be considered part of this annual report on Form 10-K.
Merger with RestorGenex
On January 8, 2016, we completed the Merger with Diffusion LLC in accordance with the terms of the Merger Agreement. As a result of the Merger,
Diffusion LLC, the surviving company in the Merger, became a wholly owned subsidiary of the Company .
At the effective time of the Merger (the “ Effective Time ”), each outstanding unit of membership interest of Diffusion LLC (the “ Diffusion Units ”) was
converted into the right to receive 0.3652658 shares of our common stock, as determined pursuant to the Merger Agreement (the “ Exchange Ratio ”). Also at the
Effective Time, the rights of the holders of each outstanding convertible promissory note convertible into Diffusion Units (the “ Diffusion Convertible Notes ”) to
convert such Diffusion Convertible Notes into Diffusion Units was converted into the right to convert such securities into a number of shares of common stock
equal to the number of Diffusion Units such Diffusion Convertible Note would be convertible into pursuant to its terms multiplied by the Exchange Ratio. In
addition, at the Effective Time and as a result of the Merger, all outstanding options to purchase Diffusion Units were converted into and became options to
purchase common stock on terms substantially identical to those in effect prior to the Effective Time, except for adjustments to the underlying number of shares
and the exercise price based on the Exchange Ratio.
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Immediately following the Merger, the former equity holders of Diffusion LLC owned approximately 84.1% of the Company’s common stock, and the
stockholders of RestorGenex immediately prior to the Merger owned approximately 15.9% of the Company’s common stock, in each case, on a fully-diluted basis
(subject to certain exceptions and adjustments) and calculated in accordance with the terms of the Merger Agreement. Also in connection with the Merger, the preMerger directors and officers of the Company tendered their resignations and the pre-Merger directors and officers of Diffusion LLC were appointed as the new
directors and officers of the Company. Following the completion of the Merger, the Company changed its corporate name from “RestorGenex Corporation” to
“Diffusion Pharmaceuticals Inc.” and changed the trading symbol of the Company’s common stock from “RESX” to “DFFN.” In November 2016, our common
stock was approved for listing on the NASDAQ Capital Market and will continue to trade under the ticker symbol “DFFN.”
For accounting purposes, the Merger is treated as a “reverse acquisition” under generally acceptable accounting principles in the United States (“ U.S.
GAAP ”) and Diffusion LLC is considered the accounting acquirer. Accordingly, Diffusion LLC’s historical results of operations have replaced the Company’s
historical results of operations for all periods prior to the Merger.
Reverse Stock Split
On August 17, 2016, the Company filed a Certificate of Amendment to its Certificate of Incorporation with the Secretary of State of the State of Delaware
to effect a 1-to-10 reverse stock split (the “ Reverse Stock Split ”) of the common stock. No fractional shares were issued in connection with the Reverse Stock
Split. Stockholders who otherwise would have been entitled to receive fractional shares of common stock had their holdings rounded up to the next whole share.
Proportional adjustments were made to the Company’s outstanding warrants, stock options and other equity securities and to the Company’s 2015 Equity Incentive
Plan, as amended, to reflect the Reverse Stock Split, in each case, in accordance with the terms thereof. Unless the context otherwise requires, all share and per
share amounts in this annual report on Form 10-K have been adjusted to reflect the Reverse Stock Split.
Private Placement
We are conducting a private placement (the “ Private Placement ”) of (i) shares of our Series A convertible preferred stock, $0.001 par value per share (the
“ Series A Convertible Preferred Stock ”), each share of Series A Convertible Preferred Stock being convertible into one share of our common stock, subject to
adjustment, and (ii) for each share of Series A Convertible Preferred Stock purchased in the Private Placement, a 5-year warrant to purchase one share of common
stock (the “ Warrant ” and collectively with the Series A Convertible Preferred Stock, the “ Securities ”).
On March 14, 2017, we entered into Subscription Agreements with certain accredited investors and conducted an initial closing of the Private Placement
pursuant to which we sold 7,837,023 shares of the Series A Convertible Preferred Stock at a purchase price of $2.02 per share (the “ Initial Closing ”). In addition,
each investor received a Warrant to purchase one share of common stock for each share of Series A Convertible Preferred Stock purchased by such investor in the
Private Placement at an exercise price equal to $2.22, subject to adjustment thereunder.
We received total net proceeds of approximately $14.1 million from the Initial Closing, after deducting $1.7 million in placement agent fees and expenses
associated with the Initial Closing. We currently intend to use the anticipated proceeds of the Private Placement to fund research and development of TSC,
including clinical trial activities, and for general corporate purposes. Pursuant to the Purchase Agreements, we may conduct one or more additional closings until
we have sold up to an aggregate of $25.0 million of Securities.
The Securities are being offered and sold in a private placement only to accredited investors pursuant to exemptions from the registration requirements of
the Securities Act of 1933, as amended (the “ Securities Act ”), afforded by Section 4(a)(2) and Rule 506 of Regulation D promulgated thereunder. To the extent
that any shares of common stock are issued in connection with the conversion of the Series A Convertible Preferred Stock or the exercise of the Warrants, the
common stock may not be offered, transferred or sold in the United States absent registration or the availability of an applicable exemption from the registration
requirements of the Securities Act. The foregoing description of the Private Placement is neither an offer to sell, nor a solicitation of an offer to buy, any of the
Securities and shall not constitute an offer, solicitation or sale in any state or jurisdiction in which such offer, solicitation or sale is unlawful. The Securities
offered in the Private Placement have not been registered under the Securities Act or the securities laws of any state, and may not be offered or sold in the United
States unless the Securities are registered under the Securities Act and all applicable state securities laws, or an exemption from such registration requirements is
available. The Securities are being offered and sold in reliance on exemptions from the registration requirements of the Securities Act and applicable state securities
laws.
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For a more information on the Initial Closing and a description of the Securities please see our Current Report on Form 8-K filed with the Securities and
Exchange Commission on March 15, 2017.
Available Information
We make available, free of charge and through our Internet web site, our annual reports on Form 10-K, quarterly reports on Form 10-Q, current reports on
Form 8-K and any amendments to any such reports filed or furnished pursuant to Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, as
soon as reasonably practicable after we electronically file such material with, or furnish it to, the SEC. We also make available, free of charge and through our
Internet web site, to any shareholder who requests, the charters of our board committees, our Corporate Governance Guidelines and our Code of Business Conduct
and Ethics. Requests for copies can be directed to Investor Relations at (434) 220-0718.
Cautionary Note Regarding Forward-Looking Statements
This Annual Report on Form 10-K (this “ Annual Report ”) includes forward-looking statements. We may, in some cases, use terms such as “believes,”
“estimates,” “anticipates,” “expects,” “plans,” “intends,” “may,” “could,” “might,” “will,” “should,” “approximately” or other words that convey uncertainty of
future events or outcomes to identify these forward-looking statements. Forward-looking statements appear in a number of places throughout this Annual Report
and include statements regarding our intentions, beliefs, projections, outlook, analyses or current expectations concerning, among other things, our ongoing and
planned preclinical development and clinical trials, the timing of and our ability to make regulatory filings and obtain and maintain regulatory approvals for our
product candidates, our intellectual property position, the degree of clinical utility of our products, particularly in specific patient populations, our ability to develop
commercial functions, expectations regarding clinical trial data, our results of operations, cash needs, financial condition, liquidity, prospects, growth and
strategies, the industry in which we operate and the trends that may affect the industry or us.
By their nature, forward-looking statements involve risks and uncertainties because they relate to events, competitive dynamics and industry change, and
depend on the economic circumstances that may or may not occur in the future or may occur on longer or shorter timelines than anticipated. Although we believe
that we have a reasonable basis for each forward-looking statement contained or incorporated by reference in this Annual Report, we caution you that forwardlooking statements are not guarantees of future performance and that our actual results of operations, financial condition and liquidity, and the development of the
industry in which we operate may differ materially from the forward-looking statements contained or incorporated by reference in this Annual Report. In addition,
even if our results of operations, financial condition and liquidity, and the development of the industry in which we operate are consistent with the forward-looking
statements contained or incorporated by reference in this Annual Report, they may not be predictive of results or developments in future periods.
Actual results could differ materially from our forward-looking statements due to a number of factors, including risks related to:
●

our estimates regarding expenses, capital requirements and needs for additional financing;

●

the success and timing of our preclinical studies and clinical trials;

●

our ability to obtain additional financing;

●

the difficulties in obtaining and maintaining regulatory approval of our products and product candidates, and the labeling under any approval we may
obtain;

●

our plans and ability to develop and commercialize our product candidates;

●

our failure to recruit or retain key scientific or management personnel or to retain our executive officers;

●

the accuracy of our estimates of the size and characteristics of the potential markets for our product candidates and our ability to serve those markets;
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●

regulatory developments in the United States and foreign countries;

●

the rate and degree of market acceptance of any of our product candidates;

●

obtaining and maintaining intellectual property protection for our product candidates and our proprietary technology;

●

our ability to operate our business without infringing the intellectual property rights of others;

●

recently enacted and future legislation regarding the healthcare system;

●

the success of competing products that are or become available; and

●

the performance of third parties, including contract research organizations and manufacturers.

You should also read carefully the factors described in the “Risk Factors” section of this Annual Report and elsewhere to better understand the risks and
uncertainties inherent in our business and underlying any forward-looking statements. As a result of these factors, we cannot assure you that the forward- looking
statements contained or incorporated by reference in this Annual Report will prove to be accurate. Furthermore, if our forward-looking statements prove to be
inaccurate, the inaccuracy may be material. In light of the significant uncertainties in these forward-looking statements, you should not regard these statements as a
representation or warranty by us or any other person that we will achieve our objectives and plans in any specified timeframe, or at all.
Any forward-looking statements that we make contained or incorporated by reference in this Annual Report speak only as of the date of such statement,
and, except as required by applicable law, we undertake no obligation to update such statements to reflect events or circumstances after the date of this Annual
Report or to reflect the occurrence of unanticipated events. Comparisons of results for current and any prior periods are not intended to express any future trends or
indications of future performance, unless expressed as such, and should only be viewed as historical data.
ITEM 1A.

RISK FACTORS

The following are significant factors known to us that could materially harm our business, operating results or financial condition or could cause our
actual results to differ materially from our anticipated results or other expectations, including those expressed in any forward-looking statement made in this report:
Risks Related to Our Financial Needs
We have limited cash resources, have incurred significant losses since our inception and have a history of net losses and negative cash flow from
operations.
We are a clinical-stage biotechnology company and, as a result, we have a limited operating history and there is little historical basis upon which to assess
how we will respond to competitive or economic challenges or other challenges to our business. Our business and prospects must be considered in light of the risks
and uncertainties frequently encountered by similarly situated companies.
We have limited cash resources, have generated substantial net losses and negative cash flow from operations since our inception, and we continue to
incur significant research, development and other expenses related to our ongoing operations for other product candidates. We expect to incur losses and negative
cash flow for the foreseeable future. Our ability to generate sufficient revenues from our other product candidates, if approved, will depend on numerous factors
described in the following risk factors. Even if we achieve profitability in the future, we may not be able to sustain profitability in subsequent periods. Our prior
losses and expected future losses have had and will continue to have an adverse effect on our stockholders’ equity.
We currently generate no revenue from the sale of products and may never become profitable.
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To date, we have not generated any revenues from our product candidates. Even if we are able to successfully achieve regulatory approval for our product
candidates, we do not know when any of these products will generate revenue for us, if at all. Our ability to generate revenue from our current products or future
product candidates also depends on a number of additional factors, including our ability to:
●

successfully complete development activities, including the necessary clinical trials;

●

complete and submit NDAs to the FDA and obtain regulatory approval for indications for which there is a commercial market;

●

complete and submit applications to, and obtain regulatory approval from, foreign regulatory authorities;

●

develop a commercial organization capable of sales, marketing and distribution for the products we intend to sell ourselves in the markets in which
we have retained commercialization rights; and

●

find suitable distribution partners to help us market, sell and distribute our approved products in other markets.

In addition, because of the numerous risks and uncertainties associated with product development, including that our product candidates may not advance
through development or achieve the endpoints of applicable clinical trials, we are unable to predict the timing or amount of increased expenses, or when or if we
will be able to achieve or maintain profitability. Even if we are able to complete the process described above, we anticipate incurring significant costs associated
with commercializing these products.
We will require additional capital to fund our operations and if we fail to obtain necessary financing, we may be unable to complete the development and
commercialization of our product candidates.
Our operations have consumed substantial amounts of cash since inception. We expect to continue to spend substantial amounts to advance the clinical
development of our product candidates and to commercialize any product candidates for which we receive regulatory approval. We expect our existing cash as of
December 31, 2016, together with the proceeds from the Initial Closing of the Private Placement of our Series A Convertible Preferred Stock in March 2017, will
enable us to fund our operating expenses and capital expenditure requirements into December of 2017. Even if we raise the maximum amount being offered in the
Private Placement, we will require additional capital for the further development and commercialization of our product candidates and may also need to raise
additional funds sooner in order to accelerate development of our product candidates. We may also require additional capital to repay our outstanding convertible
indebtedness if the holders thereof do not elect to convert such indebtedness into equity prior to maturity.
We cannot be certain that additional funding will be available on acceptable terms, or at all. If we are unable to raise additional capital in sufficient
amounts or on terms acceptable to us we may have to significantly delay, scale back or discontinue the development or commercialization of one or more of our
product candidates or one or more of our other research and development initiatives. We also could be required to:
●

seek collaborators for one or more of our current or future product candidates at an earlier stage than otherwise would be desirable or on terms that
are less favorable than might otherwise be available; or

●

relinquish or license on unfavorable terms our rights to technologies or product candidates that we otherwise would seek to develop or
commercialize ourselves.

Our forecast of the period of time through which our financial resources will be adequate to support our operations is a forward-looking statement and
involves risks and uncertainties, and actual results could vary as a result of a number of factors, including the factors discussed elsewhere in this “Risk Factors”
section. We have based this estimate on assumptions that may prove to be wrong, and we could utilize our available capital resources sooner than we currently
expect. Our future funding requirements, both near and long-term, will depend on many factors, including, but not limited to:
●

the initiation, progress, timing, costs and results of clinical trials for our product candidates and any future product candidates we may in-license;

●

the clinical development plans we establish for these product candidates;

●

the number and characteristics of product candidates that we in-license and develop;
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●

the outcome, timing and cost of regulatory approvals by the FDA and comparable foreign regulatory authorities, including the potential for the FDA
or comparable foreign regulatory authorities to require that we perform more studies than those that we currently expect;

●

the cost of filing, prosecuting, defending and enforcing any patent claims and other intellectual property rights;

●

the effect of competing technological and market developments; and

●

the cost and timing of completion of becoming a commercial organization.

Raising additional capital may cause dilution to our existing stockholders, restrict our operations or require us to relinquish rights to our technologies or
product candidates.
We may seek additional capital through a combination of private and public equity offerings, debt financings, receivables or royalty financings, strategic
partnerships and alliances and licensing arrangements. We do not currently have any committed external source of funds. To the extent that we raise additional
capital through the sale of equity or convertible debt securities, your ownership interest will be diluted, and the terms may include liquidation or other preferences
that adversely affect the rights of existing stockholders. Debt, receivables and royalty financings may be coupled with an equity component, such as warrants to
purchase stock, which could also result in dilution of our existing stockholders’ ownership. The incurrence of indebtedness would result in increased fixed payment
obligations and could also result in certain restrictive covenants, such as limitations on our ability to incur additional debt, limitations on our ability to acquire or
license intellectual property rights and other operating restrictions that could adversely impact our ability to conduct our business and may result in liens being
placed on our assets and intellectual property. If we were to default on such indebtedness, we could lose such assets and intellectual property. If we raise additional
funds through strategic partnerships and alliances and licensing arrangements with third parties, we may have to relinquish valuable rights to our product
candidates, or grant licenses on terms that are not favorable to us.
The issuance of shares of Series A Convertible Preferred Stock reduces the relative voting power of holders of c ommon s tock, dilutes the ownership of
such holders and may adversely affect the market price of our c ommon s tock.
In the event of any vote or action by written consent, each holder of shares of Series A Convertible Preferred Stock shall be entitled to that number of
votes equal to the whole number of shares of common stock into which the aggregate number of shares of Series A Convertible Preferred Stock held of record by
such stockholder are convertible as of the close of business on the record date fixed for such vote or such written consent based on a conversion price, solely for
such purpose, equal to the closing price of our common stock on the date such Series A Convertible Preferred Stock was issued. As holders of Series A Convertible
Preferred Stock are entitled to vote on an as-converted basis together with holders of common stock on all matters submitted to a vote of the holders of common
stock, the issuance of the Series A Convertible Preferred Stock, and the subsequent payment of dividends in shares of common stock, effectively reduces the
relative voting power of the current holders of common stock.
We have a history of operating losses and expect to continue to incur losses in the forseeable future, which raises substantial doubt about our ability to
continue as a going concern.
As discussed further in footnote 2 of our consolidated financial statements for the year ended December 31, 2016, we have a history of operating losses
and expect to continue to incur losses in the forseeable future, which raises substantial doubt regarding our ability to continue as a going concern. We currently
have no sources of revenue and our ability to continue as a going concern is dependent on our ability to raise capital to fund our future business plans. Additionally,
volatility in the capital markets and general economic conditions in the United States may be a significant obstacle to raising the required funds. These factors raise
substantial doubt about our ability to continue as a going concern. The consolidated financial statements do not include any adjustments that might be necessary
should the Company be unable to continue as a going concern. If the going concern basis were not appropriate for these financial statements, adjustments would be
necessary in the carrying value of assets and liabilities, the reported expenses and the balance sheet classifications used.
Risks Related to Development, Regulatory Approval and Commercialization
Our business is dependent on the successful development, regulatory approval and commercialization of our product candidates, which include products
primarily for the treatment of glioblastoma multiforme, pancreatic cancer and brain metastases.
Our portfolio of product candidates includes TSC, which is a novel small molecule that re-oxygenates hypoxic tissue, enhancing the efficacy of radiation
and chemotherapy without harmful side effects poised to enter Phase III clinical development for glioblastoma multiforme. In addition, TSC may have potential
applications in pancreatic cancer and brain metastases. The success of our business, including our ability to finance our company and generate any revenue in the
future, primarily will depend on the successful development, regulatory approval and commercialization of our product candidates. In the future, we may also
become dependent on one or more other product candidates or any future product candidates that we may in-license, acquire or develop.
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The clinical and commercial success of our product candidates will depend on a number of factors, including the following:
●

timely completion of our clinical trials, which may be significantly slower or cost more than we currently anticipate and will depend substantially
upon the performance of third-party contractors;

●

whether we are required by the FDA or similar foreign regulatory agencies to conduct additional clinical trials beyond those planned to support the
approval and commercialization of our product candidates or any future product candidates;

●

acceptance of our proposed indications and primary endpoint assessments relating to the proposed indications of our product candidates by the FDA
and similar foreign regulatory authorities;

●

our ability to demonstrate to the satisfaction of the FDA and similar foreign regulatory authorities, the safety and efficacy of our product candidates
or any future product candidates;

●

the prevalence, duration and severity of potential side effects experienced with our product candidates or future approved products, if any;

●

the timely receipt of necessary marketing approvals from the FDA and similar foreign regulatory authorities;

●

achieving and maintaining, and, where applicable, ensuring that our third-party contractors achieve and maintain, compliance with our contractual
obligations and with all regulatory requirements applicable to our product candidates or any future product candidates or approved products, if any;

●

the ability of third parties with whom we contract to manufacture clinical trial and commercial supplies of our product candidates or any future
product candidates, remain in good standing with regulatory agencies and develop, validate and maintain commercially viable manufacturing
processes that are compliant with cGMP;

●

a continued acceptable safety profile during clinical development and following approval of our product candidates or any future product candidates;

●

our ability to successfully commercialize our product candidates or any future product candidates in the United States and internationally, if
approved for marketing, sale and distribution in such countries and territories, whether alone or in collaboration with others;

●

acceptance by physicians and patients of the benefits, safety and efficacy of our product candidates or any future product candidates, if approved,
including relative to alternative and competing treatments;

●

our and our partners’ ability to establish and enforce intellectual property rights in and to our product candidates or any future product candidates;

●

our and our partners’ ability to avoid third-party patent interference or intellectual property infringement claims; and

●

our ability to in-license or acquire additional product candidates or commercial-stage products that we believe can be successfully developed and
commercialized.

If we do not achieve one or more of these factors, many of which are beyond our control, in a timely manner or at all, we could experience significant
delays or an inability to obtain regulatory approvals or commercialize our product candidates. Even if regulatory approvals are obtained, we may never be able to
successfully commercialize any of our product candidates. Accordingly, we cannot assure you that we will be able to generate sufficient revenue through the sale of
our product candidates or any future product candidates to continue our business.
Clinical drug development for our product candidates is very expensive, time-consuming and uncertain. Our clinical trials may fail to adequately
demonstrate the safety and efficacy of our product candidates, which could prevent or delay regulatory approval and commercialization.
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Clinical drug development for our product candidates is very expensive, time-consuming, difficult to design and implement and its outcome is inherently
uncertain. Before obtaining regulatory approval for the commercial sale of a product candidate, we must demonstrate through clinical trials that a product candidate
is both safe and effective for use in the target indication. Most product candidates that commence clinical trials are never approved by regulatory authorities for
commercialization. Our product candidates are in early stages of development. We expect that clinical trials for these product candidates will take several years, but
may take significantly longer than expected to complete. In addition, we, any partner with which we may in the future collaborate, the FDA, an IRB or other
regulatory authorities, including state and local agencies and counterpart agencies in foreign countries, may suspend, delay, require modifications to or terminate
our clinical trials at any time, for various reasons, including:
●

discovery of serious or unexpected toxicities or side effects experienced by study participants or other safety issues;

●

lack of effectiveness of any product candidate during clinical trials or the failure of our product candidates to meet specified endpoints;

●

slower than expected rates of subject recruitment and enrollment rates in clinical trials resulting from numerous factors, including the prevalence of
other companies’ clinical trials for their product candidates for the same indication, or clinical trials for indications for which patients do not as
commonly seek treatment;

●

difficulty in retaining subjects who have initiated a clinical trial but may withdraw at any time due to adverse side effects from the therapy,
insufficient efficacy, fatigue with the clinical trial process or for any other reason;

●

difficulty in obtaining IRB approval for studies to be conducted at each site;

●

delays in manufacturing or obtaining, or inability to manufacture or obtain, sufficient quantities of materials for use in clinical trials;

●

inadequacy of or changes in our manufacturing process or the product formulation or method of delivery;

●

changes in applicable laws, regulations and regulatory policies;

●

delays or failure in reaching agreement on acceptable terms in clinical trial contracts or protocols with prospective clinical research organizations (“
CROs ”), clinical trial sites and other third-party contractors;

●

inability to add a sufficient number of clinical trial sites;

●

uncertainty regarding proper dosing;

●

failure of our CROs or other third-party contractors to comply with contractual and regulatory requirements or to perform their services in a timely
or acceptable manner;

●

failure by us, our employees, our CROs or their employees or any partner with which we may collaborate or their employees to comply with
applicable FDA or other regulatory requirements relating to the conduct of clinical trials or the handling, storage, security and recordkeeping for
drug products;

●

scheduling conflicts with participating clinicians and clinical institutions;

●

failure to design appropriate clinical trial protocols;

●

insufficient data to support regulatory approval;

●

inability or unwillingness of medical investigators to follow our clinical protocols; or

●

difficulty in maintaining contact with subjects during or after treatment, which may result in incomplete data.

We or any partner with which we may collaborate may suffer significant setbacks in our clinical trials similar to the experience of a number of other
companies in the pharmaceutical and biotechnology industries, even after receiving promising results in earlier trials. In the event that we or our potential partners
abandon or are delayed in the clinical development efforts related to our product candidates, we may not be able to execute on our business plan effectively and our
business, financial condition, operating results and prospects would be harmed.
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We may be unable to obtain regulatory approval for TSC for the indications of which we are seeking or our other future product candidates under
applicable regulatory requirements. The FDA and foreign regulatory bodies have substantial discretion in the approval process, including the ability to delay, limit
or deny approval of product candidates. The delay, limitation or denial of any regulatory approval would adversely impact commercialization, our potential to
generate revenue, our business and our operating results.
We currently have no products approved for sale, and we may never obtain regulatory approval to commercialize any of our current or future product
candidates. The research, testing, manufacturing, safety surveillance, efficacy, quality control, recordkeeping, labeling, packaging, storage, approval, sale,
marketing, distribution, import, export, and reporting of safety and other post-market information related to our drug products are subject to extensive regulation by
the FDA and other regulatory authorities in the United States and in foreign countries, and such regulations differ from country to country. We are not permitted to
market any of our current product candidates in the United States until we receive approval of an NDA or other applicable regulatory filing from the FDA. We are
also not permitted to market any of our current product candidates in any foreign countries until we receive the requisite approval from the applicable regulatory
authorities of such countries.
To gain approval to market a new drug, such as TSC, the FDA and foreign regulatory authorities must receive preclinical and clinical data that adequately
demonstrate the safety, purity, potency, efficacy and compliant manufacturing of the product for the intended indication applied for in an NDA or other applicable
regulatory filing. The development and approval of new drug products involves a long, expensive and uncertain process, and delay or failure can occur at any stage.
A number of companies in the pharmaceutical and biopharmaceutical industry have suffered significant setbacks in clinical trials, including in Phase 3 clinical
development, even after promising results in earlier preclinical studies or clinical trials. These setbacks have been caused by, among other things, findings made
while clinical trials were underway and safety or efficacy observations made in clinical trials, including previously unreported adverse events. Success in
preclinical testing and early clinical trials does not ensure that later clinical trials will be successful, and the results of clinical trials by other parties may not be
indicative of the results in trials we or our partners may conduct.
The FDA and foreign regulatory bodies have substantial discretion in the drug approval process, including the ability to delay, limit or deny approval of
product candidates for many reasons, including:
●

the FDA or the applicable foreign regulatory body may disagree with the design or implementation of one or more clinical trials;

●

the FDA or the applicable foreign regulatory body may not deem a product candidate safe and effective for its proposed indication, or may deem a
product candidate’s safety or other perceived risks to outweigh its clinical or other benefits;

●

the FDA or the applicable foreign regulatory body may not find the data from preclinical studies and clinical trials sufficient to support approval, or
the results of clinical trials may not meet the level of statistical or clinical significance required by the FDA or the applicable foreign regulatory body
for approval;

●

the FDA or the applicable foreign regulatory body may disagree with our interpretation of data from preclinical studies or clinical trials performed
by us or third parties, or with the interpretation of any partner with which we may collaborate;

●

the data collected from clinical trials may not be sufficient to support the submission of an NDA or other applicable regulatory filing;

●

the FDA or the applicable foreign regulatory body may require additional preclinical studies or clinical trials;

●

the FDA or the applicable foreign regulatory agency may identify deficiencies in the formulation, quality control, labeling or specifications of our
current or future product candidates;

●

the FDA or the applicable foreign regulatory agency may require clinical trials in pediatric patients in order to establish pharmacokinetics or safety
for this more drug-sensitive population;

●

the FDA or the applicable foreign regulatory agency may grant approval contingent on the performance of costly additional post-approval clinical
trials;
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●

the FDA or the applicable foreign regulatory agency also may approve our current or any future product candidates for a more limited indication or a
narrower patient population than we originally requested;

●

the FDA or applicable foreign regulatory agency may not approve the labeling that we believe is necessary or desirable for the successful
commercialization of our product candidates;

●

the FDA or the applicable foreign regulatory body may not approve of the manufacturing processes, controls or facilities of third-party
manufacturers or testing labs with which we contract; or

●

the FDA or the applicable foreign regulatory body may change its approval policies or adopt new regulations in a manner rendering our clinical data
or regulatory filings insufficient for approval.

Of the large number of drugs in development, only a small percentage successfully complete the FDA or other regulatory approval processes and are
commercialized. Our product candidates may not be approved by the FDA or applicable foreign regulatory agencies even if they meet specified endpoints in our
clinical trials. The FDA or applicable foreign regulatory agencies may ask us to conduct additional costly and time-consuming clinical trials in order to obtain
marketing approval or approval to enter into an advanced phase of development, or may change the requirements for approval even after such agency has reviewed
and commented on the design for the clinical trials.
Any delay in obtaining, or inability to obtain, applicable regulatory approval for any of our product candidates would delay or prevent commercialization
of our product candidates and would harm our business, financial condition, operating results and prospects.
Even if our product candidates obtain regulatory approval, they may fail to achieve the broad degree of physician and patient adoption and use necessary
for commercial success.
The commercial success of any of our current or future product candidates, if approved, will depend significantly on the broad adoption and use of the
resulting product by physicians and patients for approved indications, and may not be commercially successful. The degree and rate of physician and patient
adoption of our current or future product candidates, if approved, will depend on a number of factors, including:
●

the clinical indications for which the product is approved and patient demand for approved products that treat those indications;

●

the effectiveness of our product as compared to other available therapies;

●

the availability of coverage and adequate reimbursement from managed care plans and other healthcare payors for any of our product candidates that
may be approved;

●

the cost of treatment with our product candidates in relation to alternative treatments and willingness to pay for the product, if approved, on the part
of patients;

●

acceptance by physicians, major operators of clinics and patients of the product as a safe and effective treatment;

●

physician and patient willingness to adopt a new therapy over other available therapies to treat approved indications;

●

overcoming any biases physicians or patients may have toward particular therapies for the treatment of approved indications;

●

proper training and administration of our product candidates by physicians and medical staff;

●

patient satisfaction with the results and administration of our product candidates and overall treatment experience;

●

the willingness of patients to pay for certain of our product candidates relative to other discretionary items, especially during economically
challenging times;

●

the revenue and profitability that our product candidate may offer a physician as compared to alternative therapies;
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●

the prevalence and severity of side effects;

●

limitations or warnings contained in the FDA-approved labeling for our product candidates;

●

any FDA requirement to undertake a REMS;

●

the effectiveness of our sales, marketing and distribution efforts;

●

adverse publicity about our product candidates or favorable publicity about competitive products; and

●

potential product liability claims.

Our product candidates, if approved, will face significant competition and our failure to effectively compete may prevent us from achieving significant
market penetration.
The pharmaceutical industry is characterized by rapidly advancing technologies, intense competition and a strong emphasis on developing proprietary
therapeutics. Numerous companies are engaged in the development, patenting, manufacturing and marketing of health care products competitive with those that we
are developing. We face competition from a number of sources, such as pharmaceutical companies, generic drug companies, biotechnology companies and
academic and research institutions, many of which have greater financial resources, marketing capabilities, sales forces, manufacturing capabilities, research and
development capabilities, clinical trial expertise, intellectual property portfolios, experience in obtaining patents and regulatory approvals for product candidates
and other resources than us. Some of the companies that offer competing products also have a broad range of other product offerings, large direct sales forces and
long-term customer relationships with our target physicians, which could inhibit our market penetration efforts.
Many pharmaceutical companies currently offer products, and continue to develop additional alternative product candidates and technologies, for
indications similar to those targeted by our product candidates. We anticipate that, if we obtain regulatory approval of our product candidates, we will face
significant competition from other approved therapies. If approved, our product candidates may also compete with unregulated, unapproved and off-label
treatments. Certain of our product candidates, if approved, will present novel therapeutic approaches for the approved indications and will have to compete with
existing therapies, some of which are widely known and accepted by physicians and patients. To compete successfully in this market, we will have to demonstrate
that the relative cost, safety and efficacy of our approved products, if any, provide an attractive alternative to existing and other new therapies. Such competition
could lead to reduced market share for our product candidates and contribute to downward pressure on the pricing of our product candidates, which could harm our
business, financial condition, operating results and prospects. For more information about the competition we face, see “Business—Competition.”
Due to less stringent regulatory requirements in certain foreign countries, there are many more products and procedures available for use in those
international markets than are approved for use in the United States. In certain international markets, there are also fewer limitations on the claims that our
competitors can make about the effectiveness of their products and the manner in which they can market them. As a result, we expect to face more competition in
these markets than in the United States.
Any product candidates that we commercialize, or that any partner with which we may collaborate commercializes, will be subject to ongoing and
continued regulatory review.
Even after we or our partners achieve U.S. regulatory approval for a product candidate, if any, we or our partners will be subject to continued regulatory
review and compliance obligations. For example, with respect to our product candidates, the FDA may impose significant restrictions on the approved indicated
uses for which the product may be marketed or on the conditions of approval. A product candidate’s approval may contain requirements for potentially costly postapproval studies and surveillance, including Phase 4 clinical trials or a REMS, to monitor the safety and efficacy of the product. We will also be subject to ongoing
FDA obligations and continued regulatory review with respect to, among other things, the manufacturing, processing, labeling, packaging, distribution, adverse
event reporting, storage, advertising, promotion and recordkeeping for our product candidates. These requirements include submissions of safety and other postmarketing information and reports, registration, as well as continued compliance with cGMP requirements and with the FDA’s GCP requirements and good
laboratory practice (“ GLP ”) requirements, which are regulations and guidelines enforced by the FDA for all of our product candidates in clinical and preclinical
development, and for any clinical trials that we conduct post-approval. To the extent that a product candidate is approved for sale in other countries, we may be
subject to similar restrictions and requirements imposed by laws and government regulators in those countries.
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In addition, manufacturers of drug products and their facilities are subject to continual review and periodic inspections by the FDA and other regulatory
authorities for compliance with cGMP regulations. If we or a regulatory agency discovers previously unknown problems with a product, such as adverse events of
unanticipated severity or frequency, or problems with the facility where, or processes by which, the product is manufactured, a regulatory agency may impose
restrictions on that product or us, including requesting that we initiate a product recall, or requiring notice to physicians, withdrawal of the product from the market
or suspension of manufacturing.
If we, our product candidates or the manufacturing facilities for our product candidates fail to comply with applicable regulatory requirements, a
regulatory agency may:
●

impose restrictions on the marketing or manufacturing of the product, suspend or withdraw product approvals or revoke necessary licenses;

●

mandate modifications to promotional materials or require us to provide corrective information to healthcare practitioners;

●

require us or our partners to enter into a consent decree, which can include imposition of various fines, reimbursements for inspection costs, required
due dates for specific actions and penalties for noncompliance;

●

issue warning letters, show cause notices or untitled letters describing alleged violations, which may be publicly available;

●

commence criminal investigations and prosecutions;

●

impose injunctions, suspensions or revocations of necessary approvals or other licenses;

●

impose other civil or criminal penalties;

●

suspend any ongoing clinical trials;

●

delay or refuse to approve pending applications or supplements to approved applications filed by us or our potential partners;

●

refuse to permit drugs or precursor chemicals to be imported or exported to or from the United States;

●

suspend or impose restrictions on operations, including costly new manufacturing requirements; or

●

seize or detain products or require us or our partners to initiate a product recall.

The regulations, policies or guidance of the FDA and other applicable government agencies may change and new or additional statutes or government
regulations may be enacted that could prevent or delay regulatory approval of our product candidates or further restrict or regulate post-approval activities. We
cannot predict the likelihood, nature or extent of adverse government regulation that may arise from future legislation or administrative action, either in the United
States or abroad. If we are not able to achieve and maintain regulatory compliance, we may not be permitted to market our product candidates, which would
adversely affect our ability to generate revenue and achieve or maintain profitability.
We have conducted and may in the future conduct clinical trials for our product candidates outside the United States and the FDA and applicable foreign
regulatory authorities may not accept data from such trials.
We have conducted and may in the future choose to conduct one or more of our clinical trials outside the United States. Although the FDA or applicable
foreign regulatory authority may accept data from clinical trials conducted outside the United States or the applicable jurisdiction, acceptance of such study data by
the FDA or applicable foreign regulatory authority may be subject to certain conditions. Where data from foreign clinical trials are intended to serve as the basis for
marketing approval in the United States, the FDA will not approve the application on the basis of foreign data alone unless those data are applicable to the U.S.
population and U.S. medical practice; the studies were performed by clinical investigators of recognized competence; and the data are considered valid without the
need for an on-site inspection by the FDA or, if the FDA considers such an inspection to be necessary, the FDA is able to validate the data through an on-site
inspection or other appropriate means. Many foreign regulatory bodies have similar requirements. In addition, such foreign studies would be subject to the
applicable local laws of the foreign jurisdictions where the studies are conducted. There can be no assurance the FDA or applicable foreign regulatory authority will
accept data from trials conducted outside of the United States or the applicable jurisdiction. If the FDA or applicable foreign regulatory authority does not accept
such data, it would likely result in the need for additional trials, which would be costly and time-consuming and delay aspects of our business plan.
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Our product candidates may cause undesirable side effects or have other unexpected properties that could delay or prevent their regulatory approval,
limit the commercial profile of an approved label or result in post-approval regulatory action.
Unforeseen side effects from any of our product candidates could arise either during clinical development or, if approved, after the approved product has
been marketed. Undesirable side effects caused by product candidates could cause us, any partners with which we may collaborate or regulatory authorities to
interrupt, modify, delay or halt clinical trials and could result in a more restrictive label or the delay or denial of regulatory approval by the FDA or comparable
foreign authorities. In such an event, trials could be suspended or terminated and the FDA or comparable foreign regulatory authorities could order us, or our
potential partners, to cease further development of or deny approval of product candidates for any or all targeted indications. The drug-related side effects could
affect patient recruitment or the ability of enrolled patients to complete the trial or result in product liability claims. Any of these occurrences may harm our
business, financial condition, operating results and prospects.
Additionally, if we or others identify undesirable side effects, or other previously unknown problems, caused by our product candidates after obtaining
U.S. or foreign regulatory approval or other products with the same or related active ingredients, a number of potentially negative consequences could result,
including:
●

regulatory authorities may withdraw their approval of the product;

●

regulatory authorities may require a recall of the product or we or our potential partners may voluntarily recall a product;

●

regulatory authorities may require the addition of warnings or contraindications in the product labeling, narrowing of the indication in the product
label or field alerts to physicians and pharmacies;

●

we may be required to create a medication guide outlining the risks of such side effects for distribution to patients or institute a REMS;

●

we may have limitations on how we promote the product;

●

we may be required to change the way the product is administered or modify the product in some other way;

●

the FDA or applicable foreign regulatory authority may require additional clinical trials or costly post-marketing testing and surveillance to monitor
the safety or efficacy of the product;

●

sales of the product may decrease significantly;

●

we could be sued and held liable for harm caused to patients; and

●

our brand and reputation may suffer.

Any of the above events resulting from undesirable side effects or other previously unknown problems could prevent us or our potential partners from
achieving or maintaining market acceptance of the affected product candidate and could substantially increase the costs of commercializing our product candidates.
Because the results of preclinical studies and early-stage clinical trials are not necessarily predictive of future results, any product candidate we advance
into additional clinical trials may not continue to have favorable results or receive regulatory approval.
Success in preclinical studies and early clinical trials does not ensure that later clinical trials will generate adequate data to demonstrate the efficacy and
safety of an investigational drug. Many companies in the pharmaceutical and biotechnology industries, including those with greater resources and experience, have
suffered significant setbacks in clinical trials, even after reporting promising results in earlier clinical trials. We do not know whether the clinical trials we may
conduct will demonstrate adequate efficacy and safety or otherwise provide adequate information to result in regulatory approval to market any of our product
candidates in any particular jurisdiction. If later-stage clinical trials do not produce favorable results, our ability to achieve regulatory approval for any of our
product candidates may be compromised.
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We may face product liability exposure, and if successful claims are brought against us, we may incur substantial liability if our insurance coverage for
those claims is inadequate.
We face an inherent risk of product liability as a result of the clinical testing of our product candidates and will face an even greater risk if we
commercialize any products. This risk exists even if a product is approved for commercial sale by the FDA and manufactured in facilities licensed and regulated by
the FDA or an applicable foreign regulatory authority. Our products and product candidates are designed to affect important bodily functions and processes. Any
side effects, manufacturing defects, misuse or abuse associated with our product candidates could result in injury to a patient or even death. We cannot offer any
assurance that we will not face product liability suits in the future, nor can we assure you that our insurance coverage will be sufficient to cover our liability under
any such cases.
In addition, a liability claim may be brought against us even if our product candidates merely appear to have caused an injury. Product liability claims may
be brought against us by consumers, health care providers, pharmaceutical companies or others selling or otherwise coming into contact with our product
candidates, among others. If we cannot successfully defend ourselves against product liability claims we will incur substantial liabilities and reputational harm. In
addition, regardless of merit or eventual outcome, product liability claims may result in:
●

withdrawal of clinical trial participants;

●

termination of clinical trial sites or entire trial programs;

●

the inability to commercialize our product candidates;

●

decreased demand for our product candidates;

●

impairment of our business reputation;

●

product recall or withdrawal from the market or labeling, marketing or promotional restrictions;

●

substantial costs of any related litigation or similar disputes;

●

distraction of management’s attention and other resources from our primary business;

●

substantial monetary awards to patients or other claimants against us that may not be covered by insurance; or

●

loss of revenue.

We obtained product liability insurance coverage for our clinical trials. Large judgments have been awarded in class action or individual lawsuits based on
drugs that had unanticipated side effects. Our insurance coverage may not be sufficient to cover all of our product liability related expenses or losses and may not
cover us for any expenses or losses we may suffer. Moreover, insurance coverage is becoming increasingly expensive, and, in the future, we may not be able to
maintain insurance coverage at a reasonable cost, in sufficient amounts or upon adequate terms to protect us against losses due to product liability. We will need to
increase our product liability coverage if any of our product candidates receive regulatory approval, which will be costly, and we may be unable to obtain this
increased product liability insurance on commercially reasonable terms, or at all. A successful product liability claim or series of claims brought against us could
cause our stock price to decline and, if judgments exceed our insurance coverage, could decrease our cash and could harm our business, financial condition,
operating results and prospects.
If any of our product candidates are approved for marketing and we are found to have improperly promoted off-label uses, or if physicians misuse our
products or use our products off-label, we may become subject to prohibitions on the sale or marketing of our products, product liability claims and significant
fines, penalties and sanctions, and our brand and reputation could be harmed.
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The FDA and other regulatory agencies strictly regulate the marketing and promotional claims that are made about drug products. In particular, a product
may not be promoted for uses or indications that are not approved by the FDA or such other regulatory agencies as reflected in the product’s approved labeling and
comparative safety or efficacy claims cannot be made without direct comparative clinical data. If we are found to have promoted off-label uses of any of our
product candidates, we may receive warning or untitled letters and become subject to significant liability, which would materially harm our business. Both federal
and state governments have levied large civil and criminal fines against companies for alleged improper promotion and have enjoined several companies from
engaging in off-label promotion. If we become the target of such an investigation or prosecution based on our marketing and promotional practices, we could face
similar sanctions, which would materially harm our business. In addition, management’s attention could be diverted from our business operations, significant legal
expenses could be incurred and our brand and reputation could be damaged. The FDA has also requested that companies enter into consent decrees or permanent
injunctions under which specified promotional conduct is changed or curtailed. If we are deemed by the FDA to have engaged in the promotion of our products for
off-label use, we could be subject to FDA regulatory or enforcement actions, including the issuance of an untitled letter, a warning letter, injunction, seizure, civil
fine or criminal penalties. It is also possible that other federal, state or foreign enforcement authorities might take action if they consider our business activities
constitute promotion of an off-label use, which could result in significant penalties, including criminal, civil or administrative penalties, damages, fines,
disgorgement, exclusion from participation in government healthcare programs and the curtailment or restructuring of our operations.
We cannot, however, prevent a physician from using our product candidates outside of those indications for use when in the physician’s independent
professional medical judgment he or she deems appropriate. Physicians may also misuse our product candidates or use improper techniques, potentially leading to
adverse results, side effects or injury, which may lead to product liability claims. If our product candidates are misused or used with improper technique, we may
become subject to costly litigation by physicians or their patients. Furthermore, the use of our product candidates for indications other than those cleared by the
FDA may not effectively treat such conditions, which could harm our reputation among physicians and patients.
We may choose not to continue developing or commercializing any of our product candidates at any time during development or after approval, which
would reduce or eliminate our potential return on investment for those product candidates.
At any time, we may decide to discontinue the development of any of our product candidates or not to continue commercializing one or more of our
approved product candidates for a variety of reasons, including changes in our internal product, technology or indication focus, the appearance of new technologies
that make our product obsolete, competition from a competing product or changes in or failure to comply with applicable regulatory requirements. If we terminate a
program in which we have invested significant resources, we will not receive any return on our investment and we will have missed the opportunity to have
allocated those resources to potentially more productive uses.
We or our prospective partners may be subject to product recalls in the future that could harm our brand and reputation and could negatively affect our
business.
We or our prospective partners may be subject to product recalls, withdrawals or seizures if any of our product candidates, if approved for marketing, fail
to meet specifications or are believed to cause injury or illness or if we are alleged to have violated governmental regulations including those related to the
manufacture, labeling, promotion, sale or distribution. Any recall, withdrawal or seizure in the future could materially and adversely affect consumer confidence in
our brands and lead to decreased demand for our approved products. In addition, a recall, withdrawal or seizure of any of our approved products would require
significant management attention, would likely result in substantial and unexpected expenditures and would harm our business, financial condition and operating
results.
If we or any partners with which we may collaborate are unable to achieve and maintain coverage and adequate levels of reimbursement for any of our
product candidates for which we receive regulatory approval, or any future products we may seek to commercialize, their commercial success may be severely
hindered.
For any of our product candidates that become available only by prescription, successful sales by us or by any partners with which we may collaborate
depend on the availability of coverage and adequate reimbursement from third-party payors. Patients who are prescribed medicine for the treatment of their
conditions generally rely on third-party payors to reimburse all or part of the costs associated with their prescription drugs. The availability of coverage and
adequate reimbursement from governmental healthcare programs, such as Medicare and Medicaid, and private third-party payors is critical to new product
acceptance. Coverage decisions may depend upon clinical and economic standards that disfavor new drug products when more established or lower cost therapeutic
alternatives are already available or subsequently become available. If any of our product candidates do not demonstrate attractive efficacy profiles, they may not
qualify for coverage and reimbursement. Even if we obtain coverage for a given product, the resulting reimbursement payment rates might not be adequate or may
require co-payments that patients find unacceptably high. Patients are unlikely to use our products unless coverage is provided and reimbursement is adequate to
cover a significant portion of the cost of our products.
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In addition, the market for our product candidates will depend significantly on access to third-party payors’ drug formularies, or lists of medications for
which third-party payors provide coverage and reimbursement. The industry competition to be included in such formularies often leads to downward pricing
pressures on pharmaceutical companies. Also, third-party payors may refuse to include a particular branded drug in their formularies or otherwise restrict patient
access to a branded drug when a less costly generic equivalent or other alternative is available.
Third-party payors, whether foreign or domestic, or governmental or commercial, are developing increasingly sophisticated methods of controlling
healthcare costs. In addition, in the United States, although private third-party payors tend to follow Medicare, no uniform policy of coverage and reimbursement
for drug products exists among third-party payors. Therefore, coverage and reimbursement for drug products can differ significantly from payor to payor. As a
result, the coverage determination process is often a time-consuming and costly process that will require us to provide scientific and clinical support for the use of
our product candidates to each payor separately, with no assurance that coverage and adequate reimbursement will be obtained.
Further, we believe that future coverage and reimbursement will likely be subject to increased restrictions both in the United States and in international
markets. Third-party coverage and reimbursement for any of our product candidates for which we may receive regulatory approval may not be available or
adequate in either the United States or international markets, which could harm our business, financial condition, operating results and prospects.
Healthcare reform measures could hinder or prevent the commercial success of our products and product candidates.
In the United States, there have been, and we expect there will continue to be, a number of legislative and regulatory changes to the healthcare system that
could affect our future revenue and profitability and the future revenue and profitability of any partner with which we may collaborate. Federal and state lawmakers
regularly propose and, at times, enact legislation that results in significant changes to the healthcare system, some of which are intended to contain or reduce the
costs of medical products and services. For example, in March 2010, President Obama signed one of the most significant healthcare reform measures in decades the
Affordable Care Act. It contains a number of provisions, including those governing enrollment in federal healthcare programs, reimbursement changes and fraud
and abuse measures, all of which are expected to impact existing government healthcare programs and result in the development of new programs. The Affordable
Care Act, among other things, (1) increased the minimum Medicaid rebates owed by most manufacturers under the Medicaid Drug Rebate Program and extended
the rebate program to certain individuals enrolled in Medicaid managed care organizations, (2) established annual fees on manufacturers of certain branded
prescription drugs and (3) enacted a Medicare Part D coverage gap discount program, in which manufacturers must agree to offer 50% point-of-sale discounts off
negotiated prices of applicable brand drugs to eligible beneficiaries during their coverage gap period, as a condition for the manufacturer’s outpatient drugs to be
covered under Medicare Part D.
In addition, other legislative changes have been proposed and adopted in the United States since the Affordable Care Act was enacted. On August 2, 2011,
the Budget Control Act of 2011, among other things, created measures for spending reductions by Congress. A Joint Select Committee on Deficit Reduction, tasked
with recommending a targeted deficit reduction of at least $1.2 trillion for the years 2013 through 2021, was unable to reach required goals, thereby triggering the
legislation’s automatic reduction to several government programs. This includes aggregate reductions of Medicare payments to providers up to 2% per fiscal year,
which went into effect on April 1, 2013. On January 2, 2013, President Obama signed into law the American Taxpayer Relief Act of 2012, which, among other
things, further reduced Medicare payments to several providers, including hospitals and imaging centers.
More recently, the Protecting Access to Medicare Act of 2014, signed into law in April 2014, provides for a 0.5% change from 2013 federal payment rates
under the Medicare Physician Fee Schedule through 2014 and a 0% update from January 1 until April 1, 2015. Congressional failure to intervene to prevent these
changes in payment rates may adversely affect our future revenue and operating results. The 21st Century Cures Act, which the U.S. House of Representatives
passed in July 2015 and President Obama signed into law in December 2016, provides a wide range of reforms, such as broadening the types of data required to
support drug approval, extending protections from genetic competition, accelerating approval of breakthrough therapies, expanding the orphan drug product
program, and clarifying how manufacturers communicate about their products.
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Additional state and federal healthcare reform measures may be adopted in the future, any of which could limit the amounts that federal and state
governments will pay for healthcare products and services, which could result in reduced demand for our products once approved or additional pricing pressures.
It is also uncertain whether there will be any legislation that will replace or amend the Affordable Care Act . In addition, the Trump Administration has
and will appoint and employ many new secretaries, directors and the like into positions of authority in the U.S. Federal government dealing with the pharmaceutical
and healthcare industries that may potentially have a negative impact on the prices and the regulatory pathways for certain pharmaceuticals and healthcare products
developed by the Company. Such changes in the regulatory pathways could adversely affect and or delay the ability of the Company to market and sell its products
in the U.S.
We may also be subject to healthcare laws, regulation and enforcement and our failure to comply with those laws could adversely affect our business,
operations and financial condition.
Certain federal and state healthcare laws and regulations pertaining to fraud and abuse and patients’ rights are and will be applicable to our business. We
are subject to regulation by both the federal government and the states in which we or our partners conduct our business. The laws and regulations that may affect
our ability to operate include:
●

the federal Anti-Kickback Statute, which prohibits, among other things, any person or entity from knowingly and willfully offering, soliciting,
receiving or providing any remuneration (including any kickback, bribe or rebate), directly or indirectly, overtly or covertly, in cash or in kind, to
induce either the referral of an individual or in return for the purchase, lease, or order of any good, facility item or service, for which payment may
be made, in whole or in part, under federal healthcare programs such as the Medicare and Medicaid programs;

●

federal civil and criminal false claims laws and civil monetary penalty laws, including, for example, the federal civil False Claims Act, which impose
criminal and civil penalties, including civil whistleblower or qui tam actions, against individuals or entities for, among other things, knowingly
presenting, or causing to be presented, to the federal government, including the Medicare and Medicaid programs, claims for payment that are false
or fraudulent or making a false statement to avoid, decrease or conceal an obligation to pay money to the federal government;

●

the federal Health Insurance Portability and Accountability Act of 1996 (“ HIPAA ”), which created new federal criminal statutes that prohibit
knowingly and willfully executing, or attempting to execute, a scheme to defraud any healthcare benefit program or obtain, by means of false or
fraudulent pretenses, representations or promises, any of the money or property owned by, or under the custody or control of, any healthcare benefit
program, regardless of the payor (e.g., public or private), knowingly and willfully embezzling or stealing from a health care benefit program,
willfully obstructing a criminal investigation of a health care offense and knowingly and willfully falsifying, concealing or covering up by any trick
or device a material fact or making any materially false statements in connection with the delivery of, or payment for, healthcare benefits, items or
services relating to healthcare matters;

●

HIPAA, as amended by the Health Information Technology for Economic and Clinical Health Act, and their implementing regulations, which
impose obligations on covered entities, including healthcare providers, health plans, and healthcare clearinghouses, as well as their respective
business associates that create, receive, maintain or transmit individually identifiable health information for or on behalf of a covered entity, with
respect to safeguarding the privacy, security and transmission of individually identifiable health information;

●

the federal physician sunshine requirements under the Affordable Care Act, which require manufacturers of drugs, devices, biologics and medical
supplies to report annually to the Centers for Medicare & Medicaid Services information related to payments and other transfers of value provided to
physicians and teaching hospitals, and ownership and investment interests held by physicians and their immediate family members; and

●

state law equivalents of each of the above federal laws, such as anti-kickback and false claims laws, which may apply to items or services
reimbursed by any third-party payor, including commercial insurers; state laws that require pharmaceutical companies to comply with the
pharmaceutical industry’s voluntary compliance guidelines and the applicable compliance guidance promulgated by the federal government, or
otherwise restrict payments that may be provided to healthcare providers and other potential referral sources; state laws that require drug
manufacturers to report information related to payments and other transfers of value to healthcare providers or marketing expenditures; and state
laws governing the privacy and security of health information in certain circumstances, many of which differ from each other in significant ways and
may not have the same effect, thus complicating compliance efforts.
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Recent health care reform legislation has strengthened these laws. For example, the recently enacted Affordable Care Act, among other things, amended
the intent requirement of the federal Anti-Kickback Statute and certain criminal healthcare fraud statutes. A person or entity no longer needs to have actual
knowledge of the statute or specific intent to violate it. In addition, the Affordable Care Act provided that the government may assert that a claim including items or
services resulting from a violation of the federal Anti-Kickback Statute constitutes a false or fraudulent claim for purposes of the federal civil False Claims Act. It
is uncertain whether there will be any legislation that will replace or amend the Affordable Care Act .
Achieving and sustaining compliance with these laws may prove costly. In addition, any action against us for violation of these laws, even if we
successfully defend against it, could cause us to incur significant legal expenses and divert our management’s attention from the operation of our business. If our
operations are found to be in violation of any of the laws described above or any other governmental laws or regulations that apply to us, we may be subject to
penalties, including administrative, civil and criminal penalties, damages, fines, disgorgement, the exclusion from participation in federal and state healthcare
programs, individual imprisonment or the curtailment or restructuring of our operations, any of which could adversely affect our ability to operate our business and
our financial results.
Our employees, independent contractors, principal investigators, consultants, vendors, CROs and any partners with which we may collaborate may
engage in misconduct or other improper activities, including noncompliance with regulatory standards and requirements.
We are exposed to the risk that our employees, independent contractors, principal investigators, consultants, vendors, CROs and any partners with which
we may collaborate may engage in fraudulent or other illegal activity. Misconduct by these persons could include intentional, reckless or negligent conduct or
unauthorized activity that violates: laws or regulations, including those laws requiring the reporting of true, complete and accurate information to the FDA or
foreign regulatory authorities; manufacturing standards; federal, state and foreign healthcare fraud and abuse laws and data privacy; or laws that require the true,
complete and accurate reporting of financial information or data. In particular, sales, marketing and other business arrangements in the healthcare industry are
subject to extensive laws intended to prevent fraud, kickbacks, self-dealing and other abusive practices. These laws may restrict or prohibit a wide range of business
activities, including research, manufacturing, distribution, pricing, discounting, marketing and promotion, sales commission, customer incentive programs and
other business arrangements. Activities subject to these laws also involve the improper use of information obtained in the course of clinical trials, or illegal
misappropriation of drug product, which could result in regulatory sanctions or other actions or lawsuits stemming from a failure to be in compliance with such
laws or regulations, and serious harm to our reputation. In addition, federal procurement laws impose substantial penalties for misconduct in connection with
government contracts and require certain contractors to maintain a code of business ethics and conduct. If any such actions are instituted against us, and we are not
successful in defending ourselves or asserting our rights, those actions could have a significant impact on our business, including the imposition of civil, criminal
and administrative penalties, damages, monetary fines, possible exclusion from participation in Medicare, Medicaid and other federal healthcare programs,
contractual damages, reputational harm, diminished profits and future earnings, and curtailment of our operations, any of which could adversely affect our ability to
operate our business and our operating results.
Risks Related to Our Dependence on Third Parties
We expect to rely on third-party CROs and other third parties to conduct and oversee our clinical trials and other aspects of product development. If these
third parties do not meet our requirements or otherwise conduct the trials as required, we may not be able to satisfy our contractual obligations or obtain
regulatory approval for, or commercialize, our product candidates when expected or at all.
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We expect to rely on third-party CROs to conduct and oversee our clinical trials and other aspects of product development. We also rely upon various
medical institutions, clinical investigators and contract laboratories to conduct our trials in accordance with our clinical protocols and all applicable regulatory
requirements, including the FDA’s regulations and GCPs, which are an international standard meant to protect the rights and health of patients and to define the
roles of clinical trial sponsors, administrators and monitors, and state regulations governing the handling, storage, security and recordkeeping for drug products.
These CROs and other third parties play a significant role in the conduct of these trials and the subsequent collection and analysis of data from the clinical trials.
We rely heavily on these parties for the execution of our clinical trials and preclinical studies, and control only certain aspects of their activities. We and our CROs
and other third-party contractors are required to comply with GCP and GLP requirements, which are regulations and guidelines enforced by the FDA and
comparable foreign regulatory authorities for products in clinical development. Regulatory authorities enforce these GCP and GLP requirements through periodic
inspections of trial sponsors, principal investigators and trial sites. If we or any of these third parties fail to comply with applicable GCP and GLP requirements, the
clinical data generated in our clinical trials may be deemed unreliable and the FDA or other regulatory authority may require us to perform additional clinical trials
before approving our or our partners’ marketing applications. We cannot assure you that upon inspection by a given regulatory authority, such regulatory authority
will determine that any of our clinical or preclinical trials complies with applicable GCP and GLP requirements. In addition, our clinical trials must generally be
conducted with product produced under cGMP regulations. Our failure to comply with these regulations and policies may require us to repeat clinical trials, which
would delay the regulatory approval process.
If any of our CROs or clinical trial sites terminate their involvement in one of our clinical trials for any reason, we may not be able to enter into
arrangements with alternative CROs or clinical trial sites, or do so on commercially reasonable terms. In addition, if our relationship with clinical trial sites is
terminated, we may experience the loss of follow-up information on patients enrolled in our ongoing clinical trials unless we are able to transfer the care of those
patients to another qualified clinical trial site. In addition, principal investigators for our clinical trials may serve as scientific advisors or consultants to us from
time to time and could receive cash or equity compensation in connection with such services. If these relationships and any related compensation result in perceived
or actual conflicts of interest, the integrity of the data generated at the applicable clinical trial site may be questioned by the FDA.
We rely completely on third-party contractors to supply, manufacture and distribute clinical drug supplies for our product candidates, including certain
sole-source suppliers and manufacturers, we intend to rely on third parties for commercial supply, manufacturing and distribution if any of our product candidates
receive regulatory approval and we expect to rely on third parties for supply, manufacturing and distribution of preclinical, clinical and commercial supplies of any
future product candidates. We do not currently have, nor do we plan to acquire, the infrastructure or capability to supply, manufacture or distribute preclinical,
clinical or commercial quantities of drug substances or products.
Our ability to develop our product candidates depends and our ability to commercially supply our products will depend, in part, on our ability to
successfully obtain the active pharmaceutical ingredients (“ APIs ”) and other substances and materials used in our product candidates from third parties and to
have finished products manufactured by third parties in accordance with regulatory requirements and in sufficient quantities for preclinical and clinical testing
and commercialization. If we fail to develop and maintain supply relationships with these third parties, we may be unable to continue to develop or commercialize
our product candidates.
We do not have direct control over the ability of our contract suppliers and manufacturers to maintain adequate capacity and capabilities to serve our
needs, including quality control, quality assurance and qualified personnel. Although we are ultimately responsible for ensuring compliance with regulatory
requirements such as cGMPs, we are dependent on our contract suppliers and manufacturers for day-to-day compliance with cGMPs for production of both APIs
and finished products. Facilities used by our contract suppliers and manufacturers to produce the APIs and other substances and materials or finished products for
commercial sale must pass inspection and be approved by the FDA and other relevant regulatory authorities. Our contract suppliers and manufacturers must comply
with cGMP requirements enforced by the FDA through its facilities inspection program and review of submitted technical information. If the safety of any product
or product candidate or component is compromised due to a failure to adhere to applicable laws or for other reasons, we may not be able to successfully
commercialize or obtain regulatory approval for the affected product or product candidate, and we may be held liable for injuries sustained as a result. Any of these
factors could cause a delay or termination of preclinical studies, clinical trials or regulatory submissions or approvals of our product candidates, and could entail
higher costs or result in our being unable to effectively commercialize our approved products on a timely basis, or at all.
We also rely and will continue to rely on certain third parties as the sole source of the materials they supply or the finished products they manufacture. In
the event an existing supplier fails to supply product on a timely basis or in the requested amount, supplies product that fails to meet regulatory requirements,
becomes unavailable through business interruption or financial insolvency or loses its regulatory status as an approved source or if we or our manufacturers are
unable to renew current supply agreements when such agreements expire and we do not have a second supplier, we likely would incur added costs and delays in
identifying or qualifying replacement manufacturers and materials and there can be no assurance that replacements would be available to us on a timely basis, on
acceptable terms or at all. In certain cases we may be required to get regulatory approval to use alternative suppliers, and this process of approval could delay
production of our products or development of product candidates indefinitely. We and our manufacturers do not currently maintain inventory of these APIs and
other substances and materials. Any interruption in the supply of an API or other substance or material or in the manufacture of a finished product could have a
material adverse effect on our business, financial condition, operating results and prospects.
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In addition, these contract manufacturers are engaged with other companies to supply and manufacture materials or products for such companies, which
also exposes our suppliers and manufacturers to regulatory risks for the production of such materials and products. As a result, failure to meet the regulatory
requirements for the production of those materials and products may also affect the regulatory clearance of a contract supplier’s or manufacturer’s facility. If the
FDA or a comparable foreign regulatory agency does not approve these facilities for the supply or manufacture of our product candidates, or if it withdraws its
approval in the future, we may need to find alternative supply or manufacturing facilities, which would negatively impact our ability to develop, obtain regulatory
approval of or market our product candidates, if approved.
To date, our drug substances and product candidates have been manufactured in small quantities for preclinical studies and early-stage clinical trials. As
we prepare for later-stage clinical trials and potential commercialization, we will need to take steps to increase the scale of production of our drug substances and
product candidates, which may include transferring production to new third-party suppliers or manufacturers. In order to conduct larger or late-stage scale clinical
trials for our product candidates and supply sufficient commercial quantities of the resulting drug product and its components, if that product candidate is approved
for sale, our contract manufacturers and suppliers will need to produce our drug substances and product candidates in larger quantities, more cost effectively and, in
certain cases, at higher yields than they currently achieve. These third-party contractors may not be able to successfully increase the manufacturing capacity for any
of such drug substance and product candidates in a timely or cost-effective manner or at all. Significant scale up of manufacturing may require additional processes,
technologies and validation studies, which are costly, may not be successful and which the FDA and foreign regulatory authorities must review and approve. In
addition, quality issues may arise during those scale-up activities because of the inherent properties of a product candidate itself or of a product candidate in
combination with other components added during the manufacturing and packaging process, or during shipping and storage of the APIs or the finished product. If
our third-party contractors are unable to successfully scale up the manufacture of any of our product candidates in sufficient quality and quantity and at
commercially reasonable prices, and we are unable to find one or more replacement suppliers or manufacturers capable of production at a substantially equivalent
cost in substantially equivalent volumes and quality, and we are unable to successfully transfer the processes on a timely basis, the development of that product
candidate and regulatory approval or commercial launch for any resulting products may be delayed, or there may be a shortage in supply, either of which could
significantly harm our business, financial condition, operating results and prospects.
We expect to continue to depend on third-party contract suppliers and manufacturers for the foreseeable future. Our supply and manufacturing
agreements, if any, do not guarantee that a contract supplier or manufacturer will provide services adequate for our needs. We and our contract suppliers and
manufacturers continue to improve production processes, certain aspects of which are complex and unique, and we may encounter difficulties with new or existing
processes. While we attempt to build in certain contractual obligations on such third-party suppliers and manufacturers, we may not be able to ensure that such third
parties comply with these obligations. Depending on the extent of any difficulties encountered, we could experience an interruption in clinical or commercial
supply, with the result that the development, regulatory approval or commercialization of our product candidates may be delayed or interrupted. In addition, thirdparty suppliers and manufacturers may have the ability to increase the price payable by us for the supply of the APIs and other substances and materials used in our
product candidates, in some cases without our consent.
Additionally, any damage to or destruction of our third-party manufacturers’ or suppliers’ facilities or equipment may significantly impair our ability to
have our product candidates manufactured on a timely basis. Furthermore, if a contract manufacturer or supplier becomes financially distressed or insolvent, or
discontinues our relationship beyond the term of any existing agreement for any other reason, this could result in substantial management time and expense to
identify, qualify and transfer processes to alternative manufacturers or suppliers, and could lead to an interruption in clinical or commercial supply.
Our reliance on contract manufacturers and suppliers further exposes us to the possibility that they, or third parties with access to their facilities, will have
access to and may misappropriate our trade secrets or other proprietary information. In addition, the manufacturing facilities of certain of our suppliers are located
outside of the United States. This may give rise to difficulties in importing our products or product candidates or their components into the United States or other
countries as a result of, among other things, regulatory agency approval requirements or import inspections, incomplete or inaccurate import documentation or
defective packaging. It is also uncertain what impact the election of Donald Trump as President will have on our third-party suppliers in light of his public
statements.
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Because we currently rely on a sole supplier to manufacture the active pharmaceutical ingredients of certain of our product candidates, any production
problems with our supplier could adversely affect us.
We have relied upon supply agreements with third parties for the manufacture and supply of the bulk active pharmaceutical ingredients used in certain of
our product candidates for purposes of preclinical testing and clinical trials. We presently depend upon a single source as the sole manufacturer of our supply of
APIs for certain of our product candidates. Although we have identified alternate sources for these supplies, it would be time-consuming and costly to qualify these
sources. Since we currently obtain our API from this manufacturer on a purchase-order basis, either we or the supplier may terminate our arrangement, without
cause, at any time without notice. If our supplier was to terminate our arrangement or fail to meet our supply needs we might be forced to delay our development.
Manufacturing and supply of the APIs and other substances and materials used in our product candidates and finished drug products is a complex and
technically challenging undertaking, and there is potential for failure at many points in the manufacturing, testing, quality assurance and distribution supply chain,
as well as the potential for latent defects after products have been manufactured and distributed.
Manufacturing and supply of APIs, other substances and materials and finished drug products is technically challenging. Changes beyond our direct
control can impact the quality, volume, price and successful delivery of our product candidates and can impede, delay, limit or prevent the successful development
and commercialization of our product candidates. Mistakes and mishandling are not uncommon and can affect successful production and supply. Some of these
risks include:
●

failure of our manufacturers to follow cGMP requirements or mishandling of product while in production or in preparation for transit;

●

inability of our contract suppliers and manufacturers to efficiently and cost-effectively increase and maintain high yields and batch quality,
consistency and stability;

●

difficulty in establishing optimal drug delivery substances and techniques, production and storage methods and packaging and shipment processes;

●

transportation and import/export risk, particularly given the global nature of our supply chain;

●

delays in analytical results or failure of analytical techniques that we depend on for quality control and release of product;

●

natural disasters, labor disputes, financial distress, lack of raw material supply, issues with facilities and equipment or other forms of disruption to
business operations of our contract manufacturers and suppliers; and

●

latent defects that may become apparent after product has been released and which may result in recall and destruction of product.

Any of these factors could result in delays or higher costs in connection with our clinical trials, regulatory submissions, required approvals or
commercialization of our products, which could harm our business, financial condition, operating results and prospects.
If we are not able to establish and maintain collaborations, we may have to alter our development and commercialization plans.
The development and potential commercialization of our product candidates will require substantial additional cash to fund expenses. In order to fund
further development of our product candidates, we may collaborate with pharmaceutical and biotechnology companies for the development and potential
commercialization of those product candidates. We face significant competition in seeking appropriate partners. Whether we reach a definitive agreement for a
collaboration will depend, among other things, upon our assessment of the partner’s resources and experience, the terms and conditions of the proposed
collaboration and the proposed partner’s evaluation of a number of factors. Those factors may include the design or results of clinical trials; the likelihood of
approval by the FDA or other regulatory authorities; the potential market for the subject product candidate; the costs and complexities of manufacturing and
delivering such product candidate to patients; the potential of competing products; any uncertainty with respect to our ownership of our intellectual property; and
industry and market conditions generally. The partner may also consider alternative product candidates or technologies for similar indications that may be available
for collaboration and whether such a collaboration could be more attractive than the one with us for our product candidate. We may also be restricted under future
license agreements from entering into agreements on certain terms with potential partners. Collaborations are complex and time-consuming to negotiate and
document. In addition, there have been a significant number of recent business combinations among large pharmaceutical companies that have resulted in a reduced
number of potential future partners. Collaborations typically impose detailed obligations on each party. If we were to breach our obligations, we may face
substantial consequences, including potential termination of the collaboration, and our rights to our partners’ product candidates, in which we have invested
substantial time and money, would be lost.
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We may not be successful in our efforts to implement collaborations or other alternative arrangements for the development of our product candidates.
When we partner with a third party for development and commercialization of a product candidate, we can expect to relinquish to the third party some or all of the
control over the future success of that product candidate. Our collaboration partner may not devote sufficient resources to the commercialization of our product
candidates or may otherwise fail in their commercialization. The terms of any collaboration or other arrangement that we establish may not be favorable to us. In
addition, any collaboration that we enter into may be unsuccessful in the development and commercialization of our product candidates. In some cases, we may be
responsible for continuing preclinical and initial clinical development of a partnered product candidate or research program, and the payment we receive from our
collaboration partner may be insufficient to cover the cost of this development.
We may not be able to negotiate collaborations on a timely basis, on acceptable terms or at all. If we are unable to do so, we may have to curtail the
development of a product candidate, reduce or delay its development program or one or more of our other development programs, delay its potential
commercialization or increase our expenditures and undertake development or commercialization activities at our own expense. If we elect to increase our
expenditures to fund development or commercialization activities on our own, we may need to obtain additional capital, which may not be available to us on
acceptable terms or at all. If we do not have sufficient funds, we may not be able to further develop our product candidates or bring them to market and generate
product revenue.
Risks Related to Our Business and Financial Operations
We will need to further increase the size and complexity of our organization in the future, and we may experience difficulties in executing our growth
strategy and managing any growth.
Our management, personnel, systems and facilities currently in place are not adequate to support our business plan and future growth. We will need to
further expand our scientific, clinical, managerial, operational, financial and other resources to support our planned research, development and commercialization
activities, all of which will require additional capital resources.
Our need to manage our operations, growth and various projects effectively requires that we:
●

continue to improve our operational, clinical, financial, management and regulatory compliance controls and reporting systems and procedures;

●

attract and retain sufficient numbers of talented employees;

●

manage our preclinical and clinical trials effectively;

●

manage our third-party supply and manufacturing operations effectively and in a cost-effective manner, while increasing production capabilities for
our current product candidates to commercial levels;

●

manage our development efforts effectively while carrying out our contractual obligations to partners and other third parties;

●

manage our commercialization activities for our product candidates effectively and in a cost-effective manner; and

●

establish and maintain relationships with development and commercialization partners.

In addition, historically, we have utilized and continue to utilize the services of part-time outside consultants to perform a number of tasks for us,
including tasks related to preclinical and clinical testing. Our growth strategy may also entail expanding our use of consultants to implement these and other tasks
going forward. We rely on consultants for certain functions of our business and will need to effectively manage these consultants to ensure that they successfully
carry out their contractual obligations and meet expected deadlines. There can be no assurance that we will be able to manage our existing consultants or find other
competent outside consultants, as needed, on economically reasonable terms, or at all. If we are not able to effectively manage our growth and expand our
organization by hiring new employees and expanding our use of consultants, we might be unable to implement successfully the tasks necessary to execute
effectively on our planned research, development and commercialization activities and, accordingly, might not achieve our research, development and
commercialization goals.
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If we fail to attract and retain management and other key personnel, we may be unable to continue to successfully develop or commercialize our product
candidates or otherwise implement our business plan.
Our ability to compete in the highly competitive pharmaceuticals industry depends upon our ability to attract and retain highly qualified managerial,
clinical, scientific, medical, sales and marketing and other personnel. We are highly dependent on our management and scientific personnel, including our Chief
Executive Officer, Chief Scientific Officer and our Senior Vice President – Finance, Treasurer and Secretary, certain consultants and members of our Board of
Directors who are well known and respected in our industry. The loss of the services of any of these individuals could impede, delay or prevent the successful
development of our product pipeline, completion of our planned clinical trials, commercialization of our product candidates or in-licensing or acquisition of new
assets and could negatively impact our ability to successfully implement our business plan. If we lose the services of any of these individuals, we might not be able
to find suitable replacements on a timely basis or at all, and our business could be harmed as a result. We do not maintain “key man” insurance policies on the lives
of these individuals or the lives of any of our other employees. With the exception of our Chief Executive Officer, Chief Scientific Officer and our Senior Vice
President – Finance and Treasurer, each of whom is subject to an employment agreement, we employ our executive officers and key personnel on an at-will basis
and their employment can be terminated by us or them at any time, for any reason and without notice. In order to retain valuable employees at our company, in
addition to salary and cash incentives, we provide stock options that vest over time. The value to employees of stock options that vest over time will be
significantly affected by movements in our stock price that are beyond our control, and may at any time be insufficient to counteract offers from other companies.
We might not be able to attract or retain qualified management and other key personnel in the future due to the intense competition for qualified personnel
among biotechnology, pharmaceutical and other businesses, particularly in the Charlottesville, Virginia area where we are headquartered. We could have difficulty
attracting experienced personnel to our company and may be required to expend significant financial resources in our employee recruitment and retention efforts.
Many of the other pharmaceutical companies with whom we compete for qualified personnel have greater financial and other resources, different risk profiles and
longer histories in the industry than we do. They also may provide more diverse opportunities and better chances for career advancement. If we are not able to
attract and retain the necessary personnel to accomplish our business objectives, we may experience constraints that will harm our ability to implement our business
strategy and achieve our business objectives.
We currently have no sales and marketing personnel or capabilities. If we are unable to establish sales and marketing capabilities on our own or through
third parties when we are ready to commercialize our product candidates, we will be unable to successfully commercialize our product candidates, if approved, or
generate product revenue.
We currently have no sales and marketing personnel or capabilities. To commercialize our product candidates, if approved, in the United States, Canada,
the European Union and other jurisdictions we may seek to enter, we must build our marketing, sales, distribution, managerial and other non-technical capabilities
or make arrangements with third parties to perform these services, and we may not be successful in doing so. We as a company have no prior experience in the
marketing, sale and distribution of pharmaceutical products and there are significant risks involved in building and managing a sales organization, including our
ability to hire, retain and incentivize qualified individuals, generate sufficient sales leads, provide adequate training to sales and marketing personnel and
effectively manage a geographically dispersed sales and marketing team. Any failure or delay in the development of our internal sales, marketing and distribution
capabilities would adversely impact the commercialization of these products. We may choose to collaborate with additional third parties that have direct sales
forces and established distribution systems, either to augment our own sales force and distribution systems or in lieu of our own sales force and distribution
systems. If we are unable to enter into such arrangements on acceptable terms or at all, we may not be able to successfully commercialize our product candidates.
The inability to successfully commercialize our product candidates, either on our own or through collaborations with one or more third parties, would harm our
business, financial condition, operating results and prospects.
Our failure to successfully in-license, acquire, develop and market additional product candidates or approved products would impair our ability to grow
our business.
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We are considering activities to in-license, acquire, develop and market additional products and product candidates. If we implement these activities, we
may be dependent upon pharmaceutical companies, academic scientists and other researchers to sell or license products or technology to us. The success of this
strategy depends partly upon our ability to identify and select promising pharmaceutical product candidates and products, negotiate licensing or acquisition
agreements with their current owners and finance these arrangements.
The process of proposing, negotiating and implementing a license or acquisition of a product candidate or approved product is lengthy and complex. Other
companies, including some with substantially greater financial, marketing, sales and other resources, may compete with us for the license or acquisition of product
candidates and approved products. We have limited resources to identify and execute the acquisition or in-licensing of third-party products, businesses and
technologies and integrate them into our current infrastructure. Moreover, we may devote resources to potential acquisitions or licensing opportunities that are
never completed, or we may fail to realize the anticipated benefits of such efforts. We may not be able to acquire the rights to additional product candidates on
terms that we find acceptable, or at all.
Further, any product candidate that we acquire may require additional development efforts prior to commercial sale, including preclinical or clinical
testing and approval by the FDA and applicable foreign regulatory authorities. All product candidates are prone to risks of failure typical of pharmaceutical product
development, including the possibility that a product candidate will not be shown to be sufficiently safe and effective for approval by regulatory authorities. In
addition, we cannot provide assurance that any approved products that we acquire will be manufactured or sold profitably or achieve market acceptance.
If we implement activities to in-license and acquire product candidates and we in-license and acquire commercial-stage products or engage in other
strategic transactions, it could impact our liquidity, increase our expenses and present significant distractions to our management.
If we implement a strategy to in-license and acquire product candidates, we may in-license and acquire commercial-stage products or engage in other
strategic transactions. Additional potential transactions that we may consider include a variety of different business arrangements, including spin-offs, strategic
partnerships, joint ventures, restructurings, divestitures, business combinations and investments. Any such transaction may require us to incur non-recurring or
other charges, may increase our near- and long-term expenditures and may pose significant integration challenges or disrupt our management or business, which
could adversely affect our operations and financial results. For example, these transactions entail numerous potential operational and financial risks, including:
●

exposure to unknown liabilities;

●

disruption of our business and diversion of our management’s time and attention in order to develop acquired products, product candidates or
technologies;

●

incurrence of substantial debt or dilutive issuances of equity securities to pay for acquisitions;

●

substantial acquisition and integration costs;

●

write-downs of assets or impairment charges;

●

increased amortization expenses;

●

difficulty and cost in combining the operations and personnel of any acquired businesses with our operations and personnel;

●

impairment of relationships with key suppliers, partners or customers of any acquired businesses due to changes in management and ownership; and

●

inability to retain our key employees or those of any acquired businesses.

Accordingly, there can be no assurance that we will undertake or successfully complete any transactions of the nature described above, and any
transaction that we do complete could harm our business, financial condition, operating results and prospects. We have no current plan, commitment or obligation
to enter into any other transaction described above.
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Our operating results may fluctuate significantly, which makes our future operating results difficult to predict and could cause our operating results to
fall below expectations.
Our near-term operations will be limited primarily to researching and developing our product candidates and undertaking preclinical studies and clinical
trials of our product candidates. We have not yet obtained regulatory approvals for any of our product candidates. Consequently, any predictions you make about
our future success or viability may not be as accurate as they could be if we had a longer operating history or approved products on the market. From time to time,
we may enter into collaboration agreements and license agreements with other companies that include development funding and significant upfront and milestone
expenditures and payments, and we expect that amounts earned from or paid pursuant to these agreements will be a significant source of our capital expenditures
and an important source of our revenue. Accordingly, our revenue and profitability may depend on development funding and the achievement of development and
clinical milestones under potential future collaboration and license agreements and sales of our products, if approved. These upfront and milestone payments may
vary significantly from period to period and any such variance could cause a significant fluctuation in our operating results from one period to the next. In addition,
we measure compensation cost for stock-based awards made to employees at the grant date of the award, based on the fair value of the award as determined by our
Board, and recognize the cost as an expense over the employee’s requisite service period. As the variables that we use as a basis for valuing these awards change
over time, including our underlying stock price and estimated volatility, the magnitude of the expense that we must recognize may vary significantly. Furthermore,
our operating results may fluctuate due to a variety of other factors, many of which are outside of our control and may be difficult to predict, including the
following:
●

delays in the commencement, enrollment and the timing of clinical testing for our product candidates;

●

the timing and success or failure of clinical trials for our product candidates or competing product candidates, or any other change in the competitive
landscape of our industry, including consolidation among our competitors or partners;

●

any delays in regulatory review and approval of product candidates in clinical development;

●

the timing and cost of, and level of investment in, research and development activities relating to our product candidates, which may change from
time to time;

●

the cost of manufacturing our product candidates, which may vary depending on FDA guidelines and requirements, and the quantity of production;

●

our ability to obtain additional funding to develop our product candidates;

●

expenditures that we will or may incur to acquire or develop additional product candidates and technologies;

●

the level of demand for our product candidates, should they receive approval, which may vary significantly;

●

potential side effects of our product candidates that could delay or prevent commercialization or cause an approved drug to be taken off the market;

●

the ability of patients or healthcare providers to obtain coverage of or sufficient reimbursement for our product candidates, if approved;

●

our dependency on third-party manufacturers to supply or manufacture our product candidates;

●

our ability to establish an effective sales, marketing and distribution infrastructure in a timely manner;

●

market acceptance of our product candidates, if approved, and our ability to forecast demand for those product candidates;

●

our ability to receive approval and commercialize our product candidates outside of the United States;

●

our ability to establish and maintain collaborations, licensing or other arrangements;

●

our ability and third parties’ abilities to protect intellectual property rights;
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●

costs related to and outcomes of potential litigation or other disputes;

●

our ability to adequately support future growth;

●

our ability to attract and retain key personnel to manage our business effectively;

●

our ability to maintain adequate insurance policies; and

●

future accounting pronouncements or changes in our accounting policies.

If we fail to comply with environmental, health and safety laws and regulations, we could become subject to fines or penalties or incur significant costs.
In connection with our research and development activities and our manufacture of materials and product candidates, we are subject to federal, state and
local laws, rules, regulations and policies governing the use, generation, manufacture, storage, air emission, effluent discharge, handling and disposal of certain
materials, biological specimens and wastes. Although we believe that we have complied with the applicable laws, regulations and policies in all material respects
and have not been required to correct any material noncompliance, we may be required to incur significant costs to comply with environmental and health and
safety regulations in the future. Current or future laws and regulations may impair our research, development or production efforts. Failure to comply with these
laws and regulations also may result in substantial fines, penalties or other sanctions.
Our operating results and liquidity needs could be negatively affected by market fluctuations and economic downturn.
Our operating results and liquidity could be negatively affected by economic conditions generally, both in the United States and elsewhere around the
world. Domestic and international equity and debt markets have experienced and may continue to experience heightened volatility and turmoil based on domestic
and international economic conditions and concerns. In the event these economic conditions and concerns continue or worsen and the markets continue to remain
volatile, our operating results and liquidity could be adversely affected by those factors in many ways, including weakening demand for certain of our product
candidates and making it more difficult for us to raise funds if necessary, and our stock price may decline. Additionally, although we plan to market our products
primarily in the United States, our partners may have extensive global operations, indirectly exposing us to risk.
Our ability to utilize our net operating loss ( “ NOL ” ) carryforwards and other deferred tax assets may be limited.
As of December 31, 2016, the Company had NOL carryforwards available to reduce future taxable income, if any, for income tax purposes. If not utilized,
the federal and Virginia NOL carryforwards will begin expiring during the year ending December 31, 2034. Under Section 382 of Internal Revenue Code of 1986,
as amended (the “ Code ”) , if a corporation undergoes an “ownership change,” generally defined as a greater than 50% change (by value) in its equity ownership
over a three-year period, the corporation’s ability to use its pre-change NOL carryforwards and other pre-change tax attributes (such as research tax credits) to
offset its post-change income may be limited. We believe that our recent merger, and other transactions that have occurred, triggered an “ownership change”
limitation that significantly limited our ability to utilize our NOL carryforwards. We may also experience ownership changes in the future as a result of the ongoing
Private Placement and subsequent shifts in our stock ownership. As a result, if we earn net taxable income, our ability to use our pre-change NOL carryforwards
and other deferred tax assets to offset U.S. federal taxable income may be subject to limitations, which could potentially result in increased future tax liability to us.
In addition, similar limitations may apply at the state level and there may be periods during which the use of NOL carryforwards is suspended or otherwise limited,
which could accelerate or permanently increase state taxes owed.
We may be adversely affected by natural disasters and other catastrophic events, and by man-made problems such as terrorism, that could disrupt our
business operations and our business continuity and disaster recovery plans may not adequately protect us from a serious disaster.
Our corporate headquarters are located in Charlottesville, Virginia. If a disaster, power outage or other event occurred that prevented us from using all or a
significant portion of our headquarters, that damaged critical infrastructure, such as enterprise financial systems, manufacturing resource planning or enterprise
quality systems, or that otherwise disrupted operations, it may be difficult or, in certain cases, impossible for us to continue our business for a substantial period of
time. Our contract manufacturers’ and suppliers’ facilities are located in multiple locations, where other natural disasters or similar events, such as blizzards,
tornadoes, earthquakes, fires, explosions or large-scale accidents or power outages, could severely disrupt our operations and have a material adverse effect on our
business, financial condition, operating results and prospects. In addition, acts of terrorism and other geo-political unrest could cause disruptions in our business or
the businesses of our partners, manufacturers or the economy as a whole. All of the aforementioned risks may be further increased if we do not implement a
disaster recovery plan or our partners’ or manufacturers’ disaster recovery plans prove to be inadequate. To the extent that any of the above should result in delays
in the regulatory approval, manufacture, distribution or commercialization of our product candidates, our business, financial condition, operating results and
prospects would suffer.
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Our business and operations would suffer in the event of failures in our internal computer systems.
Despite the implementation of security measures, our internal computer systems and those of our current and any future partners, contractors and
consultants are vulnerable to damage from computer viruses, unauthorized access, natural disasters, terrorism, war and telecommunication and electrical failures.
While we have not experienced any such material system failure, accident or security breach to date, if such an event were to occur and cause interruptions in our
operations, it could result in a material disruption of our manufacturing activities, development programs and our business operations. For example, the loss of
manufacturing records or clinical trial data from completed or future clinical trials could result in delays in our regulatory approval efforts and significantly increase
our costs to recover or reproduce the data. To the extent that any disruption or security breach were to result in a loss of, or damage to, our data or applications, or
inappropriate disclosure of confidential or proprietary information, we could incur liability and the further commercialization and development of our products and
product candidates could be delayed.
Risks Related to Our Intellectual Property
We may not be able to obtain or enforce patent rights or other intellectual property rights that cover our product candidates and technologies that are of
sufficient breadth to prevent third parties from competing against us.
Our success with respect to our product candidates and technologies will depend in part on our ability to obtain and maintain patent protection in both the
United States and other countries, to preserve our trade secrets and to prevent third parties from infringing upon our proprietary rights. Our ability to protect any of
our product candidates from unauthorized or infringing use by third parties depends in substantial part on our ability to obtain and maintain valid and enforceable
patents.
Our patent portfolio includes patents and patent applications in the United States and foreign jurisdictions where we believe there is a market opportunity
for our products. The covered technology and the scope of coverage vary from country to country. For those countries where we do not have granted patents, we
may not have any ability to prevent the unauthorized use of our technologies. Any patents that we may obtain may be narrow in scope and thus easily circumvented
by competitors. Further, in countries where we do not have granted patents, third parties may be able to make, use or sell products identical to or substantially
similar to, our product candidates.
The patent application process, also known as patent prosecution, is expensive and time-consuming, and we and our current or future licensors and
licensees may not be able to prepare, file and prosecute all necessary or desirable patent applications at a reasonable cost or in a timely manner. It is also possible
that we or our current licensors, or any future licensors or licensees, will fail to identify patentable aspects of inventions made in the course of development and
commercialization activities before it is too late to obtain patent protection on them. Therefore, these and any of our patents and applications may not be prosecuted
and enforced in a manner consistent with the best interests of our business. It is possible that defects of form in the preparation or filing of our patents or patent
applications may exist, or may arise in the future, such as with respect to proper priority claims, inventorship, claim scope or patent term adjustments. If our current
licensors, or any future licensors or licensees, are not fully cooperative or disagree with us as to the prosecution, maintenance or enforcement of any patent rights,
such patent rights could be compromised and we might not be able to prevent third parties from making, using and selling competing products. If there are material
defects in the form or preparation of our patents or patent applications, such patents or applications may be invalid and unenforceable. Moreover, our competitors
may independently develop equivalent knowledge, methods and know-how. Any of these outcomes could impair our ability to prevent competition from third
parties, which may have an adverse impact on our business, financial condition and operating results.
Due to legal standards relating to patentability, validity, enforceability and claim scope of patents covering pharmaceutical inventions, our ability to
obtain, maintain and enforce patents is uncertain and involves complex legal and factual questions. Accordingly, rights under any existing patents or any patents we
might obtain or license may not cover our product candidates, or may not provide us with sufficient protection for our product candidates to afford a commercial
advantage against competitive products or processes, including those from branded and generic pharmaceutical companies. In addition, we cannot guarantee that
any patents will issue from any pending or future patent applications owned by or licensed to us. Even if patents have issued or will issue, we cannot guarantee that
the claims of these patents are or will be held valid or enforceable by the courts or will provide us with any significant protection against competitive products or
otherwise be commercially valuable to us.
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Competitors in the fields of oncology have created a substantial amount of prior art, including scientific publications, patents and patent applications. Our
ability to obtain and maintain valid and enforceable patents depends on whether the differences between our technology and the prior art allow our technology to be
patentable over the prior art. Although we believe that our technology includes certain inventions that are unique and not duplicative of any prior art, we do not
have outstanding issued patents covering all of the recent developments in our technology and we are unsure of the patent protection that we will be successful in
obtaining, if any. Even if the patents do successfully issue, third parties may design around or challenge the validity, enforceability or scope of such issued patents
or any other issued patents we own or license, which may result in such patents being narrowed, invalidated or held unenforceable. If the breadth or strength of
protection provided by the patents we hold or pursue with respect to our product candidates is challenged, it could dissuade companies from collaborating with us
to develop, or threaten our ability to commercialize, our product candidates.
The laws of some foreign jurisdictions do not provide intellectual property rights to the same extent as in the United States and many companies have
encountered significant difficulties in protecting and defending such rights in foreign jurisdictions. If we encounter such difficulties in protecting or are otherwise
precluded from effectively protecting our intellectual property in foreign jurisdictions, our business prospects could be substantially harmed. The patent positions of
pharmaceutical and biotechnology companies can be highly uncertain and involve complex legal and factual questions for which important legal principles remain
unresolved. Changes in either the patent laws or in the interpretations of patent laws in the United States and other countries may diminish the value of our
intellectual property. Accordingly, we cannot predict the breadth of claims that may be allowed or enforced in our patents or in third-party patents.
The degree of future protection of our proprietary rights is uncertain. Patent protection may be unavailable or severely limited in some cases and may not
adequately protect our rights or permit us to gain or keep our competitive advantage. For example:
●

we might not have been the first to invent or the first to file the inventions covered by each of our pending patent applications and issued patents;

●

others may independently develop similar or alternative technologies or duplicate any of our technologies;

●

the patents of others may have an adverse effect on our business;

●

any patents we obtain or our licensors’ issued patents may not encompass commercially viable products, may not provide us with any competitive
advantages or may be challenged by third parties;

●

any patents we obtain or our in-licensed issued patents may not be valid or enforceable; and

●

we may not develop additional proprietary technologies that are patentable.

Patents have a limited lifespan. In the United States, the natural expiration of a patent is generally 20 years after it is filed. Various extensions may be
available; however the life of a patent, and the protection it affords, is limited. Without patent protection for our product candidates, we may be open to competition
from generic versions of our product candidates. Further, the extensive period of time between patent filing and regulatory approval for a product candidate limits
the time during which we can market a product candidate under patent protection, which may particularly affect the profitability of our early-stage product
candidates.
Proprietary trade secrets and unpatented know-how are also very important to our business. Although we have taken steps to protect our trade secrets and
unpatented know-how by entering into confidentiality agreements with third parties, and intellectual property protection agreements with certain employees,
consultants and advisors, third parties may still obtain this information or we may be unable to protect our rights. We also have limited control over the protection
of trade secrets used by our suppliers, manufacturers and other third parties. There can be no assurance that binding agreements will not be breached, that we would
have adequate remedies for any breach or that our trade secrets and unpatented know-how will not otherwise become known or be independently discovered by our
competitors. If trade secrets are independently discovered, we would not be able to prevent their use. Enforcing a claim that a third party illegally obtained and is
using our trade secrets or unpatented know-how is expensive and time-consuming, and the outcome is unpredictable. In addition, courts outside the United States
may be less willing to protect trade secret information.
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Changes in patent law could diminish the value of patents in general, thereby impairing our ability to protect our product candidates.
The United States has recently enacted and is currently implementing wide-ranging patent reform legislation. Further, recent U.S. Supreme Court rulings
have either narrowed the scope of patent protection available in certain circumstances or weakened the rights of patent owners in certain situations. In addition to
increasing uncertainty with regard to our ability to obtain patents in the future, this combination of events has created uncertainty with respect to the scope and
value of patents, once obtained.
For our U.S. patent applications containing a priority claim after March 16, 2013, there is a greater level of uncertainty in the patent law. In September
2011, the Leahy-Smith America Invents Act, also known as the America Invents Act (“ AIA ”) was signed into law. The AIA includes a number of significant
changes to U.S. patent law, including provisions that affect the way patent applications will be prosecuted and may also affect patent litigation. The USPTO is
currently developing regulations and procedures to govern administration of the AIA, and many of the substantive changes to patent law associated with the AIA. It
is not clear what other, if any, impact the AIA will have on the operation of our business. Moreover, the AIA and its implementation could increase the
uncertainties and costs surrounding the prosecution of our patent applications and the enforcement or defense of our issued patents, all of which could have an
adverse effect on our business. An important change introduced by the AIA is that, as of March 16, 2013, the United States transitioned to a “first-to-file” system
for deciding which party should be granted a patent when two or more patent applications are filed by different parties claiming the same invention. A third party
that files a patent application in the USPTO after that date but before us could therefore be awarded a patent covering an invention of ours even if we had made the
invention before it was made by the third party. This will require us to be cognizant going forward of the time from invention to filing of a patent application.
Among some of the other changes introduced by the AIA are changes that limit where a patentee may file a patent infringement suit and providing
opportunities for third parties to challenge any issued patent in the USPTO. This applies to all of our U.S. patents, even those issued before March 16, 2013.
Because of a lower evidentiary standard in USPTO proceedings compared to the evidentiary standard in United States federal court necessary to invalidate a patent
claim, a third party could potentially provide evidence in a USPTO proceeding sufficient for the USPTO to hold a claim invalid even though the same evidence
would be insufficient to invalidate the claim if first presented in a district court action. Accordingly, a third party may attempt to use the USPTO procedures to
invalidate our patent claims that would not have been invalidated if first challenged by the third party as a defendant in a district court action.
Depending on decisions by the U.S. Congress, the U.S. federal courts, the USPTO or similar authorities in foreign jurisdictions, the laws and regulations
governing patents could change in unpredictable ways that may weaken our and our licensors’ ability to obtain new patents or to enforce existing patents we and
our licensors or partners may obtain in the future.
We may not be able to protect our intellectual property rights throughout the world.
Filing, prosecuting and defending patents on our product candidates in all countries throughout the world would be prohibitively expensive. The
requirements for patentability may differ in certain countries, particularly developing countries. In addition, the laws of some foreign countries do not protect
intellectual property rights to the same extent as laws in the United States. Consequently, we may not be able to prevent third parties from practicing our inventions
in all countries outside the United States. Competitors may use our technologies in jurisdictions where we have not obtained patent protection to develop their own
products and, further, may export otherwise infringing products to territories where we have patent protection, but enforcement on infringing activities is
inadequate. These products may compete with our products, and our patents or other intellectual property rights may not be effective or sufficient to prevent them
from competing.

49

Many companies have encountered significant problems in protecting and defending intellectual property rights in foreign jurisdictions. The legal systems
of certain countries, particularly certain developing countries, do not favor the enforcement of patents and other intellectual property protection, particularly those
relating to pharmaceuticals, which could make it difficult for us to stop the infringement of our patents or marketing of competing products in violation of our
proprietary rights generally. Proceedings to enforce our patent rights in foreign jurisdictions could result in substantial costs and divert our efforts and attention
from other aspects of our business, could put our patents at risk of being invalidated or interpreted narrowly and our patent applications at risk of not issuing, and
could provoke third parties to assert claims against us. We may not prevail in any lawsuits that we initiate and the damages or other remedies awarded, if any, may
not be commercially meaningful. In addition, certain countries in Europe and certain developing countries have compulsory licensing laws under which a patent
owner may be compelled to grant licenses to third parties. In those countries, we may have limited remedies if our patents are infringed or if we are compelled to
grant a license to our patents to a third party, which could materially diminish the value of those patents. This could limit our potential revenue opportunities.
Accordingly, our efforts to enforce our intellectual property rights around the world may be inadequate to obtain a significant commercial advantage from the
intellectual property that we own or license. Finally, our ability to protect and enforce our intellectual property rights may be adversely affected by unforeseen
changes in foreign intellectual property laws.
Obtaining and maintaining our patent protection depends on compliance with various procedural, document submission, fee payment and other
requirements imposed by governmental patent agencies, and our patent protection could be reduced or eliminated for non-compliance with these requirements.
Periodic maintenance and annuity fees on any issued patent are due to be paid to the USPTO and foreign patent agencies in several stages over the lifetime
of the patent. The USPTO and various foreign governmental patent agencies require compliance with a number of procedural, documentary, fee payment and other
similar provisions during the patent application process. While an inadvertent lapse can in many cases be cured by payment of a late fee or by other means in
accordance with the applicable rules, there are situations in which noncompliance can result in abandonment or lapse of the patent or patent application, resulting in
partial or complete loss of patent rights in the relevant jurisdiction. Non-compliance events that could result in abandonment or lapse of a patent or patent
application include failure to respond to official actions within prescribed time limits, non-payment of fees and failure to properly legalize and submit formal
documents. If we or our licensors fail to maintain the patents and patent applications covering our product candidates, our competitors might be able to enter the
market, which would have an adverse effect on our business.
If we are sued for infringing intellectual property rights of third parties, it will be costly and time-consuming, and an unfavorable outcome in that
litigation could have a material adverse effect on our business.
Our commercial success depends upon our ability to develop, manufacture, market and sell our product candidates and use our proprietary technologies
without infringing the proprietary rights of third parties. We cannot assure you that marketing and selling such candidates and using such technologies will not
infringe existing or future patents. Numerous U.S. and foreign issued patents and pending patent applications owned by third parties exist in the fields relating to
our product candidates. As the biotechnology and pharmaceutical industries expand and more patents are issued, the risk increases that others may assert that our
product candidates, technologies or methods of delivery or use infringe their patent rights. Moreover, it is not always clear to industry participants, including us,
which patents cover various drugs, biologics, drug delivery systems or their methods of use, and which of these patents may be valid and enforceable. Thus,
because of the large number of patents issued and patent applications filed in our fields, there may be a risk that third parties may allege they have patent rights
encompassing our product candidates, technologies or methods.
In addition, there may be issued patents of third parties that are infringed or are alleged to be infringed by our product candidates or proprietary
technologies. Because some patent applications in the United States may be maintained in secrecy until the patents are issued, because patent applications in the
United States and many foreign jurisdictions are typically not published until eighteen (18) months after filing and because publications in the scientific literature
often lag behind actual discoveries, we cannot be certain that others have not filed patent applications for technology covered by our own and in-licensed issued
patents or our pending applications. Our competitors may have filed, and may in the future file, patent applications covering our product candidates or technology
similar to ours. Any such patent application may have priority over our own and in-licensed patent applications or patents, which could further require us to obtain
rights to issued patents covering such technologies. If another party has filed a U.S. patent application on inventions similar to those owned or in-licensed to us, we
or, in the case of in-licensed technology, the licensor may have to participate, in the United States, in an interference proceeding to determine priority of invention.
We may be exposed to, or threatened with, future litigation by third parties having patent or other intellectual property rights alleging that our product
candidates or proprietary technologies infringe such third parties’ intellectual property rights, including litigation resulting from filing under Paragraph IV of the
Hatch-Waxman Act. These lawsuits could claim that there are existing patent rights for such drug and this type of litigation can be costly and could adversely affect
our operating results and divert the attention of managerial and technical personnel, even if we do not infringe such patents or the patents asserted against us are
ultimately established as invalid. There is a risk that a court would decide that we are infringing the third party’s patents and would order us to stop the activities
covered by the patents. In addition, there is a risk that a court will order us to pay the other party damages for having violated the other party’s patents.
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There is a substantial amount of litigation involving patent and other intellectual property rights in the biotechnology and pharmaceutical industries
generally. To date, no litigation asserting infringement claims has been brought against us. If a third party claims that we infringe its intellectual property rights, we
may face a number of issues, including:
●

infringement and other intellectual property claims which, regardless of merit, may be expensive and time-consuming to litigate and may divert our
management’s attention from our core business;

●

substantial damages for infringement, which we may have to pay if a court decides that the product or technology at issue infringes or violates the
third party’s rights, and if the court finds that the infringement was willful, we could be ordered to pay treble damages and the patent owner’s
attorneys’ fees;

●

a court prohibiting us from selling or licensing the product or using the technology unless the third party licenses its intellectual property rights to us,
which it is not required to do;

●

if a license is available from a third party, we may have to pay substantial royalties or upfront fees or grant cross-licenses to intellectual property
rights for our products or technologies; and

●

redesigning our products or processes so they do not infringe, which may not be possible or may require substantial monetary expenditures and time.

Some of our competitors may be able to sustain the costs of complex patent litigation more effectively than we can because they have substantially greater
resources. In addition, any uncertainties resulting from the initiation and continuation of any litigation could harm our ability to raise additional funds or otherwise
adversely affect our business, financial condition, operating results and prospects.
Because we may in the future rely on certain third-party licensors and partners, if one of those licensors or partners is sued for infringing a third party’s
intellectual property rights, our business, financial condition, operating results and prospects could suffer in the same manner as if we were sued directly. In
addition to facing litigation risks, we may agree in the future to indemnify certain third-party licensors and partners against claims of infringement caused by our
proprietary technologies, and we may enter into cost-sharing agreements with some our licensors and partners that could require us to pay some of the costs of
patent litigation brought against those third parties whether or not the alleged infringement is caused by our proprietary technologies. In certain instances, these
cost-sharing agreements could also require us to assume greater responsibility for infringement damages than would be assumed just on the basis of our technology.
The occurrence of any of the foregoing could adversely affect our business, financial condition, operating results and prospects.
We may become involved in lawsuits to protect or enforce our patents or other intellectual property which could be expensive and time-consuming.
Competitors may infringe our intellectual property, including our patents. As a result, we may be required to file infringement claims to stop third-party
infringement or unauthorized use. This can be expensive, particularly for a company of our size, and time-consuming. In addition, in an infringement proceeding, a
court may decide that a patent of ours is not valid or is unenforceable, or may refuse to stop the other party from using the technology at issue on the grounds that
our patent claims do not cover its technology or that the factors necessary to grant an injunction against an infringer are not satisfied. An adverse determination of
any litigation or other proceedings could put one or more of our patents at risk of being invalidated, interpreted narrowly or amended such that they do not cover
our product candidates. Moreover, such adverse determinations could put our patent applications at risk of not issuing, or issuing with limited and potentially
inadequate scope to cover our product candidates or to prevent others from marketing similar products.
Interference, derivation or other proceedings brought at the USPTO may be necessary to determine the priority or patentability of inventions with respect
to our patent applications or those of our licensors or potential partners. Litigation or USPTO proceedings brought by us may fail or may be invoked against us by
third parties. Even if we are successful, domestic or foreign litigation or USPTO or foreign patent office proceedings may result in substantial costs and distraction
to our management. We may not be able, alone or with our licensors or potential partners, to prevent misappropriation of our proprietary rights, particularly in
countries where the laws may not protect such rights as fully as in the United States.
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Furthermore, because of the substantial amount of discovery required in connection with intellectual property litigation or other proceedings, there is a
risk that some of our confidential information could be compromised by disclosure during this type of litigation or other proceedings. In addition, during the course
of this kind of litigation or proceedings, there could be public announcements of the results of hearings, motions or other interim proceedings or developments or
public access to related documents. If investors perceive these results to be negative, the market price for common stock could be significantly harmed.
We may be subject to claims that our employees, consultants or independent contractors have wrongfully used or disclosed to us alleged trade secrets of
their former employers or their former or current customers.
As is common in the biotechnology and pharmaceutical industries, certain of our employees were formerly employed by other biotechnology or
pharmaceutical companies, including our competitors or potential competitors. Moreover, we engage the services of consultants to assist us in the development of
our product candidates, many of whom were previously employed at or may have previously been or are currently providing consulting services to, other
biotechnology or pharmaceutical companies, including our competitors or potential competitors. We may be subject to claims that these employees and consultants
or we have inadvertently or otherwise used or disclosed trade secrets or other proprietary information of their former employers or their former or current
customers. Although we have no knowledge of any such claims being alleged to date, if such claims were to arise, litigation may be necessary to defend against any
such claims. Even if we are successful in defending against any such claims, any such litigation could be protracted, expensive, a distraction to our management
team, not viewed favorably by investors and other third parties and may potentially result in an unfavorable outcome.
Risks Related to Ownership of Our Common Stock and Other Securities
The trading volume of our c ommon s tock has historically been very low, and recently has been extremely volatile, which may result in decreased periods
of liquidity or large, short-term fluctuations in our stock price.
The number of shares of our common stock being traded on a daily basis has historically been very low and recently has been extremely volatile. Since
January 8, 2016, the date we completed the Merger, through March 15, 2017, the daily trading volume for our Common Stock ranged from zero shares to 3,535,800
shares (after giving effect to the Reverse Stock Split). The quotation of our common stock on the NASDAQ Capital Market does not assure that a meaningful,
consistent and liquid trading market currently exists.
Any holder of our common stock wishing to sell his, her or its shares may cause a significant fluctuation in the trading price of our common stock. In
addition, low trading volume of a stock increases the possibility that, despite rules against such activity, the price of the stock may be manipulated by persons
acting in their own self-interest. We may not have adequate market makers and market making activity to prevent manipulation in our common stock. Such
volatility may be the result of broad market and industry factors. In addition to market and industry factors, the price and trading volume for common stock may be
highly volatile for factors specific to our own operations, many of which are beyond our control, including those described elsewhere in and incorporated into this
annual report on Form 10-K and our other public filings.
We may be at an increased risk of securities litigation, which is expensive and could divert management attention.
The market price of our common stock may be volatile, and in the past companies that have experienced volatility in the market price of their stock have
been subject to securities class action litigation. We may be the target of this type of litigation in the future. Securities litigation against us could result in substantial
costs and divert our management’s attention from other business concerns, which could seriously harm our business.
We consummated a “reverse merger” with a shell entity in 2008, which may result in certain limitations on the ability of our stockholders to use the Rule
144 safe harbor under the Securities Act, for resales of c ommon s tock.
As we are a former shell company due to our “reverse merger” with a shell entity in 2008, the ability of our stockholders to resell shares of Common
Stock under Rule 144 may be limited. The use of Rule 144 is one of the most common methods of selling restricted shares. Rule 144(i) pertains to shares issued by
a former shell company. Under Rule 144(i), sales of shares may only be made under certain conditions, including that we are current with respect to certain filings
required under the federal securities laws. As a result, permission to remove a restrictive legend on shares of Common Stock may be granted under more limited
circumstances compared to an issuer that is not a former shell company.
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If we fail to maintain an effective system of internal control over financial reporting, we may not be able to accurately report our financial results or
prevent fraud. As a result, stockholders could lose confidence in our financial and other public reporting, which would harm our business and the trading price of c
ommon s tock.
Effective internal controls over financial reporting are necessary for us to provide reliable financial reports and, together with adequate disclosure controls
and procedures, are designed to prevent fraud. Any failure to implement required new or improved controls, or difficulties encountered in their implementation,
could cause us to fail to meet our reporting obligations. Ineffective internal controls could also cause investors to lose confidence in our reported financial
information, which could have a negative effect on the trading price of common stock. In addition, any future testing by us conducted in connection with Section
404 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, as amended (“ SOX ”), or any required subsequent testing by our independent registered public accounting firm, may
reveal deficiencies in our internal controls over financial reporting that are deemed to be material weaknesses or that may require prospective or retroactive changes
to our consolidated financial statements or identify other areas for further attention or improvement.
We are required, pursuant to Section 404 of SOX, to furnish a report by management on, among other things, the effectiveness of our internal control over
financial reporting as of December 31, 2016. However, our independent registered public accounting firm is not required to attest to the effectiveness of our
internal control over financial reporting pursuant to Section 404. Under the supervision and with the participation of our Chief Executive Officer and Senior Vice
President - Finance our management conducted an evaluation of the effectiveness of our internal control over financial reporting based on the framework in Internal
Control—Integrated Framework (2013) issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission. Based on that evaluation, our
management concluded that our internal control over financial reporting was effective as of December 31, 2016. An independent assessment of the effectiveness of
our internal controls could detect problems that our management’s assessment might not. Undetected material weaknesses in our internal controls could lead to
financial statement restatements and require us to incur the expense of remediation.
Our disclosure controls and procedures may not prevent or detect all errors or acts of fraud.
We are subject to the periodic reporting requirements of the Exchange Act. Our disclosure controls and procedures are designed to reasonably assure that
information required to be disclosed by us in reports we file or submit under the Exchange Act is accumulated and communicated to management, recorded,
processed, summarized and reported within the time periods specified in the rules and forms of the SEC. We believe that any disclosure controls and procedures or
internal controls and procedures, no matter how well conceived and operated, can provide only reasonable, not absolute, assurance that the objectives of the control
system are met.
These inherent limitations include the realities that judgments in decision-making can be faulty, and that breakdowns can occur because of simple error or
mistake. Additionally, controls can be circumvented by the individual acts of some persons, by collusion of two or more people or by an unauthorized override of
the controls. Accordingly, because of the inherent limitations in our control system, misstatements due to error or fraud may occur and not be detected.
We incur significant costs as a result of our public company status and devote substantial management time to operating as a public company.
As a public company, we incur significant legal, accounting and other expenses to comply with the reporting requirements of the Exchange Act and
applicable requirements of SOX and the Dodd-Frank Wall Street Reform and Consumer Protection Act, as well as rules and regulations subsequently implemented
by the SEC and NASDAQ, including the establishment and maintenance of effective disclosure and financial controls, changes in corporate governance practices
and required filing of annual, quarterly and current reports with respect to our business and operating results. These requirements increase our legal and financial
compliance costs and make some activities more time-consuming and costly. In addition, our management and other personnel devote significant time and attention
to these public company requirements, which diverts their time attention from operational and other business matters.
If securities or industry analysts do not publish research or publish inaccurate or unfavorable research about our business, our stock price and trading
volume could decline.
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The trading market for common stock will depend in part on the research and reports that securities or industry analysts publish about us or our business.
We do not currently have and may never obtain research coverage by securities and industry analysts. If no securities or industry analysts commence coverage of
our company, the trading price for common stock would be negatively impacted. If we obtain securities or industry analyst coverage and if one or more of the
analysts who covers us downgrades our stock or publishes inaccurate or unfavorable research about our business, our stock price would likely decline. If one or
more of these analysts ceases coverage of us or fails to publish reports on us regularly, demand for common stock could decrease, which could cause our stock
price and trading volume to decline.
Future sales of substantial number of shares of our common stock in the public market or other issuances of our common stock or rights to purchase
common stock, including pursuant to equity incentive plans , could result in additional dilution of the percentage ownership of our stockholders and could cause
our stock price to fall.
We need to raise substantial additional funds, through the Private Placement and otherwise, to continue our operations, fund additional clinical trials of
our product candidates and potentially commercialize our product candidates. We plan to continue to finance our operations with a combination of equity
issuances, debt arrangements and a possible partnership or license of development and/or commercialization rights to our product candidates. Any issuance of
convertible debt securities, preferred stock or common stock may be at a discount from the then current trading price of our common stock. If we issue additional
common or preferred stock or securities convertible into common stock, our stockholders will experience additional dilution, which may be significant. For
example, the Securities sold in the Private Placement are convertible into or exchangeable for shares of our common stock. Furthermore, the Series A Convertible
Preferred Stock is entitled to an 8.0% cumulative preferred dividend payable semi-annually in shares of common stock. Therefore, the Private Placement will result
in substantial dilution to our stockholders.
In addition, pursuant to our 2015 Equity Incentive Plan, as amended, our compensation committee is authorized to grant equity-based incentive awards to
our directors, executive officers and other employees and service providers, including officers, employees and service providers of our subsidiaries and affiliates.
As of March 15, 2017, the number of shares of our common stock we have reserved for issuance under our 2015 Equity Incentive Plan is 356,148, and future
option grants and issuances of common stock under our 2015 Equity Incentive Plan will dilute the percentage ownership of our investors and may adversely affect
the market price of our common stock.
Further, future sales of a substantial number of shares of common stock or securities convertible into common stock in the public market, or the perception
in the market that the holders of a large number of shares intend to sell shares, could reduce the market price of our common stock and impede our ability to raise
future capital. The conversion of the Series A Convertible Preferred Stock or the exercise of the Warrants into common stock would dilute the ownership interest of
existing holders of common stock, and any sales in the public market of the common stock issuable upon conversion of the Series A Convertible Preferred Stock or
the exercise of the Warrants could adversely affect prevailing market prices of our common stock.
Our directors, executive officers and principal stockholders exert significant influence over us and could impede a change of corporate control.
As of March 15, 2017, our directors, executive officers and holders of more than five percent of common stock, together with their affiliates, beneficially
owned, in the aggregate, 47% of our outstanding common stock (See “Security Ownership of Certain Beneficial Owners and Management”). As a result, these
stockholders, acting together, would have the ability to exert significant influence on matters submitted to our stockholders for approval, including the election of
directors and any merger, consolidation or sale of all or substantially all of our assets. In addition, these stockholders, acting together, would have the ability to
significantly influence the management and affairs of our company. Accordingly, this concentration of ownership could harm the market price of common stock
by:
●

delaying, deferring or preventing a change of control of us;

●

impeding a merger, consolidation, takeover or other business combination involving us; or

●

discouraging a potential acquiror from making a tender offer or otherwise attempting to obtain control of us.

Delaware law and provisions in our restated articles of incorporation and restated bylaws could make a merger, tender offer or proxy contest difficult,
thereby depressing the trading price of Common Stock.
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The anti-takeover provisions under Delaware corporate law may discourage, delay or prevent a change of control by prohibiting us from engaging in a
business combination with stockholders owning in excess of 15 percent of our outstanding voting stock for a period of three years after the person becomes an
interested stockholder, even if a change of control would be beneficial to our existing stockholders. In addition, our restated articles of incorporation and restated
bylaws contain provisions that may make the acquisition of our company more difficult, including the following:
●

provide that only our Board will have the right to fill a vacancy created by the expansion of our Board or the resignation, death or removal of a
director, which prevents stockholders from being able to fill vacancies on our Board;

●

provide that only our Chairman of the Board, our Chief Executive Officer or a majority of our Board will be authorized to call a special meeting of
stockholders;

●

authorize the issuance of undesignated preferred stock, the terms of which may be established and shares of which may be issued without
stockholder approval, and which may include rights superior to the rights of the holders of common stock;

●

provide that our Board is expressly authorized to make, alter or repeal our bylaws;

●

establish advance notice requirements for nominations for elections to our Board or for proposing matters that can be acted upon by stockholders at
stockholder meetings; and

●

certain priorities, voting rights and other rights of the holders of our Series A Convertible Preferred Stock

These provisions could also discourage proxy contests and make it more difficult for our stockholders to elect directors of their choosing so as to cause us
to take certain corporate actions our stockholders may desire to take.
We have never paid dividends on our capital stock, and we do not anticipate paying any cash dividends in the foreseeable future.
We have never declared nor paid cash dividends on our capital stock. We currently intend to retain any future earnings to finance the operation and
expansion of our business, and we do not expect to declare or pay any dividends in the foreseeable future. Consequently, stockholders must rely on sales of their
common stock after price appreciation, which may never occur, as the only way to realize any future gains on their investment.
We have broad discretion in the use of the net proceeds from the Private Placement and may not use them effectively.
On March 14, 2017, we completed the Initial Closing of the Private Placement. We received net proceeds of approximately $14.1 million from the sale,
after deducting placement agent fees and expenses. In the future, we may conduct one or more additional closings in the Private Placement for up to aggregate
gross proceeds of $25.0 million.
We plan to invest the net proceeds from the Private Placement to fund research and development of our lead product candidate, TSC, including clinical
trial activities, and for general corporate purposes. The failure by our management to apply these funds effectively could result in financial losses that could have a
material adverse effect on our business, cause the market price of our common stock to decline and delay the development of our product candidates. Pending their
use, we may invest the net proceeds from the offering in a manner that does not produce income or that loses value. If we do not invest the net proceeds from the
offering in ways that enhance stockholder value, we may fail to achieve expected financial results, which could cause the price of our common stock to decline.
Any adjustments in the conversion price of our Series A Convertible Preferred Stock or the exercise price of our Warrants could have a depressive effect
on our stock price and the market for our stock.
If we are required to adjust the conversion price for the Series A Convertible Preferred Stock or the Warrant exercise price pursuant to any of the
adjustment provisions of the agreements related to the Private Placement, the adjustment or the perception that an adjustment may be required, may have a
depressive effect on both our stock price and the market for common stock.
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ITEM 1B.

UNRESOLVED STAFF COMMENTS
None.

ITEM 2.

PROPERTIES

Our principal executive office is located in a leased facility in Charlottesville, Virginia, where we lease approximately 5,000 square feet of office space for
approximately $5,500 per month. We lease this space on a month-to-month basis. In 2017, we plan to move into a different location with a similar cost profile,
which we believe will be suitable and adequate for our current and immediately foreseeable needs.
ITEM 3.

LEGAL PROCEEDINGS

From time to time, we are subject to various pending or threatened legal actions and proceedings, including those that arise in the ordinary course of its
business, which may include employment matters, breach of contract disputes and stockholder litigation. Such actions and proceedings are subject to many
uncertainties and to outcomes that are not predictable with assurance and that may not be known for extended periods of time. We record a liability in our
consolidated financial statements for costs related to claims, including future legal costs, settlements and judgments, when we have assessed that a loss is probable
and an amount can be reasonably estimated. If the reasonable estimate of a probable loss is a range, we record the most probable estimate of the loss or the
minimum amount when no amount within the range is a better estimate than any other amount. We disclose a contingent liability even if the liability is not probable
or the amount is not estimable, or both, if there is a reasonable possibility that a material loss may have been incurred. In the opinion of management, as of the date
hereof, the amount of liability, if any, with respect to these matters, individually or in the aggregate, will not materially affect our consolidated results of operations,
financial position or cash flows.
On August 7, 2014, a complaint was filed in the Superior Court of Los Angeles County, California by Paul Feller, the Company’s former Chief Executive
Officer under the caption Paul Feller v. RestorGenex Corporation, Pro Sports & Entertainment, Inc., ProElite, Inc. and Stratus Media Group, GmbH (Case No.
BC553996). The complaint asserts various causes of action, including, among other things, promissory fraud, negligent misrepresentation, breach of contract,
breach of employment agreement, breach of the covenant of good faith and fair dealing, violations of the California Labor Code and common counts. The plaintiff
is seeking, among other things, compensatory damages in an undetermined amount, punitive damages, accrued interest and an award of attorneys’ fees and costs.
On December 30, 2014, we filed a petition to compel arbitration and a motion to stay the action. On April 1, 2015, the plaintiff filed a petition in opposition to our
petition to compel arbitration and a motion to stay the action. After a hearing for the petition and motion on April 14, 2015, the Court granted our petition to
compel arbitration and a motion to stay the action. On January 8, 2016, the plaintiff filed an arbitration demand with the American Arbitration Association. No
arbitration hearing has yet been scheduled. We believe this matter is without merit and we intend to defend the arbitration vigorously. Because this matter is in an
early stage, we are unable to predict its outcome and the possible loss or range of loss, if any, associated with its resolution or any potential effect the matter may
have on our financial position. Depending on the outcome or resolution of this matter, it could have a material effect on our financial position.
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ITEM 4.

MINE SAFETY DISCLOSURES
None.
PART II

ITEM 5.

MARKET FOR REGISTRANT’S COMMON EQUITY, RELATED STOCKHOLDER MATTERS AND ISSUER PURCHASES
OF EQUITY SECURITIES

Market Price
Our common stock trades publicly on the NASDAQ Capital Market under the symbol “DFFN.” Prior to November 9, 2016, our common stock traded on
the OTCQX over-the-counter bulletin board. The following table sets forth the high and low daily sale prices for our Common Stock, as quoted by the NASDAQ
Capital Market or the OTCQX, as applicable, for each calendar quarter during 2016 and 2015, after giving effect to the Reverse Stock Split. The over-the-counter
market quotations reflect inter-dealer prices, without retail mark-up, mark-down or commission and may not necessarily represent actual transactions.
2016

High

Low

Fourth Quarter

$7.00

$1.94

Third Quarter

9.25

5.27

Second Quarter

11.50

8.00

First Quarter

17.00

8.50

2015

High

Low

Fourth Quarter

$26.00

$4.00

Third Quarter

17.50

8.00

Second Quarter

30.50

16.50

First Quarter

37.50

23.50

In November 2016 our common stock was approved for listing, and commenced trading, on the NASDAQ Capital Market. Prior to that, our common
stock traded on the OTCQX marketplace of the OTC Market Groups. In addition, prior to the Merger, our common stock was quoted on the OTCQX marketplace,
under the symbol “RESX.” Effective January 25, 2016, our trading symbol changed to “DFFN.” On August 17, 2016, we implemented the Reverse Stock Split of
our common stock on a 1:10 basis.
Number of Record Holders
As of March 15, 2017, there were 466 record holders of our common stock.
Dividends
To date, we have not declared or paid any cash dividends on our common stock and do not intend to do so in the near future.
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Securities Authorized for Issuance Under Equity Compensation Plans
For certain information concerning securities authorized for issuance under our equity compensation plan, see Item 12 — Security Ownership of Certain
Beneficial Owners and Management and Related Stockholder Matters.
Recent Sales of Unregistered Equity Securities
During the fourth quarter ended December 31, 2016, we did not issue or sell any Diffusion equity securities without registration under the Securities Act.
Issuer Purchases of Equity Securities
During the fourth quarter ended December 31, 2016, we did not purchase any shares of Diffusion common stock or other Diffusion equity securities.
Our Board of Directors has not authorized any repurchase plan or program for the purchase of shares of our common stock or other securities on the open
market or otherwise.
ITEM 6.

SELECTED FINANCIAL DATA
Item 6 is not applicable to us as a smaller reporting company and has been omitted.

ITEM 7.

MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF FINANCIAL CONDITION AND RESULTS OF OPERATIONS

Introduction
This Management’s Discussion and Analysis provides material historical and prospective disclosures intended to enable investors and other users to assess
our financial condition and results of operations. Statements that are not historical are forward-looking and involve risks and uncertainties discussed under the
headings “ Part I. Item 1. Business—Cautionary Note Regarding Forward-Looking Statements ” and “ Part I. Item 1A. Risk Factors ” of this report. The following
discussion of our results of operations and financial condition should be read in conjunction with our financial statements and the related notes thereto included
elsewhere in this report. These risks could cause our actual results to differ materially from any future performance suggested below.

Business Overview
We are a clinical stage biotechnology company focused on extending the life expectancy of cancer patients by improving the effectiveness of current
standard-of-care treatments, including radiation therapy and chemotherapy. We are developing our lead product candidate, transcrocetinate sodium , also known as
trans sodium crocetinate or TSC, for use in the many cancer types in which tumor oxygen deprivation, or hypoxia, is known to diminish the effectiveness of
current treatments. TSC is designed to target the cancer’s hypoxic micro-environment, re-oxygenating treatment-resistant tissue and making the cancer cells more
susceptible to the therapeutic effects of standard-of-care radiation therapy and chemotherapy.
Our lead development programs target TSC against cancers known to be inherently treatment-resistant, including brain cancers and pancreatic cancer. A
Phase 1/2 clinical trial of TSC combined with first-line radiation and chemotherapy in patients newly diagnosed with primary brain cancer, glioblastoma, or GBM,
was completed in 2015. This trial provided evidence of efficacy and safety in extending overall survival without the addition of toxicity. Based on these results, an
End-of-Phase 2 meeting was held with the FDA in August 2015, resulting in agreement on the design of a single 400 patient pivotal Phase 3 registration study
which, if successful, would be sufficient to support approval. Discussions with the FDA regarding extension of the TSC development program from first line GBM
into first-line pancreatic cancer treatment are currently underway. TSC has been granted Orphan Drug designations for the treatment of GBM and metastatic brain
cancer.
In addition to cancer, TSC also has potential applications in other indications involving hypoxia, such as hemorrhagic shock, stroke, peripheral artery
disease and neurodegenerative diseases.
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On January 8, 2016, we completed the Merger with Diffusion LLC. As a result of the Merger, Diffusion LLC, the surviving company in the Merger,
became a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company. Immediately following the Merger, the former equity holders of Diffusion LLC owned approximately 84.1%
of the Company’s common stock, and the stockholders of RestorGenex immediately prior to the Merger owned approximately 15.9% of the Company’s common
stock, in each case, on a fully-diluted basis and calculated in accordance with the terms of the Merger Agreement. Also in connection with the Merger, the preMerger directors and officers of the Company tendered their resignations and the pre-Merger directors and officers of Diffusion LLC were appointed as the new
directors and officers of the Company. Following the completion of the Merger, the Company changed its corporate name from “RestorGenex Corporation” to
“Diffusion Pharmaceuticals Inc.” and changed the trading symbol of the Company’s Common Stock from “RESX” to “DFFN.” In November 2016, our common
stock was approved for listing on the NASDAQ Capital Market and will continue to trade under the ticker symbol “DFFN”.
For accounting purposes, the Merger is treated as a “reverse acquisition” under U.S. GAAP and Diffusion LLC is considered the accounting acquirer.
Accordingly, Diffusion LLC’s historical results of operations replaced the Company’s historical results of operations for all periods prior to the Merger. Unless
otherwise stated, all comparisons in this Management’s Discussion and Analysis to prior year periods are to the results of Diffusion Pharmaceuticals LLC for such
period on a stand-alone basis.
Recent Development
On March 14, 2017, we entered into Subscription Agreements with certain accredited investors and conducted the Initial Closing of a Private Placement
pursuant to which we sold 7,837,023 shares of the Series A Convertible Preferred Stock at a purchase price of $2.02 per share. In addition, each investor received a
Warrant to purchase one share of common stock for each share of Series A Convertible Preferred Stock purchased by such investor in the Private Placement at an
exercise price equal to $2.22, subject to adjustment thereunder.
We received total net proceeds of approximately $14.1 million from the Initial Closing of the Private Placement, after deducting $1.7 million in placement
agent fees and expenses associated with the Private Placement. The Company currently intends to use the proceeds of the Private Placement to fund research and
development of TSC, including clinical trial activities, and for general corporate purposes. In the future, we may conduct one or more additional closings in the
Private Placement for up to aggregate gross proceeds of $25.0 million.
Critical Accounting Policies
Certain of our critical accounting estimates require the application of significant judgment by management in selecting the appropriate assumptions in
determining the estimate. By their nature, these judgments are subject to an inherent degree of uncertainty. We develop these judgments based on our historical
experience, terms of existing contracts, our observance of trends in the industry and information available from other outside sources, as appropriate. Actual results
may differ from these judgments under different assumptions or conditions. Different, reasonable estimates could have been used for the current period.
Additionally, changes in accounting estimates are reasonably likely to occur from period to period. Both of these factors could have a material impact on the
presentation of our financial condition, changes in financial condition or results of operations. We believe the following accounting estimates are the most critical
to aid in fully understanding and evaluating our financial statements as they require our most subjective or complex judgments:
Goodwill
Goodwill is the excess of the cost of an acquired entity over the net amounts assigned to tangible and intangible assets acquired and liabilities assumed.
We apply Accounting Standards Codification (ASC) 350 “ Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets ,” which requires testing goodwill for impairment on an annual
basis. We assess goodwill for impairment as part of our annual reporting process on October 1 of each year. In between valuations, we conduct additional tests if
circumstances indicate a need for testing. We evaluate goodwill on a consolidated basis as we are organized as a single reporting unit. We consider certain
triggering events when evaluating whether an interim goodwill impairment analysis is warranted. Among these would be a significant long-term decrease in our
market capitalization based on events specific to our operations. There was no impairment to our goodwill during the year ended December 31, 2016.
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Intangible Assets
Our sole intangible asset as of December 31, 2016 consists of an in-process research and development (“ IPR&D ”) intangible asset acquired as part of the
Merger. The fair value of the IPR&D assets was determined as of the acquisition date using the cost approach, which establishes a value based on the cost of
reproducing or replacing the asset, often referred to as current replacement costs. The cost approach was chosen as we were not able to estimate an income stream
attributable to the IPR&D assets given the fact that the related products have only completed limited preclinical and clinical trials and the timeline to commercial
viability, if the FDA approval process is successful, is somewhat uncertain and would take a number of years, and the costs would be significant. In August 2016,
we abandoned future development efforts for the IPR&D asset associated with our RES-440 product candidate and recorded an impairment charge equal to the
acquired value of RES-440. A s the development efforts for our remaining RES-529 IPR&D asset continue, based on the facts and circumstances at the time of a
future valuation for the purposes of assessing impairment, it is possible that the value for RES-529 could be substantially reduced or eliminated, which could result
in a maximum pretax charge to operations equal to the current carrying value of our intangible asset of $8.6 million as of December 31, 2016. We tested the
IPR&D intangible asset for impairment on October 1, which is our annual impairment testing date. We consider certain triggering events when evaluating whether
an interim IPR&D impairment analysis is warranted. There was no impairment to RES-529 during the year ended December 31, 2016.
Research and development
Research and development costs are expensed as incurred and consist primarily of funds paid to third parties for the provision of services for product
candidate development, clinical and preclinical development and related supply and manufacturing costs, and regulatory compliance costs. At the end of the
reporting period, the Company compares payments made to third-party service providers to the estimated progress toward completion of the research or
development objectives. Such estimates are subject to change as additional information becomes available. Depending on the timing of payments to the service
providers and the progress that the Company estimates has been made as a result of the service provided, the Company may record net prepaid or accrued expense
relating to these costs. Upfront payments made to third parties who perform research and development services on the Company’s behalf are expensed as services
are rendered.

Stock-Based Compensation
We account for stock-based compensation based on the grant date fair value of the award. We recognize this cost as an expense over the requisite service
period, which is generally the vesting period of the respective award. Forfeitures rates are used in stock-based compensation to adjust the recognized stock-based
compensation expense to reflect the expected attrition of employees prior to their full vesting in stock-based compensation awards. We use the Black-Scholes
option-pricing model to determine the estimated fair value of stock options. Inputs into the Black-Scholes option-pricing model include: the grant date fair value of
our common stock; the option exercise price; the expected term of the option in years; the annualized volatility of the stock; and the risk-free interest rate. If any of
the assumptions used in the Black-Scholes model changes significantly, stock-based compensation for future awards may differ materially compared with the
awards granted previously. The inputs that create the most sensitivity in our option valuation are the volatility and expected term.
Given our limited history as a publicly traded company following the Merger in January 2016, we did not have sufficient trading data to calculate
volatility based on our own common stock, and the expected volatility was calculated as of each grant date based on a peer group of publicly traded companies. The
expected term of the stock options was determined based upon the simplified approach for employees, allowed under SEC Staff Accounting Bulletin No. 110,
which assumes that the stock options will be exercised evenly from vesting to expiration. As data associated with future exercises is obtained, the expected term of
future grants will be adjusted accordingly. For non-employee awards, we use the remaining contractual term.
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Financial Summary
At December 31, 2016, we had cash and cash equivalents balances of $1.6 million. We have incurred operating losses since inception, have not generated
any product sales revenue and have not achieved profitable operations. We incurred a net loss of $18.0 million and $6.7 million for the years ended December 31,
2016 and 2015, respectively. Our accumulated deficit as of December 31, 2016, was $60.2 million, and we expect to continue to incur substantial losses in future
periods. We anticipate that our operating expenses will increase substantially as we continue to advance our lead, clinical-stage product candidate, TSC. We
anticipate that our expenses will substantially increase as we:
●

complete regulatory and manufacturing activities and commence our planned Phase II and III clinical trials for TSC;

●

continue the research, development and scale-up manufacturing capabilities to optimize products and dose forms for which we may obtain
regulatory approval;

●

conduct other preclinical and clinical studies to support the filing of a NDA for TSC with the FDA;

●

maintain, expand and protect our global intellectual property portfolio;

●

hire additional clinical, manufacturing, and scientific personnel; and

●

add operational, financial and management information systems and personnel, including personnel to support our drug development and potential
future commercialization efforts.

We intend to use our existing cash and cash equivalents for working capital and to fund the research and development of TSC. We expect that our existing
cash as of December 31, 2016, together with the proceeds from the Initial Closing of the Private Placement of our Series A Convertible Preferred Stock in March
2017, will enable us to fund our operating expenses and capital expenditure requirements into December of 2017.
Financial Operations Overview
Revenues
We have not yet generated any revenue from product sales. We do not expect to generate revenue from product sales for the foreseeable future.
Research and Development Expense
Research and development costs include, but are not limited to, third-party contract research arrangements, employee-related expenses, including salaries,
benefits, stock-based compensation and travel expense reimbursement, as well as impairment of our in-process research and development assets. Research and
development activities are central to our business model. Product candidates in later stages of clinical development generally have higher development costs than
those in earlier stages of clinical development, primarily due to the increased size and duration of later-stage clinical trials. As we advance our product candidates,
we expect the amount of research and development costs will continue to increase for the foreseeable future. Research and development costs are charged to
expense as incurred.
General and Administrative Expense
General and administrative expenses consist principally of salaries and related costs for executive and other personnel, including stock-based
compensation, expenses associated with investment bank and other financial advisory services, and travel expenses. Other general and administrative expenses
include costs associated with the Merger, professional fees that were incurred in connection with preparing to operate and operating as a public company,
settlement of litigation matters, facility-related costs, communication expenses and professional fees for legal, patent prosecution and maintenance, and consulting
and accounting services.
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Interest Expense, Net
Interest expense, net for the year ended December 31, 2016 consisted principally of the interest expense recorded in connection with our convertible debt
instruments offset by the interest earned from our cash and cash equivalents.
Income Tax Benefit
Since inception, we have incurred net losses and have not recorded any U.S. federal or state income tax benefits for the losses as they have been offset by
valuation allowances. Indefinite lived intangibles, such as IPR&D, cannot be utilized for purposes of future realization of deferred tax assets. For the year ended
December 31, 2016, we recognized an income tax benefit from the impairment charge related to our abandonment of the future development efforts for the RES440 IPR&D asset.
Results of Operations for Year Ended December 31, 2016 Compared to Year Ended December 31, 2015
The following table sets forth our results of operations for the years ended December 31, 2016 and 2015:
Year ended December 31,
2016
2015
Operating expenses:
Research and development
General and administrative
Depreciation
Loss from operations
Interest expense, net
Loss from operations before income tax benefit
Income tax benefit
Net loss

$

$

7,252,241
11,094,146
25,342
18,371,729
29,686
(18,401,415)
(364,796)
(18,036,619)

$

$

3,875,467 $
2,522,370
8,268
6,406,105
313,117
(6,719,222)
(6,719,222) $

Change
3,376,774
8,571,776
17,074
11,965,624
(283,431)
(11,682,143)
(364,796)
(11,317,347)

Research and development expenses were $7.3 million during the year ended December 31, 2016 compared to $3.9 million during the year ended
December 31, 2015. This increase was primarily a result of an additional $1.2 million of expenses related to animal toxicology studies as well as an increase of $1.0
million in active product ingredient manufacturing costs. We also incurred an additional $0.5 million in costs related to our TSC pancreatic cancer program and
recognized a $1.0 million impairment charge upon our abandonment of future development efforts related to our RES-440 IPR&D asset. Salaries and wages
expense and stock compensation expense increased by $0.3 million and $0.4 million, respectively, during the year ended December 31, 2016 compared to the prior
year, due to an increase in headcount. The overall increase in research and development expense was offset by a $0.9 million decrease in spend related to GBM
trials. We expect that our research and development expenses will increase significantly in future periods compared to prior year periods due to our anticipated
efforts to advance the research and development of our technologies and product candidates.
General and administrative expenses were $11.1 million during the year ended December 31, 2016 compared to $2.5 million during the year ended
December 31, 2015. The increase was primarily attributable to an increase of $4.1 million in professional fees incurred in connection with preparing to operate as a
public company, merger and transaction related fees and fees related to investment bank advisory services. Insurance expense also increased by $0.8 million during
the year ended December 31, 2016 compared to the prior year, which was mainly attributable to directors and officer’s insurance. We also recognized a $2.5
million noncash charge upon the settlement of the Schmidt litigation matter during the year ended December 31, 2016. Salaries and wages and stock compensation
expense increased by $0.4 million and $0.4 million, respectively, during the year ended December 31, 2016 compared to the prior year due to our increase in
headcount.
Interest expense decreased by $0.3 million in 2016 due to the conversion of debt into equity that occurred at the end of 2015 and in early 2016.
During the year ended December 31, 2016, we recognized a tax benefit of $0.4 million in connection with the impairment charge associated with the write
down of our RES-440 IPR&D intangible asset.
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Liquidity and Capital Resources
Working Capital (Deficit)
The following table summarizes our working capital (deficit) as of December 31, 2016 and 2015:
December 31,
2016
Cash and cash equivalents

$

2015

1,552,852

Prepaid expenses, deposits and other assets

$

1,997,192

50,844
(4,438,422)

Total current liabilities
$

Working capital (deficit)

45,921
(1,471,308)

(2,834,726) $

571,805

We expect to continue to incur net losses for the foreseeable future. We intend to use our existing cash and cash equivalents for working capital and to
fund the research and development of our product candidates.
Cash Flows
The following table sets forth our cash flows for the years ended December 31, 2016 and 2015:
December 31,
Net cash (used in) provided by:

2016

Operating activities

$

(10,768,265) $

2015
(5,185,328)

Investing activities

8,498,271

2,459,709

Financing activities

1,825,654

2,386,292

$

Net decrease in cash and cash equivalents

(444,340) $

(339,327)

Operating Activities
Net cash used in operating activities of $10.8 million during the year ended December 31, 2016 was primarily attributable to our net loss of $18.0 million,
offset by $6.0 million of non-cash charges and $1.3 million for the net change in our operating assets and liabilities. Noncash charges primarily consisted of stockbased compensation expense of $1.4 million, the issuance of 148,073 shares of our common stock for advisory services at an estimated fair value of $1.4 million, a
$1.0 million impairment charge in connection abandoning our future development efforts of RES-440 IPR&D asset, and $2.5 million noncash litigation settlement
charge. The net change in our operating assets and liabilities is primarily attributable to the increase in our accounts payable and accrued expenses due to the timing
in processing our payroll and payment to our vendors for professional services and costs associated with our clinical and preclinical activities.
Net cash used in operating activities of $5.2 million during the year ended December 31, 2015 was primarily attributable to our net loss of $6.7 million
that was offset by $0.9 million of non-cash charges and $0.6 million for the net change in our operating assets and liabilities. Noncash charges primarily consisted
of stock-based compensation and non-cash interest related to our convertible debt.
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Investing Activities
Net cash provided by investing activities was $8.5 million during the year ended December 31, 2016 compared to $2.5 million during the year ended
December 31, 2015. We acquired $8.5 million as a result of the Merger during the year ended December 31, 2016. During the year ended December 31, 2015,
certificates of deposit matured and proceeds of $2.5 million were received.
Financing Activities
Net cash provided by financing activities was $1.8 million during the year ended December 31, 2016 and was primarily attributable to the $1.9 million
cash proceeds received in connection with the issuance of 6.0% convertible notes in September 2016. Net cash provided by financing activities was primarily $2.4
million during the year ended December 31, 2015, and was attributable to the issuance of convertible debt.
Capital Requirements
We expect to incur substantial expenses and generate significant operating losses as we pursue our business strategy of developing our lead product
candidate, TSC, for use in the treatment of GBM, pancreatic cancer and brain metastases.
To date, we have primarily used equity and debt financings to fund our ongoing business operations and short-term liquidity needs. We expect to continue
this practice for the foreseeable future.
In January 2016, we completed the Merger. For accounting purposes, Diffusion LLC is considered the acquiring entity in the Merger and, as a result, we
acquired $8.5 million in cash. In September 2016, we issued convertible notes and received cash proceeds of $1.9 million. As of December 31, 2016, we did not
have any existing credit facilities under which we could borrow funds.
We expect our existing cash as of December 31, 2016, together with the proceeds from the Initial Closing of the Private Placement of our Series A
Convertible Preferred Stock in March 2017, will enable us to fund our operating expenses and capital expenditure requirements into December of 2017. We may
seek to raise additional funds through various sources, such as equity and debt financings, or through strategic collaborations and license agreements. We can give
no assurances that we will be able to secure additional sources of funds to support our operations, or if such funds are available to us, that such additional financing
will be sufficient to meet our needs or be on terms acceptable to us. This risk may increase if economic and market conditions deteriorate. If we are unable to obtain
additional financing when needed, we may need to terminate, significantly modify or delay the development of our product candidates and our operations, or we
may need to obtain funds through collaborators that may require us to relinquish rights to our technologies or product candidates that we might otherwise seek to
develop or commercialize independently. If we are unable to raise any additional capital in the near-term and/or we cannot significantly reduce our expenses and
are forced to terminate our operations, investors may experience a complete loss of their investment.
To the extent that we raise additional capital through the sale of our common stock, the interests of our current stockholders may be diluted. If we issue
preferred stock or convertible debt securities, it could affect the rights of our common stockholders or reduce the value of our common stock. In particular, specific
rights granted to future holders of preferred stock or convertible debt securities may include voting rights, preferences as to dividends and liquidation, conversion
and redemption rights, sinking fund provisions, and restrictions on our ability to merge with or sell our assets to a third party. Debt financing, if available, may
involve agreements that include covenants limiting or restricting our ability to take specific actions, such as incurring additional debt, making capital expenditures
or declaring dividends.
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Contractual Obligations
As of December 31, 2016 , we had the following contractual commitments:
Payments due by period
Contractual Obligations
Principal on Convertible Notes (1)
Interest on Convertible Notes
Total

$
$

Total
2,430,000
152,942
2,582,942

Less than 1
year
$
1,880,000
112,800
$
1,992,800

1-3 years
$
550,000
40,142
$
590,142

More than 5
years

3-5 years
$
$

-

$
$

-

(1) The Company issued convertible notes in March of 2011 and September of 2016, bearing interest at 1% and 6%, respectively. The convertible notes mature
in September of 2017 and June of 2018, respectively, unless converted earlier into shares of common stock at the holders election or upon certain specified
events.
Off-Balance Sheet Arrangements
We do not have any off-balance sheet arrangements, as defined by the rules and regulations of the SEC that have or are reasonably likely to have a
material effect on our financial condition, changes in financial condition, revenue or expenses, results of operations, liquidity, capital expenditures or capital
resources. As a result, we are not materially exposed to any financing, liquidity, market or credit risk that could arise if we had engaged in these arrangements.
Recently Issued Accounting Pronouncements
Recently issued accounting pronouncements are addressed in Note 3 in the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.
ITEM 7A.

QUANTITATIVE AND QUALITATIVE DISCLOSURE ABOUT MARKET RISK

Item 7A is not applicable to us as a smaller reporting company and has been omitted.
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REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM
The Board of Directors
Diffusion Pharmaceuticals Inc.:
We have audited the consolidated balance sheets of Diffusion Pharmaceuticals Inc. and subsidiaries as of December 31, 2016 and 2015, and the related
consolidated statements of operations, changes in stockholders’ equity (deficit), and cash flows for the years then ended. These consolidated financial statements
are the responsibility of the Company’s management. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these consolidated financial statements based on our audits.
We conducted our audits in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States). Those standards require that we
plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free of material misstatement. An audit includes examining, on
a test basis, evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. An audit also includes assessing the accounting principles used and
significant estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall financial statement presentation. We believe that our audits provide a reasonable basis
for our opinion.
In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of Diffusion Pharmaceuticals
Inc. and subsidiaries as of December 31, 2016 and 2015, and the results of their operations and their cash flows for the years then ended in conformity with U.S.
generally accepted accounting principles.
The consolidated financial statements have been prepared assuming that the Company will continue as a going concern. As discussed in Note 2 to the consolidated
financial statements, the Company has suffered recurring losses from operations, has limited resources available to fund current research and development
activities, and will require substantial additional financing to continue to fund its research and development activities. The conditions raise substantial doubt about
its ability to continue as a going concern. Management’s plans in regard to these matters are also described in Note 2. The consolidated financial statements do not
include any adjustments that might result from the outcome of this uncertainty.
As discussed in Note 1 to the consolidated financial statements, on January 8, 2016, the Company completed a merger with RestorGenex Corporation under which
a newly formed subsidiary of RestorGenex Corporation merged with and into the Company, with the Company surviving as a wholly-owned subsidiary of
RestorGenex Corporation.

/s/ KPMG LLP
McLean, Virginia
March 31, 2017
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DIFFUSION PHARMACEUTICALS INC.
CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS
December 31,
2016
Assets
Current assets:
Cash and cash equivalents
Prepaid expenses, deposits and other current assets
Total current assets
Property and equipment, net
Intangible asset
Goodwill
Other assets
Total assets
Liabilities and Stockholders’ Equity (Deficit)
Current liabilities:
Current portion of convertible debt
Accounts payable
Accrued expenses and other current liabilities
Total current liabilities
Convertible debt, net of current portion
Deferred income taxes
Other liabilities
Total liabilities
Commitments and Contingencies
Stockholders’ Equity (Deficit):
Common stock, $0.001 par value:
1,000,000,000 shares authorized; 10,345,637 and 8,118,939 shares issued and outstanding at December 31,
2016 and 2015, respectively
Additional paid-in capital
Accumulated deficit
Total stockholders' equity (deficit)
Total liabilities and stockholders' equity (deficit)

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.
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$

$

$

$

2015

1,552,852
50,844
1,603,696
79,755
8,639,000
6,929,258
232,675
17,484,384

$

1,880,000
1,684,158
874,264
4,438,422
550,000
3,279,363
31,915
8,299,700

$

$

10,346
69,363,575
(60,189,237)
9,184,684
17,484,384 $

1,997,192
45,921
2,043,113
51,996
181,487
2,276,596

424,964
424,675
621,669
1,471,308
818,646
28,265
2,318,219

8,119
42,102,876
(42,152,618)
(41,623)
2,276,596

DIFFUSION PHARMACEUTICALS INC.
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS
Year ended December 31,
2016
2015
Operating expenses:
Research and development
General and administrative
Depreciation
Loss from operations
Interest expense, net
Loss from operations before income tax benefit
Income tax benefit
Net loss

$

$

Per share information:
Net loss per share of common stock, basic and diluted
Weighted average shares outstanding, basic and diluted

$

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.

68

7,252,241 $
11,094,146
25,342
18,371,729
29,686
(18,401,415)
(364,796)
(18,036,619) $

3,875,467
2,522,370
8,268
6,406,105
313,117
(6,719,222)
(6,719,222)

(1.76) $
10,232,791

(2.56)
2,619,945

DIFFUSION PHARMACEUTICALS INC.
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CHANGES IN STOCKHOLDERS’ EQUITY (DEFICIT)

Balance at January 1, 2015
Issuance of restricted stock
Conversion of convertible notes
Stock-based compensation expense
Net loss
Balance at December 31, 2015
Fair value of RestorGenex shares
Estimated fair value of RestorGenex stock options outstanding
Estimated fair value of RestorGenex warrants outstanding
Common stock issued for advisory services
Conversion of convertible debt
Settlement of litigation matter upon issuance of convertible debt
Stock-based compensation expense
Net loss
Balance at December 31, 2016

Common Stock
Shares
Amount
2,208,953 $
2,209
18,412
18
5,891,574
5,892
8,118,939
8,119
1,861,503
1,862
148,073
148
217,122
217
10,345,637 $
10,346

Additional
Total
Paid-in
Accumulated
Stockholders'
Capital
Deficit
Equity (Deficit)
$
21,813,635 $ (35,433,396) $ (13,617,552)
(18)
19,695,084
19,700,976
594,175
594,175
(6,719,222)
(6,719,222)
42,102,876
(42,152,618)
(41,623)
19,544,138
19,546,000
1,321,000
1,321,000
384,000
384,000
1,409,215
1,409,363
711,278
711,495
2,500,000
2,500,000
1,391,068
1,391,068
(18,036,619)
(18,036,619)
$
69,363,575 $ (60,189,237) $
9,184,684

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.
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DIFFUSION PHARMACEUTICALS INC.
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS

Year ended December 31,
2016
2015
Operating activities:
Net loss
Adjustments to reconcile net loss to net cash used in operating activities:
Depreciation
Loss on sale or disposal of assets
Stock-based compensation expense
Common stock issued for advisory services
Abandonment of in-process research and development intangible asset
Change in deferred income taxes
Settlement of litigation matter
Non-cash interest expense
Amortization of debt issuance costs and debt discount
Changes in operating assets and liabilities:
Prepaid expenses, deposits and other assets
Accounts payable, accrued expenses and other liabilities
Net cash used in operating activities

$

(18,036,619) $
25,342
6,761
1,391,068
1,409,363
951,000
(364,796)
2,500,000
38,446
-

(6,719,222)
8,268
1,127
594,175
165,329
147,150

319,545
991,625
(10,768,265)

(29,739)
647,584
(5,185,328)

Cash flows provided by investing activities:
Purchases of property and equipment
Maturities of certificates of deposit
Cash received in reverse merger transaction
Net cash provided by investing activities

(2,331)
8,500,602
8,498,271

(40,291)
2,500,000
2,459,709

Cash flows provided by financing activities:
Proceeds from the issuance of convertible debt
Payment of offering costs
Net cash provided by financing activities

1,880,000
(54,346)
1,825,654

2,401,602
(15,310)
2,386,292

(444,340)

(339,327)

Net decrease in cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of period
Cash and cash equivalents at end of period

$

Supplemental disclosure of non-cash investing and financing activities:
Offering costs in accounts payable
Conversion of convertible notes and related accrued interest into common stock
Consideration in connection with RestorGenex Corporation merger transaction
See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.
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$

1,997,192
1,552,852

126,110
711,495
21,261,000

$

$

2,336,519
1,997,192

19,700,976
-

DIFFUSION PHARMACEUTICALS INC.
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
1. Organization and Description of Business
Diffusion Pharmaceuticals Inc. “Diffusion” or “the Company” is a clinical-stage specialty pharmaceutical company developing new, small-molecule drugs that
help regulate the movement of oxygen into tissue by a novel mechanism of action. The Company’s lead product candidate, trans sodium crocetinate (“TSC”), uses
this novel mechanism to re-oxygenate the microenvironment of solid cancerous tumors, thereby enhancing tumor cells’ response to conventional treatment without
additional side effects. TSC has received orphan drug designation for the treatment of glioblastoma multiforme (“GBM”), and the Company expects to enter a
Phase III study in newly diagnosed GBM patients in the next twelve (12) months, assuming the availability of financial resources.
On December 15, 2015, the Company’s predecessor for accounting purposes, Diffusion Pharmaceuticals LLC (“Diffusion LLC”) entered into a definitive
merger agreement with the Company, then known as “RestorGenex Corporation” and traded on the over-the-counter stock exchange under the ticker symbol
“RESX.” On January 8, 2016 the Company completed the merger with Diffusion LLC under which a newly formed subsidiary of the Company merged with and
into Diffusion LLC in an all-stock transaction, with Diffusion LLC surviving as a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company. Subsequent to the merger, the
Company was renamed “Diffusion Pharmaceuticals Inc.” and the Company’s ticker symbol was changed to “DFFN.” On November 9, 2016, the Company’s
common stock (“Common Stock”) began trading on the NASDAQ Capital Market.
The merger transaction was accounted for as a reverse acquisition under the acquisition method of accounting. Because Diffusion LLC’s pre-transaction
owners held an 84.1% economic and voting interest in the combined company immediately following the closing of the merger, Diffusion LLC is considered to be
the acquirer of RestorGenex for accounting purposes (See Note 12). For purposes of these notes and the financial statements they accompany, unless the context
otherwise requires, the terms “Diffusion” and “the Company” refer to Old Diffusion, and the term “RestorGenex” refers to the Company, in each case, for the
periods prior to the merger transaction.
The Company’s members’ capital at December 31, 2015 has been recast as common stock and additional paid in capital. On August 17, 2016, the Company
effected a 1-for-10 reverse split of its common stock. The accompanying consolidated financial statements and these notes give retroactive effect to this reverse
stock split.
Each outstanding unit of membership interest of Diffusion LLC (the “Diffusion Units”) was converted into the right to receive 0.3652658 shares of Common
Stock (the “Exchange Ratio”). Additionally, the right of holders of $1.1 million outstanding convertible notes of Diffusion LLC to convert such notes into
Diffusion Units was converted into the right to convert such notes into a number of shares of Common Stock equal to the number of Diffusion Units into which
such note would have been convertible under the original terms of the note multiplied by the Exchange Ratio. In addition, all outstanding options to purchase
Diffusion Units were assumed by the Company and the right to exercise converted into 1,495,615 options to purchase Common Stock on terms substantially
identical to those in effect prior to the merger transaction, except for adjustments to the underlying number of shares and the exercise price based on the Exchange
Ratio.

2. Liquidity
The Company has not generated any revenues from product sales and has funded operations primarily from the proceeds of private placements of its
membership units (prior to the Merger) and convertible notes, as well as through the reverse merger. Substantial additional financing will be required by the
Company to continue to fund its research and development activities. No assurance can be given that any such financing will be available when needed or that the
Company’s research and development efforts will be successful.
The Company regularly explores alternative means of financing its operations and seeks funding through various sources, including public and private
securities offerings, collaborative arrangements with third parties and other strategic alliances and business transactions. The Company received net cash proceeds
of approximately $14.1 million from the initial closing of a private placement (the “Private Placement”) of the Company’s Series A convertible preferred stock (the
“Series A Convertible Preferred Stock”), after deducting $1.7 million in placement agent fees and expenses. The Company may periodically conduct one or more
additional closings in the Private Placement for up to aggregate gross proceeds of $25.0 million.
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Other than as described in Note 17, the Company currently does not have any commitments to obtain additional funds and may be unable to obtain sufficient
funding in the future on acceptable terms, if at all. If the Company cannot obtain the necessary funding, it will need to delay, scale back or eliminate some or all of
its research and development programs or enter into collaborations with third parties to: commercialize potential products or technologies that it might otherwise
seek to develop or commercialize independently; consider other various strategic alternatives, including a merger or sale of the Company; or cease operations. If
the Company engages in collaborations, it may receive lower consideration upon commercialization of such products than if it had not entered into such
arrangements or if it entered into such arrangements at later stages in the product development process.
The Company has prepared its financial statements assuming that it will continue as a going concern, which contemplates realization of assets and the
satisfaction of liabilities in the normal course of business. The Company has incurred net losses since inception and it expects to generate losses from operations for
the foreseeable future primarily due to research and development costs for its potential product candidates, which raises substantial doubt about the Company’s
ability to continue as a going concern. Various internal and external factors will affect whether and when the Company’s product candidates become approved
drugs and how significant their market share will be, some of which are outside of the Company’s control. The length of time and cost of developing and
commercializing these product candidates and/or failure of them at any stage of the drug approval process will materially affect the Company’s financial condition
and future operations. The Company expects its existing cash as of December 31, 2016, together with the proceeds from the initial closing of the Private Placement
of its Series A Convertible Preferred Stock in March 2017, will enable the Company to fund its operating expenses and capital expenditure requirements into
December of 2017.
3. Basis of Presentation and Summary of Significant Accounting Policies
Basis of Presentation
The accompanying consolidated financial statements of the Company have been prepared in accordance with US GAAP. Any reference in these notes to
applicable guidance is meant to refer to US GAAP as found in the Accounting Standards Codification (“ASC”) and Accounting Standards Updates (“ASU”) of the
Financial Accounting Standards Board (“FASB”).
Use of Estimates
The preparation of financial statements in conformity with US GAAP requires the Company to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported
amounts of assets and liabilities and disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the financial statements and the reported amounts of expenses
during the reporting period.
On an ongoing basis, the Company evaluates its estimates using historical experience and other factors, including the current economic environment.
Significant items subject to such estimates are assumptions used for purposes of determining stock-based compensation, the fair value of the convertible notes,
allocation of the purchase price and accounting for research and development activities. Management believes its estimates to be reasonable under the
circumstances. Actual results could differ significantly from those estimates.
Fair Value of Financial Instruments
The carrying amounts of the Company’s financial instruments, including cash equivalents, accounts payable, and accrued expenses approximate fair value due
to the short-term nature of those instruments. The carrying value of the contingent consideration liability is the estimated fair value of the liability (See Note 15).
As of December 31, 2016, and December 31, 2015, the fair value of the Company’s outstanding convertible notes was approximately $2.6 million and $4.8 million,
respectively. The fair value of the convertible notes is determined using a binomial lattice model that utilizes certain unobservable inputs that fall within Level 3 of
the fair value hierarchy.
Concentration of Credit Risk
Financial instruments that potentially expose the Company to concentrations of credit risk consist principally of cash on deposit with multiple financial
institutions, the balances of which frequently exceed federally insured limits.
Cash and Cash Equivalents
The Company considers any highly liquid investments, such as money market funds, with an original maturity of three months or less to be cash and cash
equivalents.
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Property and Equipment
The Company records property and equipment at cost less accumulated depreciation and amortization. Costs of renewals and improvements that extend
the useful lives of the assets are capitalized. Maintenance and repairs are expensed as incurred. Depreciation is recognized on a straight-line basis over the
estimated useful lives of the assets, which generally range from 2 to 15 years. The Company amortizes leasehold improvements over the shorter of the estimated
useful life of the asset or the term of the related lease. Upon retirement or disposition of assets, the costs and related accumulated depreciation and amortization are
removed from the accounts with the resulting gains or losses, if any, reflected in results of operations.
Long-Lived Assets
Long-lived assets are reviewed for potential impairment whenever events indicate that the carrying amount of such assets may not be recoverable. The
Company does this by comparing the carrying value of the long-lived assets with the estimated future undiscounted cash flows expected to result from the use of
the assets, including cash flows from disposition. If it is determined an impairment exists, the asset is written down to its estimated fair value. The Company has not
recognized any impairment of long-lived assets during the years ended December 31, 2016 and 2015, respectively.
Intangible Assets
Intangible assets are comprised of identifiable in-process research and development (IPR&D) assets and are considered indefinite-lived intangible assets
and are assessed for impairment annually on October 1 or more frequently if impairment indicators exist. If the associated research and development effort is
abandoned, the related assets will be written-off and the Company will record a non-cash impairment loss. For those compounds that reach commercialization, the
IPR&D assets will be amortized over their estimated useful lives. In August 2016, the Company abandoned the future development efforts with respect to its RES440 product candidate, and the value of the associated IPR&D asset was written down to zero (See Note 4).
Goodwill
Goodwill is the excess of the cost of an acquired entity over the net amounts assigned to tangible and intangible assets acquired and liabilities assumed.
Goodwill is not amortized, but is subject to an annual impairment test. The Company has a single reporting unit and all goodwill relates to that reporting unit.
The Company performs its annual goodwill impairment test on October 1 of each fiscal year or more frequently if changes in circumstances or the
occurrence of events suggest that an impairment exists. If the fair value of the reporting unit is less than its carrying value, an impairment loss is recorded to the
extent that the implied fair value of the reporting unit’s goodwill is less than the carrying value of the reporting unit’s goodwill. The Company did not recognize
any impairment of goodwill during the year ended December 31, 2016.
Offering Costs
Offering costs consist principally of legal costs incurred through the balance sheet date related to our private placement financing (See Note 17) and are
recognized in other assets on the consolidated balance sheet.
Research and Development
Major components of research and development costs include internal research and development (such as salaries and related employee benefits, equitybased compensation, supplies and allocated facility costs) and contracted services (research and development activities performed on the Company’s behalf). Costs
incurred for research and development are expensed as incurred.
At the end of the reporting period, the Company compares payments made to third-party service providers to the estimated progress toward completion of
the research or development objectives. Such estimates are subject to change as additional information becomes available. Depending on the timing of payments to
the service providers and the progress that the Company estimates has been made as a result of the services provided, the Company may record net prepaid or
accrued expenses relating to these costs.
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Upfront payments made to third parties who perform research and development services on the Company’s behalf are expensed as services are rendered.
Patent Costs
Patent costs, including related legal costs, are expensed as incurred and are recorded within general and administrative expenses in the statements of
operations.
Income Taxes
Prior to the Merger, Diffusion LLC was treated as a partnership for federal and state income tax purposes. Diffusion LLC’s taxable income or loss, as well
as certain other tax attributes, were passed through directly to its members and were reported in each member’s individual income tax return.
Upon completion of the Merger as discussed in Note 1, the Company converted from a partnership to a corporation for accounting purposes. As a
corporation, the Company uses the asset and liability method of accounting for income taxes. Deferred tax assets and liabilities are recognized for the estimated
future tax consequences attributable to differences between the financial statement carrying amounts of existing assets and liabilities and their respective tax bases
and operating loss and credit carryforwards. Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured using enacted tax rates expected to apply to taxable income in the years
in which those temporary differences are expected to be recovered or settled. A valuation allowance is provided when it is more likely than not that some portion or
all of a deferred tax asset will not be realized. The Company recognizes the benefit of an uncertain tax position that it has taken or expects to take on its income tax
return it files, if such a position is more likely than not to be sustained.
Debt Issuance Costs
Debt issuance costs incurred in connection with financing arrangements are amortized to interest expense over the life of the respective financing
arrangement using the effective interest method. Debt issuance costs, net of related amortization, are deducted from the carrying amount of the related debt.
Stock-based Compensation
The Company measures employee and nonemployee stock-based awards at grant-date fair value and records compensation expense on a straight-line basis
over the vesting period of the award. Stock-based awards issued to non-employees are revalued until the award vests. The Company uses the Black-Scholes option
pricing model to value its stock option awards. Estimating the fair value of stock option awards requires management to apply judgment and make estimates,
including the volatility of the Company’s common stock, the expected term of the Company’s stock options, the expected dividend yield and the fair value of the
Company’s common stock on the measurement date. As a result, if factors change and management uses different assumptions, stock-based compensation expense
could be materially different for future awards.
The expected term of stock options was estimated using the “simplified method” for employee options as the Company has no historical information to
develop reasonable expectations about future exercise patterns and post vesting employment termination behavior for its stock option grants. The simplified method
is based on the average of the vesting tranches and the contractual life of each grant. For options granted to non-employees, the Company uses the remaining
contractual life. For stock price volatility, the Company uses comparable public companies as a basis for its expected volatility to calculate the fair value of option
grants. The Company assumes no dividend yield because dividends are not expected to be paid in the near future, which is consistent with the Company’s history of
not paying dividends. The risk-free interest rate is based on U.S. Treasury notes with a term approximating the expected life of the option.
Net Loss Per Share
Basic loss per share is computed by dividing net loss applicable to common stockholders by the weighted average number of shares of common stock
outstanding during each period. Diluted loss per share includes the effect, if any, from the potential exercise or conversion of securities, such as convertible debt,
warrants, stock options and unvested restricted stock that would result in the issuance of incremental shares of common stock. In computing the basic and diluted
net loss per share, the weighted average number of shares remains the same for both calculations due to the fact that when a net loss exists, dilutive shares are not
included in the calculation as the impact is anti-dilutive.
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The following potentially dilutive securities outstanding have been excluded from the computation of diluted weighted average shares outstanding, as they
would be anti-dilutive:
December 31,
2016
Convertible debt
Common stock warrants
Stock options
Unvested restricted stock awards

2015

757,909
460,721
2,207,409
9,204

427,108
—
1,495,582
15,341

3,435,243

1,938,031

Amounts in the table reflect the common stock equivalents of the noted instruments.
Comprehensive Loss
The Company has no items of comprehensive income or loss other than net loss.
Recent Accounting Pronouncements
In August 2016, the FASB issued ASU 2016-15, Classification of Certain Cash Receipts and Cash Payments , which will reduce diversity in practice on
how certain cash receipts and cash payments are classified in the statement of cash flows. The guidance is applicable to public business entities for fiscal years
beginning after December 15, 2017 and interim periods within those years. The ASU should be applied retrospectively and early adoption is permitted. The
Company is currently evaluating the impact of adopting this new guidance on its financial statements and related disclosures.
In March 2016, the FASB issued ASU 2016-09, Compensation – Improvements to Employee Share-Based Payment Accounting , which simplifies several
aspects of the accounting for employee share-based payment transactions including the accounting for income taxes, forfeitures, and statutory tax withholding
requirements, as well as classification in the statement of cash flows. The guidance is applicable to public business entities for fiscal years beginning after
December 15, 2016 and interim periods within those years. The Company is currently evaluating the effect that ASU 2016-09 will have on its consolidated
financial statements and related disclosures.
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In February 2016, the FASB issued ASU 2016-02, Leases (Topic 842) . The FASB issued the update to require the recognition of lease assets and
liabilities on the balance sheet of lessees. The standard will be effective for fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2018, including interim periods within such
fiscal years. The ASU requires a modified retrospective transition method with the option to elect a package of practical expedients. Early adoption is permitted.
The Company is currently evaluating the potential impact of the adoption of this standard on its consolidated results of operations, financial position and cash flows
and related disclosures.
In August 2014, the FASB issued ASU 2014-15, Disclosure of Uncertainties about an Entity’s Ability to Continue as a Going Concern . The amendments
in this update will explicitly require a company’s management to assess an entity’s ability to continue as a going concern, and to provide related footnote
disclosures in certain circumstances. The new standard is effective in the first annual period ending after December 15, 2016. The Company adopted this standard
as of December 31, 2016 and the adoption of this standard did not have a material impact on our financial statements.
Reclassification
Certain prior period balances have been reclassified to conform with the current period presentation.
4. Acquisitions
Merger with Diffusion Pharmaceuticals LLC
On December 15, 2015, the Company entered into a merger agreement (the “Merger Agreement”) with Diffusion LLC. On January 8, 2016, the Company
completed the merger (the “Merger”), with Diffusion LLC surviving as a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company. Subsequent to the Merger, the Company was
renamed “Diffusion Pharmaceuticals Inc.” and the Company’s ticker symbol was changed from “RESX” to “DFFN.” In November 2016, the Company’s Common
Stock was approved for listing on the NASDAQ Capital Market and continues to trade under the ticker symbol “DFFN”. The Company and Diffusion LLC entered
into the Merger Agreement in an effort to provide improved access to the capital markets in order to obtain the resources necessary to accelerate development of
TSC in multiple clinical programs and continue to build an oncology-focused company.
The Merger was accounted for as a reverse acquisition under the acquisition method of accounting. Because Diffusion LLC’s pre-transaction owners held
an 84.1% economic and voting interest in the combined company immediately following the completion of the Merger, Diffusion LLC is considered to be the
acquirer of the Company for accounting purposes.
Each Diffusion Unit was converted into the right to receive 0.3652658 shares of Common Stock based on the Exchange Ratio. Additionally, the rights of
holders of Diffusion LLC’s outstanding convertible notes to convert such notes into Diffusion Units was converted into the right to convert such notes into a
number of shares of Common Stock equal to the number of Diffusion Units into which such note would have been convertible under the terms of the note in effect
immediately prior to the consummation of the Merger multiplied by the Exchange Ratio. In addition, all outstanding options to purchase Diffusion Units were
assumed by the Company and the right to exercise such options for Diffusion Units converted into a right to exercise such options for Common Stock on terms
substantially identical to those in effect prior to the Merger transaction, except for adjustments to the underlying number of shares and the exercise price based on
the Exchange Ratio.
In connection with the Merger, the Company’s former Board of Directors authorized, declared and effected a distribution of contingent value rights
(“CVRs”) to stockholders of the Company as of the close of business on January 7, 2016. Each CVR is a non-transferable right to potentially receive certain cash
payments in the event the Company receives net cash payments during the five (5) year period after the Merger as a result of the sale, transfer, license or similar
transaction or any other agreement to the extent relating to the development of the Company’s product currently known as RES-440, a “soft” anti-androgen. See
below and Note 15 for additional fair value information.
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The purchase consideration in a reverse acquisition is determined with reference to the value of equity that the accounting acquirer, in this case, Diffusion
LLC, would have had to issue to the owners of the accounting acquiree, the Company, to give the pre-acquisition equity holders of the Company the same
percentage interest in Diffusion LLC that such pre-acquisition equity holders held in the Company immediately following the Merger. The purchase price was
calculated as follows:
Fair value of the Company’s pre-Merger shares outstanding

$

19,546,000

Estimated fair value of the Company’s pre-Merger stock options outstanding

1,321,000

Estimated fair value of the Company’s pre-Merger warrants outstanding

384,000

CVRs – RES-440 product candidate

10,000

Total purchase price

$

21,261,000

The Merger transaction has been accounted for using the acquisition method of accounting, which requires that assets acquired and liabilities assumed be
recognized at their fair values as of the acquisition date. The valuation technique utilized to value the IPR&D was the cost approach.
The following table summarizes the allocation of the purchase price to the assets acquired and liabilities assumed as of the acquisition date:
Cash and cash equivalents

$

8,500,602

Prepaid expenses and other assets

195,200

Property and equipment

57,531

Intangible assets

9,600,000

Goodwill

6,929,258

Accrued liabilities

(377,432)

Deferred tax liability

(3,644,159)

Net assets acquired

$

21,261,000

Qualitative factors supporting the recognition of goodwill due to the Merger include the Company’s anticipated enhanced ability to secure additional
capital and gain access to capital market opportunities as a public company and the potential value created by having a more well-rounded clinical development
portfolio by adding the earlier stage products acquired in the Merger to the Company’s later state product portfolio. The goodwill is not deductible for income tax
purposes. The values allocated to IPR&D intangible assets are $8.6 million for the RES-529 compound and $1.0 million for the RES-440 compound, each with
indefinite useful lives. See Note 6 for additional information.
Pro Forma Financial Information (Unaudited)
The following pro forma financial information reflects the consolidated results of operations of the Company as if the Merger had taken place on January
1, 2015. The pro forma financial information is not necessarily indicative of the results of operations as they would have been had the transactions been effected on
the assumed date.

Year ended December 3 1 ,
2016

2015

Net revenues

$

Net loss

$

(16,471,398) $

(17,618,292)

Basic and diluted loss per share

$

(1.60) $

(3.89)
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Non-recurring pro forma transaction costs directly attributable to the Merger were $1.6 million for the year ended December 31, 2016 and have been
deducted from the net loss presented above. The costs deducted from the year ended December 31, 2016 period included a success fee and other transaction costs of
$1.1 million and approximately 46,000 shares of common stock with a fair market value of $0.5 million paid to a financial advisor upon the closing of the Merger
on January 8, 2016. Additionally, RestorGenex incurred approximately $3.0 million in severance costs as a result of resignations of executive officers immediately
prior to the Merger and approximately $2.7 million in share based compensation expense as a result of the acceleration of vesting of stock options at the time of
Merger. These costs are excluded from the pro forma financial information for the year ended December 31, 2016. The Company excluded an $11.1 million
impairment charge incurred by RestorGenex as well as combined transaction costs from Diffusion and RestoGenex in the amount of $1.9 million from the pro
forma financial information for the year ended December 31, 2015.

5. Property and Equipment
Property and equipment consists of the following:
December 31,
2016
Laboratory equipment
Furniture and office equipment
Total property and equipment
Less: accumulated depreciation
Property and equipment, net

$

$

182,357 $
137,290
319,647
(239,892)
79,755 $

Depreciation expense was approximately $25.0 thousand and $8.0 thousand for the year ended December 31, 2016 and 2015, respectively.
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6. Goodwill and Intangible Assets
The Company completes its annual impairment test on October 1 each year, or more frequently if triggering events indicate a possible impairment. The
Company continually evaluates financial performance, economic conditions and other relevant developments in assessing if an interim period impairment test is
necessary.
Changes in the carrying amount of goodwill for the period ended December 31, 2016 consisted of the following:
Goodwill
Balance as of December 31, 2015
Goodwill as a result of the Merger
Balance as of December 31, 2016

$

—
6,929,258
6,929,258

$

Intangible assets consisted of the following:

RES-529
RES-440
Total in-process research and development costs (IPR&D)

Acquisition
Date Fair
Value
$
8,639,000
961,000
$
9,600,000

Accumulated
Amortization
$

-

$

Carrying
Value
Impairment
at December
Upon
31,
Abandonment
2016
$
- $
8,639,000
(961,000) $
$
(961,000) $
8,639,000

The Company’s novel PI3K/Akt/mTOR pathway inhibitor, RES-529, is in preclinical development for oncology. Through a series of in vitro and in vivo
animal models, RES-529 has been shown to have activity in several cancer types due to its ability to target and inhibit the PI3K/Akt/mTOR signal transduction
pathway. RES-529 is a first-in-class inhibitor of both TORC1 and TORC2 that is mechanistically differentiated from other PI3K/Akt/mTOR pathway inhibitors
currently in development. RES-529 has shown activity in both in vitro and in vivo glioblastoma animal models and has been demonstrated to be orally bioavailable
and can cross the blood brain barrier.
In August 2016, the Board of Directors determined that RES-440, a “soft” anti-androgen compound for the treatment of acne vulgaris, was outside the
Company’s core product focus, and was not a priority. Therefore, future development efforts were abandoned in the third quarter of 2016. In connection with its
review of such abandonment, the Company concluded RES-440 was impaired in its entirety and the CVRs were remeasured and determined to have no value as of
December 31, 2016. The abandonment resulted in a net impairment charge of $1.0 million and was recorded as a component of research and development expenses
within the Company’s consolidated statement of operations for the year ended December 31, 2016. The abandonment also resulted in an income tax benefit of $0.4
million.
7. Other Assets
Other assets consist of the following:
December 31,
2016
Offering costs
Clinical studies deposits
Other
Total

$

$
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2015
180,456
—
52,219
232,675

$

$

—
160,400
21,087
181,487
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8. Accrued Expenses and Other Current Liabilities
Accrued expenses and other current liabilities consist of the following:
December 31,
2016
Accrued interest payable
Accrued payroll and payroll related expenses
Accrued professional fees
Accrued clinical studies expenses
Other
Total

$

$

2015
29,359
399,740
72,855
220,978
151,332
874,264

$

$

14,009
56,947
327,950
184,737
38,026
621,669

9. Convertible Debt
On September 27, 2016, the Company issued and sold convertible promissory notes (“2016 Convertible Notes”) in an aggregate principal amount of $1.9
million. The 2016 Convertible Notes were issued to an investor and certain other parties in connection with the settlement of a litigation matter (See Note 10). The
2016 Convertible Notes have a term of one (1) year and bear interest at a rate of 6.0% per annum with the principal and accrued interest due upon the earlier of the
maturity date or conversion date. At any time prior to the maturity date, the holders may elect to convert, in whole or in part, the 2016 Convertible Notes (including
any accrued but unpaid interest) into shares of the Company’s common stock at a conversion price of $3.50 per share. In the event of a Change of Control (as
defined in the 2016 Convertible Notes), the holders of the 2016 Convertible Notes may declare the aggregate outstanding amount of the 2016 Convertible Notes to
be immediately due and payable or may elect to convert the 2016 Convertible Notes and any accrued but unpaid interest as if such conversion took place on the
maturity date.
The Company accounted for the issuance of the convertible promissory notes in accordance with ASC 470-10-25 and, at the time of issuance, recorded a
litigation settlement expense of $2.5 million which represents the difference between the estimated fair value of the 2016 Convertible Notes issued and the cash
received from the noteholders.
From December 2009 through December 2015, the Company issued unsecured convertible promissory notes (the “Old Convertible Notes”) for aggregate
gross proceeds of $22.4 million. The Old Convertible Notes bore interest at either 1% or 1.5% per annum, however, all Old Convertible Notes outstanding at
December 31, 2016 bear interest at a rate of 1% per annum. The Old Convertible Notes accrue interest beginning on the date of issuance, with the principal and
accrued interest due upon the earlier of the maturity date or conversion date. At any time prior to the maturity date, the holders may elect to convert, in whole or in
part, the Old Convertible Notes and any related accrued but unpaid interest into common stock of the Company at a price per share equal to the conversion price.
In the event of a Change of Control or a Qualified Financing (each as defined below), the holders of the Old Convertible Notes may declare the aggregate
outstanding amount of the Old Convertible Notes to be immediately due and payable or may elect to convert the Convertible Notes and any accrued but unpaid
interest as if such conversion took place on the maturity date. A Change of Control is defined as: (i) a merger or consolidation in which the owners immediately
prior to the transaction do not own, directly or indirectly, more than 50% of the surviving company; (ii) the acquisition of more than 50% of the Company’s
outstanding shares by a single person, entity or group or persons or entities acting in concert or (iii) the sale or transfer of all or substantially all of the assets of the
Company. A Qualified Financing is defined as a sale of shares or other transaction that results in gross proceeds to the Company of at least $50.0 million, including
proceeds received in connection with the conversion of any Old Convertible Notes. Through the date the financial statements were available to be issued, there
have been no Change of Control or Qualified Financing events.
The Company may prepay the Old Convertible Notes, in full or in part, at any time on a pari passu basis. Upon receipt of notice that the Company intends
to prepay the Old Convertible Notes, holders will have the option to convert their notes in lieu of payment.
At the effective time of the Merger, $1.1 million in aggregate principal amount of Old Convertible Notes were outstanding and the rights of the holders of
each such outstanding Old Convertible Note convertible into Diffusion Units were converted into the right to convert such securities into a number of shares of the
Company’s common stock equal to the number of Diffusion Units such Old Convertible Note would be convertible into pursuant to its terms multiplied by the
Exchange Ratio.
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The following table provides the details of the Convertible Notes outstanding at December 31, 2016:
Convertible Note Series

Issue Date

Maturity Date

Conversion Price

Interest Rate

Total Principal

2016 Convertible Notes

9/27/2016

9/27/2017

$

3.50

6.00% $

Series B Note

3/15/2011

6/30/2018

$

2.74

1.00%

1,880,000
550,000

Total principal amount

2,430,000

Less current portion of convertible
notes

(1,880,000)

Convertible notes, net of current
portion

$

550,000

During the year ended December 31, 2016, Old Convertible Notes of $0.7 million and related accrued interest of $16.4 thousand were converted into
217,122 shares of common stock:

The following table provides the details of the Convertible Notes outstanding at December 31, 2015:
Convertible Note
Series

Issue Date

Maturity
Date

Conversion
Price

Interest
Rate

Total
Principal

B

3/15/2011

6/30/2018

$

2.74

1.00%

570,000

C

09/14/12

6/30/2018

$

2.74

1.00%

425,000

E

06/30/2014

06/30/2018

$

4.11

1.00%

50,000

F

12/04/2015

12/04/2019

$

5.48

1.00%

200,000

Total principal amount

1,245,000

Less: unamortized debt issuance costs

(1,390)

Less current portion of convertible notes

(424,964)
$

Convertible notes, net of current portion
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During the year ended December 31, 2015, Old Convertible Notes of $19.1 million and related accrued interest of $0.6 million were converted into
5,891,574 shares of common stock:

10. Commitments and Contingencies
Operating Lease
The Company leases office and laboratory facilities in Charlottesville, Virginia under a month-to-month cancelable operating lease. Rent expense related
to the operating lease was $66.0 thousand for each of the years ended December 31, 2016 and 2015.

Legal Proceedings
On August 7, 2014, a complaint was filed in the Superior Court of Los Angeles County, California by Paul Feller, the Company’s former Chief Executive
Officer under the caption Paul Feller v. RestorGenex Corporation, Pro Sports & Entertainment, Inc., ProElite, Inc. and Stratus Media Group, GmbH (Case No.
BC553996). The complaint asserts various causes of action, including, among other things, promissory fraud, negligent misrepresentation, breach of contract,
breach of employment agreement, breach of the covenant of good faith and fair dealing, violations of the California Labor Code and common counts. The plaintiff
is seeking, among other things, compensatory damages in an undetermined amount, punitive damages, accrued interest and an award of attorneys’ fees and costs.
On December 30, 2014, the Company filed a petition to compel arbitration and a motion to stay the action. On April 1, 2015, the plaintiff filed a petition in
opposition to the Company’s petition to compel arbitration and a motion to stay the action. After a hearing for the petition and motion on April 14, 2015, the Court
granted the Company’s petition to compel arbitration and a motion to stay the action. On January 8, 2016, the plaintiff filed an arbitration demand with the
American Arbitration Association. No arbitration hearing has yet been scheduled. The Company believes this matter is without merit and intends to defend the
arbitration vigorously. Because this matter is in an early stage, the Company is unable to predict its outcome and the possible loss or range of loss, if any,
associated with its resolution or any potential effect the matter may have on the Company’s financial position. Depending on the outcome or resolution of this
matter, it could have a material effect on the Company’s financial position.
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On September 21, 2015, David Schmidt, a former member of Diffusion LLC and current stockholder of the Company, filed suit (the “Original
Complaint”) in the Circuit Court for Albemarle County, Virginia (Case. No. CL15-791, David G. Schmidt v. Diffusion Pharmaceuticals LLC), which Complaint
was amended on April 14, 2016 (the “Amended Complaint”). The Original Complaint alleged that a breach of contract with respect to Mr. Schmidt’s previously
converted convertible note, and requested relief of specific performance requiring Diffusion LLC to issue him additional units, representing the additional number
of units he would have received had he converted at the renegotiated conversion price.
On September 27, 2016, the Company, Diffusion LLC, Mr. Schmidt and the other parties thereto entered into a Settlement Agreement (the “Settlement
Agreement”) pursuant to which, among other things, (i) Mr. Schmidt and Diffusion each agreed to submit a consent order to the Court dismissing all claims set
forth in the Amended Complaint with prejudice and without an admission of liability by any party, (ii) Mr. Schmidt and Diffusion each released, on behalf of such
party and its heirs, assigns, representatives, affiliates and agents, all claims and causes of action of any nature against the other party existing as of the date of the
Settlement Agreement and (iii) as consideration therefor, the Company agreed to issue and sell, to Mr. Schmidt and the other parties to the Settlement Agreement,
the 2016 Convertible Notes in an aggregate principal amount of $1.9 million and are convertible into shares of Common Stock at an initial conversion price of
$3.50 per share.
The Company recognized a litigation settlement charge of $2.5 million which represents the difference between the fair value of the 2016 Convertible
Notes issued and the cash received from Mr. Schmidt and other parties. The settlement charge was recorded as a component of general and administrative expenses
within the Company’s consolidated statement of operations for the year ended December 31, 2016.
11. Stockholder’s Equity
Common Stock
In connection with the Merger (See Note 4) the Company ascribed non-cash consideration of $0.4 million to 478,200 warrants outstanding prior to the
Merger. During the year ended December 31, 2016, the Company issued 2,226,698 shares of its Common Stock of which 1,861,503 are shares held by the preMerger stockholders of the Company, 45,643 shares were issued for advisory services provided in connection with the Merger, 102,430 shares were issued for
general financial advisory services provided to the Company and 217,122 shares were issued pursuant to conversions of convertible debt as discussed in Note 9.
The Company did not purchase or retire any shares of its common stock.
Warrants
During the year ended December 31, 2016, the Company did not grant any warrants to purchase shares of its common stock and no warrants were
exercised. During the year ended December 31, 2016, warrants to purchase an aggregate of 17,479 shares of common stock expired unexercised.
Warrants to purchase an aggregate of 460,721 shares of the Company’s common stock were outstanding and exercisable as of December 31, 2016, with
per share exercise prices ranging from $20.00 to $750.00 and a weighted average exercise price of $54.27 per share.

12. Stock-Based Compensation
Upon consummation of the Merger, all outstanding options to purchase Diffusion Units were converted into stock options to purchase the Company’s
common stock on terms substantially identical to those in effect prior to the reverse merger, except for adjustments to the underlying number of shares and the
exercise price based on the Exchange Ratio. At the time of the Merger, there were 301,156 stock options that were exercisable for shares of the Company’s
common stock at a weighted average exercise price of $40.13 per share.
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2015 Equity Plan
The 2015 Equity Plan, as amended in July 2016, currently allows for the issuance of up to a maximum of 500,000 shares of common stock in connection
with the grant of stock-based awards, including stock options, restricted stock, restricted stock units, stock appreciation rights and other types of awards as deemed
appropriate, not including shares subject to awards assumed in connection with certain transactions, including the Merger. As of December 31, 2016, there were
40,507 shares of common stock available for future issuance under the 2015 Equity Plan. In addition, beginning on January 1, 2017, on each January 1 st through
the term of the plan, up to 4.0% of the total shares of the Company’s common stock outstanding as of December 31 st will be added to the plan reserve, unless a
lesser amount is stipulated by the Compensation Committee of the Company’s Board of Directors. On January 1, 2017, the maximum number of shares of the 2015
Equity Plan increased by 413,825 shares, or 4.0% of the total shares of the Company’s common stock outstanding at December 31, 2016.
The Company recorded stock-based compensation expense in the following expense categories of its consolidated statements of operations for the periods
indicated:
Year ended
December 31 ,
2015
2016
Research and development

$

674,643

$

309,579

716,425

General and administrative
$

Total stock-based compensation expense

1,391,068

284,596
$

594,175

The following table summarizes the activity related to all stock option grants to employees and non-employees for the year ended December 31, 2016:

Number of
Options
Balance at January 1, 2016

1,495,615

Weighted
average
exercise price
per share
$

Weighted
average
remaining
contractual life
(in years)

Aggregate
Intrinsic
Value (A)

3.92

RestorGenex options outstanding

301,156

40.13

Cancelled

(48,190)

61.30

Granted

458,828

6.25

Outstanding at December 31, 2016

2,207,409

$

8.09

7.8

$94,599

Exercisable at December 31, 2016

1,446,121

$

9.36

7.0

$94,599

Vested and expected to vest at December 31, 2016

2,203,011

$

8.09

7.8

$94,599

(A) The difference, if positive, between the stock option’s exercise price and the closing price of the Company’s common stock at December 31, 2016.
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Generally, the options have a ten (10) year contractual term and vest in equal monthly installments over three (3) years. In August 2016, the Company
granted an option to purchase 204,907 shares of Common Stock to a director in connection with the director’s appointment to the board of directors. The options
will vest in equal quarterly installments over ten (10) years and any options exercised are restricted from being sold until August 2021.
Non-employee Stock Options
Non-employee options are remeasured to fair value each period through operations using a Black-Scholes option-pricing model until the options vest.
There were no stock options granted to non-employees during the year ended December 31, 2016. Key assumptions used to estimate the fair value of the nonemployee stock options granted during the year ended December 31, 2015 included risk-free interest rates of 1.9% to 2.4%, an expected volatility of 125.8% to
127.4%, no expected dividend yield and an expected term equal to the remaining contractual option term. The total fair value of non-employee stock options vested
during the years ended December 31, 2016 and 2015 was $0.8 million and $0.2 million, respectively. The weighted average stock price used to determine the fair
value of non-employee stock options that vested during the years ended December 31, 2016 and 2015 was $8.27 and $1.90, respectively. At December 31, 2016,
there was $75.0 thousand of unrecognized compensation cost related to 42,963 unvested stock options and subject to re-measurement until vested. The total
unrecognized compensation expense will be recognized as expense over a weighted-average period of 1.0 year.
Employee Stock Options
The weighted average grant date fair value of stock option awards granted to employees was $5.55 and $2.25 during the year ended December 31, 2016
and 2015, respectively. The total fair value of options vested during the years ended December 31, 2016 and 2015 were $0.6 million and $0.3 million, respectively.
No options were exercised during any of the periods presented. At December 31, 2016, there was $2.9 million of unrecognized compensation cost related to
unvested options that will be recognized as expense over a weighted-average period of 6.02 years.
The grant date fair value of employee stock options is determined using the Black-Scholes model. The following assumptions were used during the years
ended December 31, 2016 and 2015:
2016
5.76 - 7.48
1.2% - 2.0%
106.8% - 125.5%
0%

Expected term (in years)
Risk-free interest rate
Expected volatility
Dividend yield

2015
5.76
2.1% - 2.3%
125.6% - 125.8%
0%

Restricted Stock Awards
As of December 31, 2016, there were 9,198 unvested shares of restricted stock. During the year ended December 31, 2016, 6,140 shares vested. The fair
value as of the respective vesting dates of the restricted stock awards was $12.0 thousand and $6.0 thousand for 2016 and 2015, respectively. The grant date fair
value of each restricted stock award granted during the year ended December 31, 2015 was $1.97. There were no restricted stock awards granted in 2016. At
December 31, 2016, there was $18.0 thousand of unrecognized compensation cost related to unvested restricted stock that will be recognized as expense over a
weighted average period of 1.5 years.
13. Defined Contribution Retirement Plan
The Company has established a 401(k) defined contribution plan (the 401(k) Plan) that covers all employees who qualify under the terms of the plan.
Eligible employees may elect to contribute to the 401(k) Plan up to 90% of their compensation, limited by the IRS-imposed maximum. The Company provides a
safe harbor match with a maximum amount of 4% of the participant’s compensation. The Company made matching contributions under the 401(k) Plan of $28.0
thousand and $10.0 thousand for the years ended December 31, 2016 and 2015, respectively.
14 . Income Taxes
Prior to the Merger, the Company was treated as a partnership for federal income tax purposes.
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Deferred tax assets and liabilities are determined based on the differences between the financial statement carrying amounts and tax bases of assets and
liabilities using enacted tax rates in effect for years in which differences are expected to reverse. A deferred tax liability of $3.6 million was recorded for the basis
differences associated with indefinite-lived in-process R&D assets. In August 2016, the Company abandoned future development efforts for the IPR&D asset
associated with RES-440 and recorded an impairment charge of $1.0 million which is equal to its acquired value. Upon recognizing the impairment, the Company
recognized an income tax benefit of $0.4 million and reduced the carrying value of the related deferred tax liability as of December 31, 2016 (See Note 4).
Significant components of the Company's deferred tax assets for federal income taxes as of December 31, 2016 consisted of the following:
Deferred tax assets

December 31,
2016

Net operating loss carryforwards

$

7,547,296

Stock option compensation

2,720,186

Orphan Drug credits

1,218,069

Capitalized start-up costs and other

4,690,843

Valuation allowance

(16,176,394)

Net deferred tax asset

$

—

Deferred tax liabilities
Intangible assets

(3,279,363)

Net deferred tax liability

$

(3,279,363)

The changes in the valuation allowance that occurred during 2016 were as follows:
Valuation allowance at beginning of year

$

—

Changes recorded to income tax provision

5,017,047

Changes recorded in purchase accounting

11,159,347

Valuation allowance at end of year

$

16,176,394

The Company does not have unrecognized tax benefits as of December 31, 2016. The Company recognizes interest and penalties accrued on any
unrecognized tax benefits as a component of income tax expense.
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The Company had net operating loss carryforwards (“NOL”) for federal and state income tax purposes at December 31, 2016 of approximately:
Combined NOL Carryforwards:

December 31, 2016

Federal

$

19,842,612

State

$

20,222,492

Upon completion of the Merger, the Company acquired the net operating losses for federal and state income tax purposes which RestorGenex has
incurred since inception. The Tax Reform Act of 1986 (the “Act”) provides for limitation on the use of net operating loss following certain ownership changes (as
defined in the Act) that could limit the Company’s ability to utilize these carryforwards. The Company experienced an ownership change as a result of the Merger.
The net operating loss carryforwards begin expiring in 2034 for federal income tax purposes and for state income tax purposes. In January 2016, the
number of outstanding shares of RestorGenex common stock increased in connection with the Merger discussed in note 4. This increase in the number of shares
outstanding resulted in a change of ownership, under the provisions of Internal Revenue Code Section 382 and similar state provisions, and limits the Company’s
ability to utilize these net operating loss carryforwards to offset future income. The amounts above reflect the amount of NOLs that the Company expects to be able
to utilize as a result of the limitation. The Company recorded a 100% valuation allowance of the deferred tax assets as of December 31, 2016, because of the
uncertainty of their realization.
A reconciliation of income tax benefit at the statutory federal income tax rate and income taxes as reflected in the financial statements as of December 31,
2016 is as follows:
Rate reconciliation:
Federal tax benefit at statutory rate

December 31, 2016
(34.0) %

State tax, net of Federal benefit

(2.3)

Litigation settlement charge

4.6

Acquisition costs

2.8

Orphan drug credit

(4.4)

Change in valuation allowance

27.2

Stock compensation

4.2

Other

(0.1)

Total provision

(2.0) %

The Company files income tax returns in the U.S. federal jurisdiction and various state jurisdictions. The Company’s 2013 to 2015 tax years remain open
and subject to examination.
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15.

Fair Value Measurements

Certain assets and liabilities are carried at fair value under GAAP. Fair value is defined as the exchange price that would be received for an asset or paid to
transfer a liability (an exit price) in the principal or most advantageous market for the asset or liability in an orderly transaction between market participants on the
measurement date. Valuation techniques used to measure fair value must maximize the use of observable inputs and minimize the use of unobservable inputs.
Financial assets and liabilities carried at fair value are to be classified and disclosed in one of the following three levels of the fair value hierarchy, of which the first
two are considered observable and the last is considered unobservable:
●

Level 1—Quoted prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities.

●

Level 2—Observable inputs (other than Level 1 quoted prices), such as quoted prices in active markets for similar assets or liabilities, quoted prices
in markets that are not active for identical or similar assets or liabilities, or other inputs that are observable or can be corroborated by observable
market data.

●

Level 3—Unobservable inputs that are supported by little or no market activity and that are significant to determining the fair value of the assets or
liabilities, including pricing models, discounted cash flow methodologies and similar techniques.

The asset’s or liability’s fair value measurement level within the fair value hierarchy is based on the lowest level of any input that is significant to the fair
value measurement.
The following table presents the Company’s assets and liabilities that are measured at fair value on a recurring basis:
December 31 , 2016
(Level 1)

(Level 2)

(Level 3)

Assets
Cash and cash equivalents

$

1,552,852

$

—

$

—

$

—

$

—

$

—

Liabilities
Contingent value rights distribution

December 31, 2015
(Level 1)

(Level 2)

(Level 3)

Assets
Cash and cash equivalents

$

1,997,192

$

—

$

—

$

—

$

—

$

—

Liabilities
Contingent value rights distribution

Contingent Value Rights Distribution
Each CVR represents a non-transferable right (subject to certain limited exceptions) to potentially receive certain cash payments, not to exceed $50.0
million in the aggregate, in the event the Company receives net cash payments during the five (5) year period after the Merger as a result of the sale, transfer,
license or similar transaction relating to RES-440. Any option or warrant holder of the Company as of the record date for the CVRs would, at the time of exercise,
be entitled to receive one CVR for each share of the Company’s common stock issued upon the future exercise of the option or warrant, which would entitle the
holder to a pro rata portion of any CVR payments made after the date of exercise.
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In connection with the abandonment of the RES-440 IPR&D asset (See Note 4), the Company remeasured the value of each CVR and as of December 31,
2016, determined the CVRs have no value.
The reconciliation of the contingent consideration liability measured at fair value on a recurring basis using significant unobservable inputs (Level 3) is as
follows:

Issued in connection with the Merger transaction

$

Change in fair value upon abandonment of RES-440

Contingent
Value Rights
Distribution
10,000
(10,000)

Balance at December 31, 2016

$

—

16. Related Party Transactions
The Company’s Director of Information Technologies is also the son of the Chief Executive Officer and he has held that position since December 2014.
17. Subsequent Events
The Company is conducting the Private Placement of (i) shares of its Series A Convertible Preferred Stock, each share of Series A Convertible Preferred
Stock being convertible into one share of its common stock, subject to adjustment, and (ii) for each share of Series A Convertible Preferred Stock purchased in the
Private Placement, a 5-year warrant to purchase one share of common stock (the “Warrant” and collectively with the Series A Convertible Preferred Stock, the
“Securities”).
On March 14, 2017, the Company entered into Subscription Agreements with certain accredited investors and conducted an initial closing of the Private
Placement pursuant to which the Company sold 7,837,023 shares of the Series A Convertible Preferred Stock at a purchase price of $2.02 per share (the “ Initial
Closing ”). In addition, each investor received a Warrant to purchase one share of common stock for each share of Series A Convertible Preferred Stock purchased
by such investor in the Private Placement at an exercise price of $2.22, subject to adjustment thereunder.
The Company received net cash proceeds of approximately $14.1 million from the Initial Closing, after deducting $1.7 million in placement agent fees
and expenses associated with the Initial Closing. The Company may periodically conduct one or more additional closings up to aggregate gross proceeds of $25.0
million.
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ITEM 9.

CHANGES IN AND DISAGREEMENTS WITH ACCOUNTANTS ON ACCOUNTING AND FINANCIAL DISCLOSURE
None.

ITEM 9A.

CONTROLS AND PROCEDURES

Evaluation of Disclosure Controls and Procedures
The term “disclosure controls and procedures” means our controls and other procedures that are designed to ensure that information required to be
disclosed by us in the reports that we file or submit under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, is recorded, processed, summarized and reported,
within the time periods specified in the SEC’s rules and forms. Disclosure controls and procedures include, without limitation, controls and procedures designed to
ensure that information required to be disclosed by us in the reports that we file or submit under the Exchange Act is accumulated and communicated to our
management, including our principal executive officer and principal financial officer, or persons performing similar functions, as appropriate to allow timely
decisions regarding required disclosure.
We carried out an evaluation, under the supervision and with the participation of our management, including our principal executive officer and principal
financial officer, of the effectiveness of our disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a – 15(e) and 15d – 15(e)). Based upon that
evaluation, our principal executive officer and principal financial officer concluded that, as of the end of the period covered in this report, our disclosure controls
and procedures were effective to ensure that information required to be disclosed in reports filed under the Exchange Act is recorded, processed, summarized and
reported within the required time periods and is accumulated and communicated to our management, including our principal executive officer and principal
financial officer, as appropriate to allow timely decisions regarding required disclosure.
Our principal executive officer and principal financial officer do not expect that our disclosure controls or internal controls will prevent all error and all
fraud. Although our disclosure controls and procedures were designed to provide reasonable assurance of achieving their objectives, a control system, no matter
how well conceived and operated, can provide only reasonable, not absolute assurance that the objectives of the system are met. Further, the design of a control
system must reflect the fact that there are resource constraints, and the benefits of controls must be considered relative to their costs. Because of the inherent
limitations in all control systems, no evaluation of controls can provide absolute assurance that all control issues and instances of fraud, if any, within our company
have been detected. These inherent limitations include the realities that judgments in decision-making can be faulty, and that breakdowns can occur because of a
simple error or mistake. Additionally, controls can be circumvented if there exists in an individual a desire to do so. There can be no assurance that any design will
succeed in achieving its stated goals under all potential future conditions.
Management’s Report on Internal Control Over Financial Reporting
Our management is responsible for establishing and maintaining adequate internal control over financial reporting, as such term is defined in Exchange
Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f). Under the supervision and with the participation of our Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer, our management
conducted an evaluation of the effectiveness of our internal control over financial reporting based on the framework in Internal Control—Integrated Framework
(2013) issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission. Based on that evaluation, our management concluded that our internal
control over financial reporting was effective as of December 31, 2016.
Based on the evaluation of our Chief Executive Officer and Senior Vice President, Finance for the period ended December 31, 2016, management
concluded that our internal controls over financial reporting were operating effectively .
Attestation Report of the Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm
This report does not include an attestation report of our independent registered public accounting firm regarding internal control over financial reporting.
Management’s report was not subject to attestation by our independent registered public accounting firm pursuant to Section 989G of the Dodd-Frank Wall Street
Reform and Consumer Protection Act, which exempts smaller reporting companies from the auditor attestation requirement.
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Change in Internal Control Over Financial Reporting
There was no change in our internal control over financial reporting that occurred during our fourth quarter ended December 31, 2016 that has materially
affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, our internal control over financial reporting.
ITEM 9B.

OTHER INFORMATION

None.
PART III
ITEM 10.

DIRECTORS, EXECUTIVE OFFICERS AND CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

Information with respect to this item will be set forth in the Proxy Statement for the 2016 Annual Meeting of Stockholders (“ Proxy Statement ”) or an
amendment to this Annual Report on Form 10-K (“ Form 10-K/A ”) under the headings “Election of Directors,” “Executive Officers,” “Section 16(a) Beneficial
Ownership Reporting Compliance” and “Corporate Governance” and is incorporated herein by reference. The Proxy Statement or Form 10-K/A will be filed with
the SEC within 120 days after the end of the fiscal year covered by this Annual Report.
ITEM 11.

EXECUTIVE COMPENSATION

Information with respect to this item will be set forth in the Proxy Statement or Form 10-K/A under the headings “Executive Compensation” and
“Director Compensation,” and is incorporated herein by reference. The Proxy Statement or Form 10-K/A will be filed with the SEC within 120 days after the end
of the fiscal year covered by this Annual Report.
ITEM 12.

SECURITY OWNERSHIP OF CERTAIN BENEFICIAL OWNERS AND MANAGEMENT AND RELATED STOCKHOLDER
MATTERS

Information with respect to this item will be set forth in the Proxy Statement or Form 10-K/A and is incorporated herein by reference. The Proxy
Statement or Form 10-K/A will be filed with the SEC within 120 days after the end of the fiscal year covered by this Annual Report.
ITEM 13.

CERTAIN RELATIONSHIPS AND RELATED TRANSACTIONS, AND DIRECTOR INDEPENDENCE

Information with respect to this item will be set forth in the Proxy Statement or Form 10-K/A under the headings “Certain Relationships and Related Party
Transactions” and “Corporate Governance” and is incorporated herein by reference. The Proxy Statement or Form 10-K/A will be filed with the SEC within 120
days after the end of the fiscal year covered by this Annual Report.
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ITEM 14.

PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING FEES AND SERVICES

Information with respect to this item will be set forth in the Proxy Statement or Form 10-K/A under the heading “Ratification of the Selection of
Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm,” and is incorporated herein by reference. The Proxy Statement or Form 10-K/A will be filed with the SEC within
120 days after the end of the fiscal year covered by this Annual Report.
PART IV
ITEM 15.

EXHIBITS, FINANCIAL STATEMENT SCHEDULES

Our financial statements are included in Item 8 of Part II of this report.
The exhibits to this report are listed on the Exhibit Index to this report. A copy of any of the exhibits listed will be furnished at a reasonable cost, upon
receipt from any person of a written request for any such exhibit. Such request should be sent to Diffusion Pharmaceuticals Inc., 2020 Avon Court, #4,
Charlottesville, Virginia 22902, Attention: Stockholder Information. The Exhibit Index indicates each management contract or compensatory plan or arrangement
required to be filed as an exhibit to this report.
ITEM 16.

FORM 10-K SUMMARY

None.
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SIGNATURES
Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, the registrant has duly caused this report to be
signed on its behalf by the undersigned, thereunto duly authorized.

Dated: March 31, 2017

DIFFUSION PHARMACEUTICALS INC.
By: /s/ David G. Kalergis
David G. Kalergis
Chairman and Chief Executive Officer
(Principal Executive Officer)

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, this report has been signed below by the following persons on behalf of
the registrant and in the capacities and on the dates indicated.
Name and Signature
/S/ DAVID G. KALERGIS
David G. Kalergis

Title
Chairman of the Board and Chief Executive
Officer
(Principal Executive Officer)

/s/ BEN SHEALY
Ben Shealy

Senior Vice President, Finance
(Principal Financial and Accounting Officer)

March 31, 2017

Director

March 31, 2017

Vice Chairman

March 31, 2017

/S/ ROBERT ADAMS
Robert Adams

Director

March 31, 2017

/S/ MARK T. GILES
Mark T. Giles

Director

March 31, 2017

/S/ ALAN LEVIN
Alan Levin

Director

March 31, 2017

/S/ JOHN L. GAINER, PH.D.
John L. Gainer, Ph.D.
/S/ ISAAC BLECH
Isaac Blech
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EXHIBIT INDEX TO ANNUAL REPORT ON FORM 10-K
FOR THE YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2016

Exhibit
No.

Description

Method of Filing

2.1

Plan of Conversion, dated June 18, 2015

Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 2.1 to the
registrant’s current report on Form 8-K filed
on June 18, 2015

2.2

Agreement and Plan of Merger dated as of December 15, 2015 among the Company, Arco
Merger Sub, LLC and Diffusion Pharmaceuticals LLC *

Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 2.1 to the
registrant’s current report on Form 8-K filed
on December 15, 2015

3.1

Certificate of Incorporation of Diffusion Pharmaceuticals Inc., as amended

Filed herewith

3.2

Bylaws of Diffusion Pharmaceuticals Inc., as amended

Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 3.4 to the
registrant’s annual report on Form 10-K for the
year ended December 31, 2015

3.3

Certificate of Designation of Preferences, Rights and Limitations of the Series A Convertible
Preferred Stock of Diffusion Pharmaceuticals Inc.

Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 3.1 to the
registrant’s current report on Form 8-K filed
on March 15, 2017

3.5

Certificate of Conversion, as filed with the Secretary of State of the State of Delaware on June
18, 2015

Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 3.2 to the
registrant’s current report on Form 8-K filed
on June 18, 2015

4.1

Form of Diffusion Pharmaceuticals Inc. Convertible Note Agreement

Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.1 to the
registrant’s current report on Form 8-K filed
on October 3, 2016

4.2

Form of Diffusion Pharmaceuticals LLC Convertible Note Agreement

Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.7 to the
registrant’s annual report on Form 10-K for the
year ended December 31, 2015

4.3

Form of Warrant issued to Investors in the 2017 Private Placement by Diffusion
Pharmaceuticals Inc.

Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.1 to the
registrant’s current report on Form 8-K filed
on March 15, 2017
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4.4

Form of Warrant issued to Investors in the 2014 Private Placement by the Company

Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.1 to the
registrant’s current report on Form 8-K filed
on April 29, 2014

4.5

Warrant, dated October 21, 2014, issued by the Company to Isaac Blech

Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.5 to the
registrant’s annual report on Form 10-K for the
fiscal year ended December 31, 2014

4.6

Warrant, dated April 29, 2014, issued by the Company to Sol J. Barer, Ph.D.

Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.4 to the
registrant’s annual report on Form 10-K for the
fiscal year ended December 31, 2014

4.7

Form of Registration Rights Agreement entered into by and among the Company and Investors
in the 2014 Private Placement

Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.2 to
the registrant’s current report on Form 8-K
filed on April 29, 2014

4.8

Registration Rights Agreement dated November 18, 2013 between the Company and Certain
Holders

Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.4 to
the registrant’s current report on Form 8-K
filed on November 22, 2013

10.1

Employment Agreement, dated as of September 6, 2016, by and between David G. Kalergis and
Diffusion Pharmaceuticals Inc.**

Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to
the registrant’s current report on Form 8-K as
filed on September 8, 2016

10.2

Employment Agreement, dated as of October 12, 2016, by and between Ben L. Shealy and
Diffusion Pharmaceuticals Inc.**

Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to
the registrant’s current report on Form 8-K as
filed on October 13, 2016

10.3

Diffusion Pharmaceuticals Inc. 2015 Equity Incentive Plan**

Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.2 to
the registrant’s current report on Form 8-K as
filed on June 18, 2015

10.4

Amendment No. 1 to Diffusion Pharmaceuticals Inc. 2015 Equity Incentive Plan**

Incorporated by reference to Appendix B to the
registrant’s definitive proxy statement on
Schedule 14A filed on June 10, 2016

10.5

Form of Diffusion Pharmaceuticals Inc. Stock Option Award Agreement**

Filed herewith
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10.6

Form of Diffusion Pharmaceuticals LLC Stock Option Award Agreement**

Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.22 to
the registrant’s annual report on Form 10-K for
the year ended December 31, 2015

10.7

Form of 2015 Incentive Stock Option Agreement under the Diffusion Pharmaceuticals Inc. 2015
Equity Incentive Plan**

Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.3 to
the registrant’s current report on Form 8-K
filed on June 18, 2015

10.8

Form of 2015 Non-Statutory Stock Option Agreement under the Diffusion Pharmaceuticals Inc.
2015 Equity Incentive Plan**

Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.4 to
the registrant’s current report on Form 8-K
filed on June 18, 2015

10.9

Form of Stock Option Agreement between the Company and certain former Executive
Officers**

Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.12 to
the registrant’s annual report on Form 10-K for
the fiscal year ended December 31, 2014

10.10

Form of Stock Option Agreement between the Company and certain former Directors**

Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.13 to
the registrant’s annual report on Form 10-K for
the fiscal year ended December 31, 2014

10.11

Form of Indemnification Agreement between Diffusion Pharmaceuticals Inc. and each of its
Directors and Officers**

Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.3 to
the registrant’s annual report on Form 10-K for
the year ended December 31, 2015

10.12

Resignation Agreement, dated April 30, 2015, between the Company and Yael Schwartz,
Ph.D.**

Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to
the registrant’s current report on Form 8-K
filed on May 1, 2015

10.13

Placement Agency Agreement, dated January 27, 2017, by and between Diffusion
Pharmaceuticals Inc. and Maxim Merchant Capital, a division of Maxim Group LLC

Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to
the registrant’s current report on Form 8-K
filed on March 15, 2017

10.14

Form of 2017 Private Placement Subscription Agreement

Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.2 to
the registrant’s current report on Form 8-K
filed on March 15, 2017

10.15
Settlement Agreement, dated September 27, 2016, by and among Diffusion Pharmaceuticals
Inc., Diffusion Pharmaceuticals LLC, David Schmidt and the other parties thereto

Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to
the registrant’s current report on Form 8-K
filed on October 3, 2016

Contingent Value Rights Agreement, dated as of January 8, 2016, by and between Diffusion
Pharmaceuticals Inc. and Computershare, Inc., as Rights Agent

Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.2 to
the registrant’s current report on Form 8-K
filed on January 8, 2016

10.16

10.17

Amendment to the Placement Agency Agreement, dated March 14, 2017, by and between
Diffusion Pharmaceuticals Inc. and Maxim Merchant Capital, advisor of Maxim Group LLC
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Filed herewith

21.1

Subsidiaries of Diffusion Pharmaceuticals Inc.

Filed herewith

23.1

Consent of KPMG LLP, independent registered public accounting firm

Filed herewith

31.1

Certification of Chief Executive Officer Pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of
2002 and SEC Rule 13a-14(a)

Filed herewith

Certification of Principal Financial Officer Pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act
of 2002 and SEC Rule 13a-14(a)

Filed herewith

Certification of Chief Executive Officer Pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as Adopted
Pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002

Furnished herewith

The following materials from the registrant’s annual report on Form 10-K for the year ended
December 31, 2016, formatted in XBRL (Extensible Business Reporting Language): (i)
Consolidated Balance Sheets, (ii) Consolidated Statements of Operations, (iii) Consolidated
Statements of Cash Flows, and (iv) Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

Filed herewith

31.2

32.1

101

*

All exhibits and schedules to this agreement have been omitted pursuant to Item 601(b)(2) of Regulation S-K. The registrant will furnish the omitted
exhibits and schedules to the SEC upon request by the SEC.

**

A management contract or compensatory plan or arrangement.
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EXHIBIT 3.1
CERTIFICATE OF INCORPORATION
OF
DIFFUSION PHARMACEUTICALS INC.
(AS AMENDED)
ARTICLE I
NAME
The name of the corporation is Diffusion Pharmaceuticals Inc. (the “ Corporation ”).
ARTICLE II
REGISTERED OFFICE AND AGENT
The address of the registered office of the Corporation in the State of Delaware is 615 South Dupont Hwy., in the City of Dover, Zip Code of 19901,
County of Kent. The name of the registered agent of the Corporation at that address is National Corporate Research, Ltd.
ARTICLE III
PURPOSE
The purpose of the Corporation is to engage in any lawful act or activity for which a corporation may be organized under the General Corporation Law
of the State of Delaware (“DGCL”).
ARTICLE IV
CAPITAL STOCK
A. The total number of shares of common stock which the Corporation shall have authority to issue is 1,000,000,000, at a par value of $0.001 per share
(“ Common Stock ”), and the total number of shares of preferred stock which the Corporation shall have authority to issue is 30,000,000, at a par value of $0.001
per share (“ Preferred Stock ”).
1. Common Stock . All preferences, voting powers, relative, participating, optional or other special rights and privileges, and qualifications,
limitations, or restrictions of the Common Stock are expressly made subject and subordinate to those that may be fixed with respect to any shares of the
Preferred Stock. Except as otherwise required by law or this Certificate of Incorporation, each share of Common Stock shall entitle the holder thereof to
one (1) vote, in person or by proxy, on each matter submitted to a vote of stockholders of the Corporation. Subject to the preferential rights of the Preferred
Stock, the holders of shares of Common Stock shall be entitled to receive, when and if declared by the Board of Directors, out of the assets of the
Corporation which are by law available therefor, dividends payable either in cash, in property or in shares of capital stock. In the event of any dissolution,
liquidation or winding up of the affairs of the Corporation, after distribution in full of the preferential amounts, if any, to be distributed to the holders of
shares of the Preferred Stock, holders of Common Stock shall be entitled, unless otherwise provided by law or this Certificate of Incorporation, to receive
all of the remaining assets of the Corporation of whatever kind available for distribution to stockholders ratably in proportion to the number of shares of
Common Stock held by them respectively.

2. Preferred Stock . The Preferred Stock may be issued from time to time in one or more series, as determined by the Board of Directors of the
Corporation (the “ Board of Directors ”). The Board of Directors is expressly authorized to provide for the issue, in one or more series, of all or any of the
remaining shares of Preferred Stock and, in the resolution or resolutions providing for such issue, to establish for each such series the number of its shares,
the voting powers, full or limited, of the shares of such series, or that such shares shall have no voting powers, and the designations, preferences and
relative, participating, optional or other special rights, if any, of the shares of such series, and any qualifications, limitations or restrictions thereof. The
powers, preferences and relative, participating, optional and other special rights of each series of preferred stock and the qualifications, limitations or
restrictions thereof, if any, may differ from those of any and all other series at any time outstanding. The Board of Directors is further expressly authorized
to increase or decrease (but not below the number of shares of any such series then outstanding) the number of shares of any series, the number of which
was fixed by it, subsequent to the issuance of shares of such series then outstanding, subject to the powers, preferences and rights, and the qualifications,
limitations and restrictions thereof stated in this Certificate of Incorporation or the resolution of the Board of Directors originally fixing the number of
shares of such series. If the number of shares of any series is so decreased, then the shares constituting such decrease shall resume the status which they
had prior to the adoption of the resolution originally fixing the number of shares of such series.
Effective upon the effective time of this Certificate of Amendment of the Certificate of Incorporation with the Secretary of State of the State of
Delaware (the “ Effective Time ”), each ten (10) shares of Common Stock issued and outstanding immediately prior to the Effective Time shall,
automatically and without the necessity for any further action, be changed, reclassified and combined into one (10 share of Common Stock (the “ Reverse
Stock Split ”). No fractional shares shall be issued in connection with the Reverse Stock Split. Stockholders who otherwise would be entitled to receive
fractional shares of Common Stock shall have that rounded up to one additional whole share. Each certificate that immediately prior to the Effective Time
represented shares of Common Stock (“ Old Certificates ”) shall thereafter represent that number of shares of Common Stock into which the shares of
Common Stock represented by the Old Certificate shall have been combined, subject to the elimination of fractional shares as described above.
ARTICLE V
EXCULPATION AND INDEMNIFICATION
A.
Limitation of Liability . A director of the Corporation shall not be personally liable to the Corporation or its stockholders for monetary damages for
breach of fiduciary duty as a director, except to the extent such exemption from liability or limitation thereof is not permitted under the DGCL as it presently exists
or may hereafter be amended. Any amendment, modification or repeal of the foregoing sentence shall not adversely affect any right arising prior to the time of
such amendment, modification or repeal.

B. Right of Indemnification . The Corporation shall indemnify and hold harmless, to the fullest extent permitted by applicable law as it presently exists
or may hereafter be amended, any person (a “ Covered Person ”) who was or is made or is threatened to be made a party or is otherwise involved in any action, suit
or proceeding, whether civil, criminal, administrative or investigative (a “ Proceeding ”), by reason of the fact that he or she, or a person for whom he or she is the
legal representative, is or was a director, officer, employee or agent of the Corporation or, while a director, officer, employee or agent of the Corporation, is or was
serving at the request of the Corporation as a director, officer, employee or agent of another corporation or of a partnership, joint venture, trust, enterprise or
nonprofit entity, including service with respect to employee benefit plans, against all liability and loss suffered and expenses (including attorneys’ fees) reasonably
incurred by such Covered Person. Notwithstanding the preceding sentence, except as otherwise provided in section D of this Article V, the Corporation shall not
be required to indemnify a Covered Person in connection with a Proceeding (or part thereof) commenced by such Covered Person unless the commencement of
such Proceeding (or part thereof) by the Covered Person was authorized in the specific case by the Board of Directors.
C. Prepayment of Expenses . The Corporation shall to the fullest extent not prohibited by applicable law pay the expenses (including attorneys’ fees)
incurred by a Covered Person in defending any Proceeding in advance of its final disposition, provided, however, that, to the extent required by law, such payment
of expenses in advance of the final disposition of the Proceeding shall be made only upon receipt of an undertaking by the Covered Person to repay all amounts
advanced if it should be ultimately determined that the Covered Person is not entitled to be indemnified under this Article V or otherwise.
D.
Claims . If a claim for indemnification (following the final disposition of the Proceeding with respect to which indemnification is sought, including
any settlement of such Proceeding) or advancement of expenses under this Article V is not paid in full within thirty (30) days after a written claim therefor by the
Covered Person has been received by the Corporation, the Covered Person may file suit to recover the unpaid amount of such claim and, if successful in whole or
in part, shall be entitled to be paid the expense of prosecuting such claim to the fullest extent permitted by applicable law. In any such action the Corporation shall
have the burden of proving that the Covered Person is not entitled to the requested indemnification or advancement of expenses under this Article V and applicable
law.
E. Non-Exclusivity of Rights . The rights conferred on any Covered Person by this Article V shall not be exclusive of any other rights which such
Covered Person may have or hereafter acquire under any statute, any other provision of this Certificate of Incorporation, the Bylaws of the Corporation, or any
agreement, vote of stockholders or disinterested directors or otherwise.
F.
Insurance . The Corporation may purchase and maintain insurance on behalf of any person who is or was a director, officer, employee or agent of the
Corporation, or is or was serving at the request of the Corporation as a director, officer, employee or agent of another corporation or of a partnership, joint venture,
trust, enterprise or nonprofit entity, including service with respect to employee benefit plans, against any liability asserted against such person and incurred by such
person in any such capacity, or arising out of such person’s status as such, whether or not the Corporation would have the power to indemnify such person against
such liability under this Article V, the DGCL or otherwise.
G.
Amendment or Repeal . Any right to indemnification or to advancement of expenses of any Covered Person arising hereunder shall not be
eliminated or impaired by an amendment to or repeal of this Article V after the occurrence of the act or omission that is the subject of the civil, criminal,
administrative or investigative action, suit or proceeding for which indemnification or advancement of expenses is sought.

H.
Other Indemnification and Advancement of Expenses . This Article V shall not limit the right of the Corporation, to the extent and in the manner
permitted by law, to indemnify and to advance expenses to persons other than Covered Persons when and as authorized by appropriate corporate action.
ARTICLE VI
MANAGEMENT
For the management of the business and for the conduct of the affairs of the Corporation, and in further definition, limitation and regulation of the
powers of the Corporation, of its directors and of its stockholders or any class thereof, as the case may be, it is further provided that:
A. The management of the business and the conduct of the affairs of the Corporation shall be vested in the Board of Directors. The Board of
Directors shall fix the number of directors that constitute the whole Board of Directors in the manner provided in the Bylaws of the Corporation, subject to any
restrictions that may be set forth in this Certificate of Incorporation.
B. In furtherance and not in limitation of the powers conferred by statute, the Board of Directors is expressly empowered to adopt, amend or repeal the
Bylaws of the Corporation or adopt new Bylaws of the Corporation without any action on the part of the stockholders. Any adoption, amendment or repeal of the
Bylaws of the Corporation by the Board of Directors shall require the approval of a majority of the directors then in office. The stockholders of the Corporation
shall also have the power to adopt, amend or repeal the Bylaws of the Corporation; provided, however, that, in addition to any vote of the holders of any class or
series of stock of the Corporation required by law or by this Certificate of Incorporation, the affirmative vote of the holders of at least sixty-six and two-thirds
percent (66-2/3%) of the voting power of all of the then-outstanding shares of the capital stock of the Corporation entitled to vote generally in the election of
directors, voting together as a single class, shall be required to adopt, amend or repeal any provision of the Bylaws of the Corporation.
C. The Corporation reserves the right to amend, alter, change or repeal any provision contained in this Certificate of Incorporation, in the manner now
or hereafter prescribed by the DGCL, and all rights conferred upon stockholders herein are granted subject to this reservation.
ARTICLE VII
STOCKHOLDER MEETINGS
Meetings of stockholders may be held within or without the State of Delaware, as the Bylaws of the Corporation may provide. Elections of directors need
not be by written ballot unless and except to the extent that the Bylaws of the Corporation so provide. Any action required to or which may be taken at a meeting
of stockholders of the corporation may be taken without a meeting if authorized by a writing signed by all of the holders of shares who would be entitled to vote
upon the action at a meeting for such purpose.
ARTICLE VIII
INCORPORATOR
The name and mailing address of the incorporator of the Corporation are as follows:
Amy E. Culbert
Oppenheimer Wolff & Donnelly LLP
Campbell Mithun Tower, Suite 2000
222 South Ninth Street
Minneapolis, MN 55402

ARTICLE IX
EFFECTIVE TIME
This Certificate of Incorporation shall be effective as of 5:00 p.m. Eastern Time on June 18, 2015.
The undersigned, being the incorporator named above, for the purpose of forming a corporation pursuant to the DGCL, does hereby make this Certificate
of Incorporation, hereby acknowledging, declaring and certifying that the foregoing Certificate of Incorporation is the undersigned’s act and deed and the facts
herein stated are true, and accordingly has hereunto set the undersigned’s hand this 17th day of June, 2015.

INCORPORATOR:
By: /s/ Amy E. Culbert
Amy E. Culbert
Amended: August 17, 2016

Exhibit 10.5
STOCK OPTION AGREEMENT
THIS STOCK OPTION AGREEMENT (this “ Agreement ”) is entered into and effective as of [
Diffusion Pharmaceuticals Inc., a Delaware corporation (the “ Company ”), and [
] (“ Optionee ”).

] (the “ Grant Date ”) by and between

A.
The Company has adopted the Diffusion Pharmaceuticals Inc. 2015 Equity Incentive Plan (as such plan may be amended from time to time, the
“ Plan ”) authorizing the Board of Directors (the “ Board ”) of the Company, or a committee as provided for in the Plan (the Board or such a committee to be
referred to as the “ Committee ”), to grant stock options, among other incentive awards, to certain individuals.
B.
The Company desires to grant an option to purchase shares of common stock, par value $0.001 per share, of the Company (the “ Common Stock
”) to Optionee pursuant to the Plan.
C.

All of the capitalized terms used in this Agreement not otherwise defined in this Agreement have the same respective meanings as defined in the

Plan.
NOW, THEREFORE, in consideration of the mutual promises and covenants hereinafter set forth, the Company and Optionee agree as follows:
1.
Grant of Option; Exercise Price . The Company hereby grants to Optionee, upon the terms and subject to the conditions set forth in this
Agreement and the Plan, and effective as of the Grant Date, an option (the “ Option ”) to purchase all or any portion of [
] shares (the “ Option Shares ”) of
the Company’s Common Stock, at an exercise price of $[
] per share, which represents 100% of the Fair Market Value of a share of Common Stock on the
Grant Date, as determined in accordance with the Plan (such exercise price, as adjusted from time to time pursuant to Section 5 of this Agreement and Section 4.3
of the Plan, the “ Exercise Price ”). The Option is not intended to be an “incentive stock option,” as that term is used in Section 422 of the Internal Revenue Code
of 1986, as amended (the “ Code ”).
2.
Vesting . The Option shall vest and become exercisable in [12 quarterly/
[the last calendar day of each calendar quarter/
] over a [three-year/
] period, beginning on [
for the [
] calendar quarter of [ ].]

] equal (or as nearly equal as possible) installments on
]. [Optionee shall receive a full quarter of vesting

[OR, IN THE CASE OF PERFORMANCE-BASED VESTING]
[The Option shall vest and become exercisable [
3.

]].

Exercise of Option .

3.1.
Notice; Payment . Subject to the terms and conditions set forth in this Agreement, including vesting of the Option in Section 2 of this
Agreement and termination of the Option in Section 4 of this Agreement, and the Plan, the Option may be exercised, in whole or in part, at any time and from time
to time, by delivery to the Company of written notice of the exercise of the Option, in substantially the form as provided by the Company, stating the number of
Option Shares being purchased (the “ Purchased Shares ”), and accompanied by payment in full of the total aggregate Exercise Price of the Purchased Shares. The
Exercise Price shall be payable in full in any one of the following alternative forms:
(a)

Full payment in cash, personal check or certified bank or cashier’s check;

(b)

Any broker assisted cashless exercise procedure which is acceptable to the Company; or

(c)

Cashless net exercise.

Upon a cashless net exercise, Optionee shall receive the number of shares of Common Stock equal to a number (as determined below) of shares of
Common Stock computed using the following formula:

Where

Y–[

(A)(Y)
]
B

X

=

X

=

the number of shares of Common Stock to be issued to Optionee.

Y

=

the number of Purchased Shares.

A

=

the Exercise Price.

B

=

the Fair Market Value of one share of Common Stock on the date of exercise.

3.2.
Issuance of Purchased Shares; No Fractional Shares . Following receipt of the exercise notice and the payment referred to above, the
Company shall, as soon as reasonably practicable thereafter, cause certificates (or book-entry notations) representing the Purchased Shares (or such fewer number
of Purchased Shares if a cashless net exercise is used) to be delivered to Optionee either at Optionee’s address set forth in the records of the Company or at such
other address as Optionee may designate in writing to the Company or issue and deposit the Purchased Shares for Optionee’s benefit with any broker with which
Optionee has an account relationship or the Company has engaged to provide such services under the Plan; provided , however , that the Company shall not be
obligated to issue a fraction or fractions of a share otherwise issuable upon exercise of the Option, and may pay to Optionee, in cash or cash equivalent, the Fair
Market Value of any such fraction or fractions of a share as of the date of exercise. If requested by the Company in connection with any exercise of the Option,
Optionee shall also deliver this Agreement to the Company, which shall endorse hereon a notation of the exercise and, and if the Option is exercised in part, shall
return this Agreement to Optionee. The date of exercise of an Option that is validly exercised shall be deemed to be the date on which there shall have been
delivered to the Company the notice referred to in Section 3.1 of this Agreement and full payment of the Exercise Price of the Purchased Shares. Optionee shall
not be deemed to be a holder of any Purchased Shares pursuant to exercise of the Option until the date of issuance of a stock certificate or book-entry notation to
Optionee for such shares following payment in full for the Purchased Shares.
3.3.
Tax Withholding . The Company is entitled to (a) withhold and deduct from future wages of Optionee (or from other amounts that may
be due and owing to Optionee from the Company or a Subsidiary), or make other arrangements for the collection of, all amounts the Company reasonably
determines are necessary to satisfy any and all federal, foreign, state and local withholding and employment related tax requirements attributable to the Option,
including, without limitation, the grant, exercise or vesting of, the Option; (b) withhold cash paid or payable or shares of Common Stock from the shares issued or
otherwise issuable to Optionee in connection with the Option; or (c) require Optionee promptly to remit the amount of such withholding to the Company before
taking any action, including issuing any shares of Common Stock, with respect to the Option. Shares of Common Stock issued or otherwise issuable to Optionee in
connection with the Option that gives rise to the tax withholding obligation that are withheld for purposes of satisfying Optionee’s withholding or employmentrelated tax obligation will be valued at their Fair Market Value on the Tax Date.
3.4.
Remaining Option Shares . Option Shares will no longer be outstanding under the Option (and will therefore not thereafter be
exercisable) following the exercise of the Option to the extent of (a) shares used to pay the Exercise Price of an Option under the “cashless net exercise” method
(b) shares actually delivered to Optionee as a result of such exercise and (c) any shares withheld for purposes of tax withholding.
4.

Termination of Option .

4.1.
Time of Termination . Except as provided in this Section 4 and Section 5 of this Agreement, the Option shall terminate, no longer be
exercisable and expire at 5:00 p.m., Eastern Time, on [
] (the “ Time of Termination ”).

4.2.
Termination for Cause . In the event Optionee’s employment (in the event that Optionee is an Employee) or other service (in the event
that Optionee is a Consultant) with the Company and all Subsidiaries is terminated by the Company for Cause, the Option will immediately terminate without
notice of any kind, and the Option will no longer be exercisable.
4.3.
Termination Due to Death, Disability or Retirement . In the event Optionee’s employment (in the event that Optionee is an Employee)
or other service (in the event that Optionee is a Consultant) with the Company and all Subsidiaries is terminated by reason of Optionee’s death, Disability or
Retirement, the Option will remain exercisable, to the extent exercisable as of the date of such termination, for a period of one (1) year after such termination (but
in no event after the Time of Termination).
4.4.
Termination for Other Reasons . In the event Optionee’s employment (in the event that Optionee is an Employee) or other service (in
the event that Optionee is a Consultant) with the Company and all Subsidiaries is terminated for any other reason, the Option will, to the extent exercisable as of
such termination, remain exercisable for a period of three (3) months after such termination (but in no event after the Time of Termination).
4.5.
Effect of Actions Constituting Cause or Adverse Action . Notwithstanding anything in this Agreement to the contrary and in addition
to the rights of the Committee under Sections 13.5 and 13.6 of the Plan, if Optionee is determined by the Committee, acting in its sole discretion, to have taken any
action that would constitute Cause or an Adverse Action during or after the termination of employment or other service with the Company or a Subsidiary,
irrespective of whether such action or the Committee’s determination occurs before or after termination of Optionee’s employment or other service with the
Company or any Subsidiary and irrespective of whether or not Optionee was terminated as a result of such Cause or Adverse Action, (a) all rights of Optionee
under the Option and this Agreement will terminate and be forfeited without notice of any kind, and (b) the Committee in its sole discretion will have the authority
to rescind the exercise, vesting, settlement or issuance of, or payment in respect of, the Option that was exercised, vested, settled or issued, or as to which such
payment was made, and to require Optionee to pay to the Company, within ten (10) days of receipt from the Company of notice of such rescission, any amount
received or the amount of any gain realized as a result of such rescinded exercise, vesting, settlement, issuance or payment (including any dividends paid or other
distributions made with respect to any shares of Common Stock subject to the Option). The Company may defer the exercise of the Option for a period of up to six
(6) months after receipt of Optionee’s written notice of exercise or the issuance of Purchased Shares upon the vesting of the Option for a period of up to six
(6) months after the date of such vesting in order for the Committee to make any determination as to the existence of Cause or an Adverse Action. The Company
will be entitled to withhold and deduct from future wages of Optionee (or from other amounts that may be due and owing to Optionee from the Company or a
Subsidiary) or make other arrangements for the collection of all amounts necessary to satisfy such payment obligations. This Section 4.5 will not apply to the
Option following a Change in Control.
4.6.
Clawback/Forfeiture . The Option and Option Shares issued or issuable pursuant to the Option are subject to forfeiture or clawback by
the Company to the extent required and allowed by law, including the Dodd-Frank Wall Street Reform and Consumer Protection Act of 2010 and the Sarbanes
Oxley Act of 2002 and any implementing rules and regulations promulgated thereunder, and pursuant to any forfeiture, clawback or similar policy of the Company,
as such laws, rules, regulations and policy may be in effect from time to time.
5.
Adjustments . In the event of any reorganization, merger, consolidation, recapitalization, liquidation, reclassification, stock dividend, stock split,
combination of shares, rights offering, divestiture or extraordinary dividend (including a spin-off), or any other similar change in the corporate structure or shares
of the Company, the Committee (or, if the Company is not the surviving corporation in any such transaction, the board of directors of the surviving corporation),
will make appropriate adjustment (which determination will be conclusive) as to the number and kind of securities or other property (including cash) subject to, and
the Exercise Price of, the Option in order to prevent dilution or enlargement of the rights of Optionee.
6.
Change in Control . The Option shall become immediately vested and exercisable upon completion of a Change in Control and remain
exercisable through the Time of Termination regardless of whether Optionee remains in the employment or service of the Company. Notwithstanding any of the
foregoing, in connection with a Change in Control, the Committee, in its sole discretion, at any time after the grant of the Option, may take whatever action it
deems appropriate pursuant to Section 15.3 of the Plan.

7.
Rights as a Stockholder . Optionee will have no rights as a stockholder of the Company unless and until all conditions to the effective exercise
of the Option (including, without limitation, the conditions set forth in Section 3 of this Agreement) have been satisfied and Optionee has become the holder of
record of such shares. No adjustment will be made for dividends or distributions with respect to the Option as to which there is a record date preceding the date
Optionee becomes the holder of record of such shares, except as may otherwise be provided in the Plan or determined by the Committee in its sole discretion.
8.
Restrictions on Transfer . Except pursuant to testamentary will or the laws of descent and distribution or as otherwise expressly permitted by the
Plan, no right or interest of Optionee in the Option prior to exercise may be assigned or transferred, or subjected to any lien, during the lifetime of Optionee, either
voluntarily or involuntarily, directly or indirectly, by operation of law or otherwise. Optionee, however, will be entitled to designate a beneficiary to receive the
Option upon Optionee’s death, and, in the event of Optionee’s death, exercise of the Option (to the extent permitted pursuant to Sections 2 and 4 of this Agreement)
may be made by Optionee’s legal representatives, heirs and legatees.
9.
Market Stand-off . Optionee, if so requested by the Company or any representative of the underwriters in connection with a firmly underwritten
public offering of securities by the Company pursuant to a registration statement under the Securities Act following the date of this Agreement, shall not sell or
otherwise transfer any Option Shares during the 180-day period following the effective date of such registration statement. The Company may impose stop-transfer
instructions with respect to securities subject to the foregoing restriction until the end of such 180-day period. This Section 9 will not apply to the sale of any
Option Shares to an underwriter pursuant to an underwriting agreement and shall only be applicable to Optionee if all then current executive officers and directors
of the Company enter into similar agreements.
10.
Employment or Service . Nothing in this Agreement or the Plan will interfere with or limit in any way the right of the Company or any
Subsidiary to terminate the employment or service of Optionee at any time, nor confer upon Optionee any right to continue in the employment or other service with
the Company or any Subsidiary.
11.
Option Subject to Plan . The Option and the Option Shares granted and issued pursuant to this Agreement have been granted and issued under,
and are subject to the terms of, the Plan. The terms of the Plan are incorporated by reference in this Agreement in their entirety, and Optionee, by execution of this
Agreement, acknowledges having received a copy of the Plan. The provisions of this Agreement will be interpreted as to be consistent with the Plan, and any
ambiguities in this Agreement will be interpreted by reference to the Plan. In the event that any provision of this Agreement is inconsistent with the terms of the
Plan, the terms of the Plan will prevail. All of the capitalized terms used in this Agreement not otherwise defined in this Agreement have the same respective
meanings as defined in the Plan.
12.

General Provisions .

12.1.
Governing Law; Venue . This Agreement and all rights and obligations under this Agreement will be governed by and construed
exclusively in accordance with the laws of the State of Delaware, notwithstanding the conflicts of laws principles of any jurisdictions. By acceptance of the
Option, Optionee is deemed to submit to the exclusive jurisdiction and venue of the federal or state courts of the State of Illinois to resolve any and all issues that
may arise out of or relate to the Option or this Agreement.
12.2.
Entire Agreement . This Agreement and the Plan set forth the entire agreement and understanding of the parties to this Agreement with
respect to the grant and exercise of the Option and the administration of the Plan and supersede all prior agreements, arrangements, plans and understandings
relating to the grant and exercise of the Option and the administration of the Plan.
12.3.
Failure to Enforce Not a Waiver . The failure of the Company or Optionee to enforce at any time any provision of this Agreement shall
in no way be construed to be a waiver of such provision or of any other provision hereof.

12.4.
Notices . All notices, requests, demands and other communications (collectively, “ Notices ”) given pursuant to this Agreement shall
be in writing, and shall be delivered by personal service, courier, facsimile transmission, email transmission of a pdf format data file or by United States first class,
registered or certified mail, postage prepaid, addressed to the party at the address set forth on the signature page of this Agreement. Any Notice, other than a
Notice sent by registered or certified mail, shall be effective when received; a Notice sent by registered or certified mail, postage prepaid return receipt requested,
shall be effective on the earlier of when received or the third day following deposit in the United States mails. Any party may from time to time change its address
for further Notices hereunder by giving notice to the other party in the manner prescribed in this Section 12.5.
12.5.
Successors and Assigns . Except to the extent specifically limited by the terms and provision of this Agreement, this Agreement shall
be binding upon and inure to the benefit of the parties hereto and their respective successors, assigns, heirs and personal representatives.
12.6.
Execution . This Agreement may be executed in two or more counterparts, all of which when taken together shall be considered one
and the same agreement and shall become effective when counterparts have been signed by each party and delivered to the other party, it being understood that
both parties need not sign the same counterpart. In the event that any signature is delivered by facsimile transmission or by email delivery of a “pdf” format data
file, such signature shall create a valid and binding obligation of the party executing (or on whose behalf such signature is executed) with the same force and effect
as if such facsimile or “pdf” signature page were an original thereof.
12.7.
Titles, Captions and Sections . Titles and captions contained in this Agreement are inserted for convenience of reference only and do
not constitute a part of this Agreement for any other purpose. References to Sections in this Agreement refer to Sections of this Agreement unless otherwise stated.
12.8.

Nature of the Grant . In accepting the Option and by execution of this Agreement, Optionee acknowledges that:

(a)
The Plan is established voluntarily by the Company, it is discretionary in nature and it may be modified, amended, suspended
or terminated by the Company in its sole discretion at any time, unless otherwise provided in the Plan.
(b)
The grant of the Option is voluntary and occasional and does not create any contractual or other right to receive future Option
grants, or benefits in lieu of Option grants, even if Option grants have been granted repeatedly in the past.
(c)

All decisions with respect to future Option grants, if any, will be at the sole discretion of the Company.

(d)

Optionee is voluntarily participating in the Plan.

(e)
The Option grant is not part of normal or expected compensation or salary for any purposes, including, but not limited to,
calculating any severance, resignation, termination, redundancy, end of service payments, bonuses, long-service awards, pension or retirement benefits or similar
payments and in no event shall be considered as compensation for, or relating in any way to, past services for the Company.
(f)
In the event that Optionee is not an employee of the Company, the Option will not be interpreted to form an employment
contract or relationship with the Company.
(g)
The future value of the Common Stock is unknown and cannot be predicted with certainty and if the Option vests and
Optionee exercises the Option in accordance with the terms of this Agreement and is issued Purchased Shares, the value of those shares may increase or decrease.

(h)
In consideration of the grant of the Option, no claim or entitlement to compensation or damages shall arise from termination
of the Option or diminution in value of the Option or Purchased Shares acquired upon exercise of the Option resulting from termination of Optionee’s employment
or service by the Company (for any reason whatsoever and whether or not in breach of local labor laws) and Optionee irrevocably releases the Company and its
Subsidiaries, and their respective directors, officers, employees and agents, from any such claim that may arise; if, notwithstanding the foregoing, any such claim is
found by a court of competent jurisdiction to have arisen, then, by acceptance of the Option and execution of this Agreement, Optionee shall be deemed irrevocably
to have waived his or her entitlement to pursue such claim.
(i)
The Company is not providing any tax, legal or financial advice, nor is the Company making any recommendations regarding
Optionee’s participation in the Plan, or Optionee’s purchase or sale of the underlying Option Shares.
(j)
Optionee is hereby advised to consult with his or her own personal tax, legal and financial advisors regarding his or her
participation in the Plan before taking any action related to the Plan or the Option.
[Remainder of page intentionally left blank; signature page follows]

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties to this Agreement have executed this Agreement effective as of the Grant Date.
OPTIONEE:

DIFFUSION PHARMACEUTICALS INC.

[Signature]

By:
Name:
Title:

Name:
Address:

By execution of this Agreement, Optionee acknowledges having received a copy
of the Plan.

Address:2020 Avon Court, Suite 4
Charlottesville, Virginia 22902

Exhibit 10.17
AMENDMENT TO PLACEMENT AGENCY AGREEMENT
THIS AMENDMENT (this “ Amendment ”) is made as of this 14th day of March, 2017 by and between Diffusion Pharmaceuticals Inc., a Delaware
corporation (the “ Company ”), and Maxim Merchant Capital, a division of Maxim Group LLC (“ Maxim ”). Defined terms not otherwise defined herein shall
have the meanings set forth in that certain Placement Agency Agreement, dated January 27, 2017, by and among the Company and Maxim (the “ Agreement ”).
WHEREAS , the Company and Maxim have entered into the Agreement pursuant to which the Company engaged Maxim as its exclusive placement
agent in connection with the private placement of the Investor Securities to “accredited investors” as defined in Rule 501(a) of Regulation D promulgated under the
Securities Act of 1933, as amended (the “ Securities Act ”);
WHEREAS , the Company and Maxim desire to clarify certain language set forth in Sections 3(b)(i) and 3(b)(ii) of the Agreement;
WHEREAS , in light of the foregoing, the Company and Maxim desire to amend and supplement the Agreement pursuant to the terms and conditions
hereof.
NOW, THEREFORE , in consideration of the mutual premises and agreements contained herein, and intending to be legally bound hereby, the
undersigned parties, in accordance with Section 12(e) of the Agreement hereby agree to amend and supplement the Agreement as follows:
1.

Sections 3(b)(i) and 3(b)(ii) of the Agreement are hereby amended and restated in their entirety as follows:

“(i) a cash payment equal to 10% of the aggregate gross proceeds received by the Company from the sale of the Investor Securities at such Closing.
However, with respect to gross proceeds received by the Company from an Investor first introduced by the Company (which shall include for avoidance of doubt
any investor in Diffusion Pharmaceuticals LLC) in connection with the Placement (a “ Company-Directed Investor ”), the Company will pay the Placement
Agent a cash payment equal to 5% of the aggregate gross proceeds received from such Company-Directed Investors at such Closing. The amount of “gross
proceeds” shall not include gross proceeds received from the Company in the Placement from any exercise of Warrants. The cash fees shall be payable at such
Closing in lawful money of the United States by check or wire transfer of immediately available funds ; and
(ii) a five-year warrant (the “ Placement Agent Warrant ”) to purchase a number of shares of Common Stock equal to 10% of the aggregate number of
shares of Preferred Stock issued at such Closing to Investors. However, with respect to Company-Directed Investors, the Company shall issue to the Placement
Agent a Placement Agent Warrant to purchase a number of shares of Common Stock equal to 5% of the aggregate number of shares of Preferred Stock issued at
such Closing. A Placement Agent Warrant will be issued at each closing and shall provide, among other things, that the Placement Agent Warrant shall:
(1) be exercisable at an exercise price equal to 110% of the price of the Purchase Price;
(2) be non-exercisable for six (6) months after the date of such Closing and expire five (5) years from the date of issuance;
(3) provide for “cashless” exercise; and

(4) provide for such other terms as are customary for warrants issued to placement agents.”
2.
All questions concerning the construction, validity, enforcement and interpretation of this Amendment shall be determined in accordance with the
provisions of the Agreement.
3.
This Amendment shall be binding upon and inure to the benefit of the parties hereto and their respective heirs, successors, permitted assigns and legal
representatives. This Amendment shall be for the sole benefit of the parties to this Amendment and their respective heirs, successors, permitted assigns and legal
representatives and not intended, nor shall be construed, to give any person or entity, other than the parties hereto and their respective heirs, successors, assigns and
legal representatives, any legal or equitable right, remedy or claim hereunder.
4. This Amendment may be executed in counterparts, all of which when taken together shall be considered one and the same agreement and shall become
effective when counterparts have been signed by each party and delivered to the other party, it being understood that both parties need not sign the same
counterpart. In the event that any signature is delivered by facsimile transmission or by e-mail delivery of a “.pdf” format data file, such signature shall create a
valid and binding obligation of the party executing (or on whose behalf such signature is executed) with the same force and effect as if such facsimile or “.pdf”
signature page were an original thereof.
5. This Amendment constitutes the entire agreement among the parties with respect to the matters covered hereby and thereby and supersedes all previous
written, oral or implied understandings among them with respect to such matters.
6. Except as and to the extent expressly modified by this Amendment, the Agreement is not otherwise being amended, modified or supplemented and shall
remain in full force and effect in accordance with its terms.
7.
The invalidity of any portion hereof shall not affect the validity, force or effect of the remaining portions hereof. If it is ever held that any restriction
hereunder is too broad to permit enforcement of such restriction to its fullest extent, such restriction shall be enforced to the maximum extent permitted by law.
8.
No provision of this Amendment may be waived or amended except in a written instrument signed, in the case of an amendment, by the Company and
Maxim or, in the case of a waiver, by the party against whom enforcement or any such waiver is sought. No waiver of any default with respect to any provision,
condition or requirement of this Amendment shall be deemed to be a continuing waiver in the future or a waiver of any subsequent default or a waiver of any other
provision, condition or requirement hereof, nor shall any delay or requirement hereof, nor shall any delay or omission of either party to exercise any right hereunder
in any manner impair the exercise of any such right.
9. Each of the parties hereto acknowledges that this Amendment has been prepared jointly by the parties hereto, and shall not be strictly construed against
either party.
10.
This Amendment shall be governed by and construed in accordance with the Laws of the State of New York, without giving effect to conflicts of law
provisions thereof.

[The remainder of this page is intentionally left blank.]

IN WITNESS WHEREOF , the parties have duly executed this Amendment as of the date first written above.
DIFFUSION PHARMACEUTICALS INC.

By: /s/ David G. Kalergis
Name: David G. Kalergis
Title: Chief Executive Officer

MAXIM MERCHANT CAPITAL, a Division of Maxim
Group LLC

By: /s/ Clifford A. Teller
Name: Clifford A. Teller
Title: Executive Managing Director, Head of Investment
Banking

[Signature Page to Amendment to the Placement Agency Agreement]

Exhibit 21.1
SUBSIDIARIES OF THE REGISTRANT

Name of Subsidiary
Canterbury Laboratories, LLC
Hygeia Therapeutics, Inc.
Paloma Pharmaceuticals, Inc.
VasculoMedics, Inc.
Diffusion Pharmaceuticals LLC

State or Other Jurisdiction
of Incorporation or
Organization
DE
DE
DE
DE
VA

Direct or Indirect
Ownership Interest by
RestorGenex
100%
100%
100%
100%
100%

Exhibit 23.1

Consent of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm
The Board of Directors
Diffusion Pharmaceuticals Inc.:
We consent to the incorporation by reference in the registration statements (No. 333-206408 and No. 333-206409) on Form S-8 of Diffusion Pharmaceuticals Inc.
of our report dated March 31, 2017, with respect to the consolidated balance sheets of Diffusion Pharmaceuticals Inc. as of December 31, 2016 and 2015, and the
related consolidated statements of operations, changes in stockholders’ equity (deficit), and cash flows for the years then ended, which report appears in the
December 31, 2016 annual report on Form 10-K of Diffusion Pharmaceuticals Inc.
Our report dated March 31, 2017, contains an explanatory paragraph that states that the Company has suffered recurring losses from operations, has limited
resources available to fund current research and development activities, and will require substantial additional financing to continue to fund its research and
development activities, which raise substantial doubt about its ability to continue as a going concern. The financial statements do not include any adjustments that
might result from the outcome of that uncertainty.
/s/ KPMG LLP
McLean, Virginia
March 31, 2017

EXHIBIT 31.1
DIFFUSION PHARMACEUTICALS INC.
CERTIFICATION OF CEO PURSUANT TO SECTION 302 OF
THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002
CERTIFICATION
I, David G. Kalergis, certify that:
1.

I have reviewed this annual report on Form 10-K of Diffusion Pharmaceuticals Inc.;

2.

Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make the statements
made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this report;

3.

Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material respects the financial
condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;

4.

The registrant’s other certifying officer and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Exchange Act
Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the registrant and
have:

5.

a)

Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our supervision, to ensure that
material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those entities, particularly
during the period in which this report is being prepared;

b)

Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be designed under our supervision, to
provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in
accordance with generally accepted accounting principles;

c)

Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions about the effectiveness of
the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and

d)

Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the registrant’s most recent fiscal
quarter (the registrant’s fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, the
registrant’s internal control over financial reporting; and

The registrant’s other certifying officer and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial reporting, to the registrant’s
auditors and the audit committee of the registrant’s board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions):
a)

All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are reasonably likely to
adversely affect the registrant’s ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and

b)

Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant’s internal control over
financial reporting.

Date: March 31, 2017

/s/ David G. Kalergis
David G. Kalergis
Chairman and Chief Executive Officer
(Principal Executive Officer)

EXHIBIT 31.2
DIFFUSION PHARMACEUTICALS INC.
CERTIFICATION OF PFO PURSUANT TO SECTION 302 OF
THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002
CERTIFICATION
I, Ben Shealy, certify that:
1.

I have reviewed this annual report on Form 10-K of Diffusion Pharmaceuticals Inc.;

2.

Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make the statements
made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this report;

3.

Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material respects the financial
condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;

4.

The registrant’s other certifying officer and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Exchange Act
Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the registrant and
have:

5.

a)

Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our supervision, to ensure that
material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those entities, particularly
during the period in which this report is being prepared;

b)

Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be designed under our supervision, to
provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in
accordance with generally accepted accounting principles;

c)

Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions about the effectiveness of
the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and

d)

Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the registrant’s most recent fiscal
quarter (the registrant’s fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, the
registrant’s internal control over financial reporting; and

The registrant’s other certifying officer and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial reporting, to the registrant’s
auditors and the audit committee of the registrant’s board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions):
a)

All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are reasonably likely to
adversely affect the registrant’s ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and

b)

Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant’s internal control over
financial reporting.

Date: March 31, 2017

/s/ Ben Shealy
Ben Shealy
Senior Vice President – Finance, Treasurer and Secretary
(Principal Financial Officer)

EXHIBIT 32.1
CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO
18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350,
AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO
SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002
In connection with the Annual Report on Form 10-K of Diffusion Pharmaceuticals Inc. (the “Company”) for the period ended December 31, 2016 as filed with the
Securities and Exchange Commission on the date hereof (the “Report”), we, David G. Kalergis and Ben Shealy, Chairman and Chief Executive Officer and Senior
Vice President – Finance, Treasurer and Secretary, respectively, of the Company, certify, pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of
the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, that to our knowledge:
(1) The Report fully complies with the requirements of Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934; and
(2) The information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and results of operations of the Company.
March 31, 2017

/s/ David G. Kalergis
David G. Kalergis
Chairman and Chief Executive Officer

/s/ Ben Shealy
Ben Shealy
Senior Vice President – Finance, Treasurer and Secretary

